PALACKÝ UNIVERSITY OLOMOUC

Faculty of Science Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences



Importance of stable carbon isotopes for studying dynamics of methanogenesis in rivers

Ph.D. Thesis

Adam Bednařík

Supervisor: Doc. RNDr. Martin Rulík, Ph.D.

Olomouc 2019

I, Adam Bednařík, thereby declare that I wrote the Ph.D. thesis myself using results of my own work or collaborative work of me and colleagues and with help of other publication resources which are properly cited.

Olomouc, July 2019

.....

Adam Bednařík

© Adam Bednařík, 2019

Bednařík A. (2018): Importance of stable carbon isotopes for studying dynamics of methanogenesis in rivers [Ph.D. thesis]. Palacký University, Olomouc, 43 pp.

Abstract

Methane is one of the most important greenhouse gases. Despite of recent studies pointing out important contribution of running waters to natural methane emissions to the atmosphere, data concerning the methane sources in rivers are very scarce. This thesis deals with methane dynamic in river ecosystems with special emphasis on an effect of river impoundments on methane related processes. Beside the methane concentrations, oxidation, production and emission to the atmosphere, the changes in contribution of two main methanogenic pathways (hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic) to the total methane production were determined using the stable carbon isotopes analysis. We found hotspots of the sediment methane production in a river continuum, which are connected with the local driving factors including mainly the existence of artificial barriers as weirs. Changes in rate of individual components of river methane dynamic were further examined in cascade of three weirs and river reaches between them. We found that river impoundments affect the sediment processes in several ways, including changes of the sediment characteristics (fine sediment fraction, higher sediment carbon content), enhanced microbial activities in the sediment (methane production and oxidation), ebullition of methane, and different contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogens to the released methane. Thus, many parameters found for weir impoundments resemble observations for lake systems. Moreover, remarkable spatial variability in sediment methane production was demonstrated in cross-section profile of the one studied impoundment. Presented studies point to only the part of the samples could be activated for methane production despite of presence of methanogens (most probably due to substrate limitation). This suggest that the observed variability of the microbial activities as well as the resulting methane concentrations in the water column are only indirectly linked to the presence of different microbial guilds, but rather affected by their activity. Altogether our results confirm that the methane dynamics in a river system show a high local variability and that multiple measurements are needed to characterize the sources and fates of the methane. Obtained results might be further used for better estimates of importance of rivers in a global methane budget.

Abstrakt

Metan je spolu s oxidem uhličitým a oxidem dusným řazen mezi nejvýznamnější skleníkové plyny. Navzdory mnoha současným studiím vyzdvihujícím význam říčních ekosystémů jako přírodního zdroje emisí metanu do atmosféry, jsou poznatky týkající se zdrojů metanu v řekách nedostatečné. Předložená práce se zabývá dynamikou metanu v říčních ekosystémech se zvláštním důrazem na vliv umělých příčných bariér (jezů) na procesy spojené s koloběhem metanu. Kromě koncentrací metanu, jeho oxidace, produkce a emisí do atmosféry byl determinován příspěvek dvou hlavních metabolických cest vzniku metanu do jeho celkové produkce, a to s využitím analýzy obsahu stabilních izotopů uhlíku. Na základě provedených měření v říčním kontinuu řeky Labe byly detekovány místa s nezvykle vysokou produkcí metanu v sedimentech, které odpovídaly změnám v lokálních faktorech prostředí spojených především s existencí příčných bariér na vodním toku. Další práce se proto blíže zaměřila na porovnání změn v jednotlivých složkách dynamiky metanu v kaskádě tří jezů a říčních úsecích mezi nimi. Bylo zjištěno, že jezy vyvolávají řadu změn v sedimentačních procesech (usazování jemnější frakce, vyšší obsah organického uhlíku), které se následně projevují v procesech spojených s koloběhem metanu, jako je zvýšená mikrobiální aktivita (produkce a oxidace metanu v sedimentech), vysoký podíl ebulice na celkové emisi do atmosféry (uvolňování metanu ve formě bublin) a rozdílný poměr metabolických cest vzniku metanu. To spolu s ostatními charakteristikami nadjezí vypovídá o tom, že mnoho procesů probíhajících v sedimentech jezových zdrží včetně tvorby bublin a metabolismu uhlíku je lépe srovnatelných s prostředím sedimentů jezer než s říčními sedimenty. Mimo to byla zjištěna také značná variabilita v produkci metanu uvnitř vybraného nadjezí. Další výsledky ukázali, že jen část vzorků inkubovaných v anoxických podmínkách produkuje metan, přestože v nich bylo detekováno srovnatelné množství metanogenních archaea jako v aktivních vzorcích, což bylo s největší pravděpodobností dáno nedostatkem vhodného substrátu. Toto zjištění naznačuje, že pozorovaná variabilita v mikrobiální aktivitě stejně jako výsledné koncentrace metanu ve vodě jsou jen nepřímo řízeny přítomností určitého mikrobiálního společenstva, ale jsou spíše ovlivněny jeho aktivitou. Naše studie tak potvrzuje, že dynamika metanu v říčních ekosystémech vykazuje vysokou prostorovou variabilitu a z toho důvodu lze charakterizovat zdroje metanu a jeho další osud v ekosystému jen s využitím velmi komplexních měření. Získaná data mohou mimo jiné posloužit i jako

cenný údaj pro zpřesnění odhadů významu říčních systémů v bilanci metanu v rámci vnitrozemských vod a v kontextu globální dynamiky metanu.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my thanks to Doc. RNDr. Martin Rulík, Ph.D. for supervising, for his support and valuable advices during my study, as well as during the fieldwork. I also wish to thank colleagues from the Department of Biogeochemistry of Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology in Marburg, Germany, especially Dr. Martin Blaser for help, valuable information on the topic, training in the analysis, as well as for his suggestions that improved quality of my scientific papers.

I have to acknowledge also all of my colleagues from the Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences for creating ambitious and friendly working environment, without which this work would not arise.

Special thanks belong to my girlfriend and my whole family for their support and patience.

Contents

List of publications

1.	Intr	oduc	tion	9					
1	.1.	Atn	nospheric methane cycle	9					
1.2. Methane dynamic in lotic ecosystems									
1.2.1.			Components of methane dynamics in rivers	.11					
	1.2.2.		Methane inputs to river ecosystem	.12					
	1.2.3.		Methane emissions from river ecosystem	.14					
1	.3.	Use	e of stable isotope analysis for determination of methanogenic pathways.	.17					
	1.3	.1.	Biological methane production and stable carbon isotopes	.17					
	1.3.2.		Acetotrophic vs. hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis	. 19					
	1.3. con	.3. tribu	Experimental determination of particular methanogenic pathways tion to total methane production	.23					
2.	Air	ns of	dissertation thesis	.26					
3.	. Material and methods								
4.	4. Main results and discussion								
4.1. Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River (Paper I)									
4	.2.	Effe	ect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river (Paper II)	.31					
4 0	.3. f the	Me imp	thane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profoundment (Paper III)	ile .32					
5.	Co	nclus	ions	.34					
6.	References								
7.	7. Attached publications								
7	.1.	Sed	iment methane dynamics along the Elbe River						

7.2. Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river

7.3. Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the small river impoundment

8. Curriculum vitae

List of publications

The thesis is based on the following papers:

Paper I:

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Tušer M, Chaudhary PP, Šimek K, Rulík M (2019): Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River. Limnologica (*in review*)

Paper II:

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2017): Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river. Science of the Total Environment, 584–585: 164–174. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.163

Paper III:

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Rulík M (2019): Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the small river impoundment. Journal of Limnology (*in press*). https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2019.1898

1. Introduction

1.1. Atmospheric methane cycle

Methane (CH₄) is one of the most potent greenhouse gases with a global warming potential ~28 times higher than carbon dioxide (CO₂) over time horizon of 100 years and represents about 15 % of the anthropogenic greenhouse effect (IPCC 2013). From the mid-Holocene to about 300 years ago atmospheric methane concentration rose steadily by about 25 % (Brook et al. 2000). With human population increase and industrialization, methane concentration is now about 250 % higher than it was in the preindustrial age (Etheridge et al. 1998). Current atmospheric methane concentration is 1858 ppb (Dlugokencky 2018).

While the sinks of the methane in the environment are quite clear (reaction with hydroxyl radicals in the troposphere or oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria), the sources of methane are much more diverse. Among main atmospheric methane sources are included wetlands, ruminants, termites, oceans, freshwater sediments, landfills, biomass burning and fossil methane released during fossil fuel extraction (Wuebbles and Hayhoe, 2002). The most of the methane is produced microbiologically, while contribution of freshwater habitats (wetlands, rice fields) creates ~33 % of the annual atmospheric methane flux (Conrad 2009). Moreover, recent studies estimate that annual methane emission from fluvial ecosystems is equivalent to 20-50 % of lake or wetland effluxes (Stanley et al. 2016). Hence, climate driven fluctuations of methane emissions from natural wetlands are the main drivers of the global inter-annual variability of methane emissions (high confidence), with a smaller contribution from the variability in emissions from biomass burning emissions during high fire years (IPCC 2013). Our incomplete understanding of the global methane budget is in part due to the difficulty in quantifying emissions from all of the diverse methane sources (Saarnio et al. 2009, Bastviken et al. 2011).

Isotopic composition of atmospheric methane is useful for recognition of individual methane sources, when the methane originating from pyrogenic sources reaches values more close to the original source (organic matter) than in case of biogenic methane, which is characterised by high fractionation associated with metabolic processes during its production (Chanton et al. 2005).

The 2000-year methane concentrations together with stable carbon isotopes of methane, which have been derived from ice cores, revealed remarkable correlations between fluctuation of contribution of individual methane sources to the atmosphere and changes in human population growth, eventually climate change (White et al. 2007). The study of White et al. (2007) demonstrates, that knowledge of δ^{13} CH₄ allows to reveal important changes in the methane budget that are hidden in the simple methane concentration record. Thus, knowledge of the isotopic composition of source of methane emitted from natural and anthropogenic systems is helpful for developing a global budget for methane sources and sinks (Chanton et al. 2005)

1.2. Methane dynamic in lotic ecosystems

1.2.1. Components of methane dynamics in rivers

First comprehensive study summarizing the methane ecology in running waters is a review by Stanley et al. (2016). In short, methane dynamic in lotic ecosystems consists of (1) production of the methane within hyporheic sediments, which are place of anaerobic metabolism and formation of methane, (2) subsequent diffusion of methane to the surface water, where the methane is (3) transported downstream or (4) emitted to the atmosphere. The methane is also a subject of significant (5) oxidation by methane oxidizing bacteria during its transport in lotic ecosystems. Methanotrophs are often found at the anoxic/oxic interface of various habitats including freshwater sediments, where they consume the methane arising from methanogenesis and are thus able to reduce the most of the potential methane flux to surface water (Segers 1998, Trimmer et al. 2010). Moreover, recent research implies that anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM) might occur in freshwater sediments via denitrification (Ettwig et al. 2010, Norði and Thamdrup 2014), via sulfate reduction (Beal et al. 2011; Norði et al. 2013), and via iron reduction (Norði et al. 2013). It was found that AOM can be widespread in freshwater lake sediments and accounts for one third of the mean total methane produced in surface and near-surface lake sediments (Martinez-Cruz et al. 2018). The most recent study indicates that AOM activity can be important in the reduced sandy riverbeds, where the nitrite-dependent and nitrate-dependent AOM are the dominant AOM pathways (Shen et al. 2018).

This brief description can be further completed by ebullition (escape of methane from sediments directly to the atmosphere in form of bubbles). This process bypasses the importance of oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria and hence, ebullition of sediment gas bubbles is an important transport process accounting up to 60 % of the total methane emissions from the fluvial ecosystem (Wilcock and Sorrel 2008).

Last but not least, methane has been recently recognised as a potentially important carbon and energy source for freshwater food webs due to conversion of methane to microbial biomass by methane oxidation bacteria, which can be highly productive (Jones and Grey 2011). In rivers, grazing methane-oxidizing bacteria could provide the caddis larvae (genuses *Agapetus* and *Silo*) up to 30 % of their carbon (Trimmer et al. 2009).

Important elements modifying the methane dynamics in lotic ecosystems due to accumulation of sediments and organic matter are artificial impoundments (e.g. Maeck et al. 2013). Moreover, it was found that smaller impoundments have greater sediment accumulation rates per unit area than the large ones, while small impoundments create a significant part of the total area of impoundments (Downing et al. 2006, Downing et al. 2008). These facts further influenced direction of this thesis.

Two main parts of methane dynamics in river ecosystems, methane inputs and outputs, are reviewed with more detail in next two subchapters (1.2.2. and 1.2.3.).

1.2.2. Methane inputs to river ecosystem

Despite of significant contribution of methane emissions from rivers to global methane flux, there is a paucity of data concerning sources of methane to these freshwater ecosystems (IPCC 2013, Bastviken et al. 2011). Recent studies pointing out supersaturation of river water by methane and quantifying emissions from various inland waters deal with methane origin only marginally (e.g. Middleburg et al. 2002, Saarnio et al. 2009, Anthony et al. 2012). Basically, there are three main sources of methane to surface water of fluvial ecosystems: drainage of surrounding methane rich habitats, groundwater input and river sediments, while exact role of each of these sources is not yet quantified in the overall river C budget. Moreover, water inflows enriched in methane from wastewater treatment plants are significant source of methane in the human influenced rivers (Alshboul et al. 2016).

Some studies suggest that an increased concentration of methane in rivers comes from the drainage of the surrounding wetlands. For instance, drainage of methane rich peatland and riparian soils were recognized as a main source of dissolved methane in first-order stream (Hope et al. 2004). Wetlands as an important source of methane to the adjoining rivers were recognized for example by Borges et al. (2015) in the African rivers, when methane was positively related to wetland fraction of the catchment surface. Similarly, spatial heterogeneity of methane concentration in Zambezi River was found to be mainly determined by the connectivity with surrounded floodplains and wetlands (Teodoru et al. 2015).

Groundwater methane input is highly influenced by type of the aquifers and rate of surface-subsurface water exchange. Although methane-rich groundwater was found to significantly contribute to surface water methane concentration (Jones and Mulholland 1998), groundwater with low methane concentration in the shallow and unconfined aquifers (mostly fractured limestones) did not contribute significantly to the high methane levels in surface water of a River Meuse basin (Borges et al. 2018) as well

12

as groundwater from a chalky areas in UK had marginal effect on the total methane emissions (Gooddy and Darling 2005). All studies point out, that high heterogeneity in methane production and hydrologic exchange between groundwater and surface water results in high spatial variation in methane input from this source to the rivers.

More likely, methane concentration in surface water is rather a result of both the groundwater discharge together with a stream-bed methanogenesis (Atkins et al. 2017, Call et al. 2018). Previous studies showed that methane in hyporheic zone creates substantial part of interstitial DOC and also high methanogenic and methanotrophic biomass were detected through the vertical profile of these sediments (Boulton et al. 1998, Fischer et al. 2005, Hlaváčová et al. 2005, Buriánková et al. 2012, Brablcová et al. 2015). However, role of these microorganisms in direct methane supply to surface water and to whole ecosystem production and respiration remains poorly known (Stanley et al. 2016). Moreover methane input from river sediments is usually calculated from concentration differences corrected by effects of porosity and tortuosity, but only rarely directly measured (De Angelis and Scranton 1993, Huttunen et al. 2006, Sollberger et al. 2014).

Generally, methane production and consumption in river sediments is affected by a number of factors including gradients of dissolved oxygen, temperature, organic matter or sediment deposition (Findlay 1995, Fischer et al. 2005). First of all, methane production potential is significantly affected by organic matter content in sediment (e.g. Conrad et al. 2011, Comer-Warner et al. 2018). Methane production is therefore associated mainly with local patches and deposits of fine sediments, where organic matter is accumulated and dissolved oxygen occurs at low level (Sanders et al. 2007, Baulch et al. 2011). From this point of view, land-use can play important role, as the concentrations of dissolved methane in rivers increased with fraction of agriculture in the catchment owing to a larger delivery of organic matter (Borges et al. 2018) as well as sedimentation rate of organic matter is increased in river impoundments (e.g. Maeck et al. 2013). Increasing temperature can further accelerate the methane production in the river sediments (e.g. Yang 1998, Fey et al. 2004, Wilkinson et al. 2015), which leads to increasing concentration of dissolved methane in surface water during the summer months (Middleburg et al. 2002, Yang et al. 2012) and during the low water level (Borges et al. 2018). Recently, non-linearity and threshold responses of streambed methane production were observed with increased temperature implying the more complex estimation of methane fluxes in future (Comer-Warner et al. 2018). On the other hand, the calculated kinetic and temperature responses showed that with increasing temperature, methane oxidation has potential to respond rapidly to increasing methane production and thus mitigating efflux of methane diffusing through the anoxic– oxic sediment layer (Shelley et al. 2015). Combination of these multiple controls results in a high spatiotemporal heterogeneity of methane fluxes through the sediment-water interface and their quantification and extrapolation is rather complicated (Bednařík et al. 2015). Nevertheless, methane concentration in surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) appears to be the most important for diffusion of methane through the sediment-water interface (Sollberger et al. 2014).

Usually, deeper sediment layers in streams and rivers are characterized by lower oxygen level and higher methane concentration, which can be oxidized by methanotrophs in the surface sediments or even deep in the sediments (Rulík et al. 2013). Despite of the theoretically better conditions for methanogens in deeper sediment layers of rivers, an analysis of vertical distribution of methanogens show that the methanogenic community in methane-emitting river sediments is relatively stable in absolute numbers along a vertical profile (irrespective of the methane production) not only on the level of total archaea and total methanogens but also on the level of the three dominant methanogenic orders (Mach et al. 2015, Chaudhary et al. 2017). Moreover, it was found that initial steps of organic matter degradation, which are catalysed by hydrolytic and fermenting bacteria, are rate-limiting for methane production and the decrease in bacterial numbers reflects a similar decrease in methane production (Chan et al. 2005). These findings suggest that the sediment methanogenic potential is not only limited by the presence of the different methanogens but also more likely regulated by environmental factors (e.g. substrate availability, metabolic activity of the microbial community) as well as the activity of certain members of the methanogenic community.

1.2.3. Methane emissions from river ecosystem

The largest and most ecologically significant pathways of methane efflux from natural environments to the atmosphere are diffusion, ebullition (escape of methane in gas bubbles directly from the sediments) and passage through vascular plants.

Plant transport is the dominant route for methane release mainly from wetlands dominated by emergent aquatic plants, while it is marginal in the fluvial ecosystems (Bridgham et al. 2013). Nevertheless, macrophytes provide labile organic matter to microbes (root exudates and root decay) and plant-mediated gas transport to the atmosphere reduces opportunities for methane oxidation at the sediment surface or water column (Yavitt and Knapp 1998, Bhullar et al. 2014). Moreover, vascular plants can trap and accumulate the fine and organic rich sediments that support local methane production in streams (Sanders et al. 2007).

In natural streams and rivers both methane diffusion and ebullition were recognized to contribute significantly to the total methane emissions from these ecosystems. However, compared to other natural ecosystems, very scarce data were available for estimation of their global significance and thus importance of lotic ecosystems contribution to global methane emissions from natural environments were overlooked in the past (Saarnio et al. 2009, Bastviken et al. 2011). Fortunately, a number of studies dealing with quantification of methane emissions from fluvial waters were published since that time.

Methane diffusion from rivers to the atmosphere results from widely occurred oversaturation of surface waters compare to atmospheric equilibrium. Rate of methane diffusion through the water-air interface (gas exchange velocity) is influenced mainly by concentration gradient between dissolved methane in surface water and in an ambient air, flow velocity, water turbulence, temperature, eventually wind speed (Jahne and Haubecker 1998, Natchimuthu et al. 2014, McGinnis et al. 2016, Noss et al. 2018). The methane diffusive fluxes from stream and rivers can reach mean value $8.22 \pm 25.50 \text{ mmol m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$ based on literature reviewed by Stanley et al. (2016). It is significantly lower per unit of area compared to lake methane fluxes (including ebullition) with mean 33 mmol m}{-2} \text{ d}^{-1} estimated by Bastviken et al. (2004).

Recently, methane ebullition was found to participate significantly on a total methane emission from streams and rivers with wide range of contribution from 0 to 80 % and with the remarkable spatial and temporal heterogeneity of this process (Wilcock and Sorrel 2008, Baulch et al. 2011, Crawford et al. 2014, Spawn et al. 2015). The methane ebullition results from very low solubility of methane in freshwaters (saturation in freshwater is about 1.6 mol m⁻³ at 20 °C, i.e. ~27 times lower solubility than CO_2) and therefore high concentrations of methane lead to production of bubbles and loss to the atmosphere by ebullition (Yammamoto et al. 1976, Sander 2015). Moreover, methane ebullition (as well as plant-mediated fluxes) allows methane leaving a river to bypass zones of aerobic oxidation.

15

The proportion of methane transported by ebullition is mainly driven by local conditions in rivers, such as sediment accumulation, low water depth, high organic carbon content, high temperature and low oxygen penetration, allowing the development of high methane production and increasing the probability of ebullition occurrence (Baulch et al. 2011). In natural rivers, above described changes can be reached in debris dams (Lancaster and Grant 2006), sediment accumulation due to vegetation (Sanders et al. 2007) or by channel modifications (damming) by beavers (Lazar et al. 2014). For instance, the methane emissions from beaver pond measured by Ford and Naiman (1988) even reached 33-fold higher values than from adjacent river reaches.

In man-altered rivers, artificial impoundments reduced flow water velocity and thus increase water residence time that allows organic matter sedimentation and development of anoxic conditions suitable for methane production (e. g. Maeck et al. 2013, Wilkinson et al. 2015, Crawford et al. 2016). The river impoundments (reservoirs, dams, weirs) have been recognized as significant source of methane emissions to the atmosphere, while they overlap emissions observed in natural lakes (St. Louis et al. 2000). Existence of these artificial barriers play important role in resulted contribution of different methane evasion pathways. Molecular diffusion is usually dominant pathway in rivers (with exceptions described above), while ebullitive emissions are the dominant way for methane emissions from the surface of tropical reservoirs, and it is less significant way for methane emission at the air–water interface in the temperate reservoirs, where the diffusive fluxes are prevailing (Yang et al. 2014).

Impoundments affect also downstream river reaches, where the river water is enriched with methane from the increased methane production in reservoirs, while the most of this methane is degassed at the spillways or the turbine outflows (Abril et al. 2005). This additional release of methane can create the dominant part of total methane emissions and should be further considered in assessments of methane emissions from reservoirs (Li and Zhang 2014, Kemenes et al. 2016).

1.3. Use of stable isotope analysis for determination of methanogenic pathways

1.3.1. Biological methane production and stable carbon isotopes

Biogenic methanogenesis is the terminal step in carbon flow in many anaerobic habitats and hence plays important role in the carbon cycle (Zinder 1993). Generally, methanogenic decomposition of organic matter requires microbial consortia of at least three interacting metabolic groups. In the first step fermentative bacteria degrades polymers to H_2 , CO_2 , formate, acetate and higher volatile fatty acids. In the second step acetogenic bacteria oxidizes the higher acids to acetate and H_2 or formate. Then, the mentioned substrates are utilized by methane producers, which use two main methanogenic pathways – hydrogenotrophic and acetotrophic methanogenesis (Ferry 1993):

$$4\mathrm{H}_2 + \mathrm{CO}_2 \rightarrow \mathrm{CH}_4 + 2\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \tag{1}$$

$$CH_3COO^- + H^+ \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2 \tag{2}$$

Other pathways of methane formation exist (formate or methanol as substrates), but usually create only marginally part of the total methane production (Conrad and Claus 2005, Demirel and Scherer 2008):

$$4\text{HCOOH} \rightarrow \text{CH}_4 + 3\text{CO}_2 + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \tag{3}$$

$$4CH_3OH \rightarrow 3CH_4 + CO_2 + 2H_2O \tag{4}$$

Based on the accumulation patterns of carbon dioxide and methane, the reduction process of organic matter might be further divided into three distinct phases: (1) an initial reduction phase during which most of the inorganic electron acceptors are depleted and carbon dioxide production is at its maximum, (2) a methanogenic phase during which methane production is initiated and reached its highest rate, and (3) a steady state phase with constant production rates of methane and carbon dioxide (Yao et al. 1999).

Whole process of organic matter degradation and methane formation is accompanied by isotopic fractionation. Both light and heavy carbon stable isotopes participate in chemical, biological or geochemical reactions freely but there are strong differences in the rate at which they react. The heavier isotopes (13 C) react more slowly than lighter isotopes (12 C) which lead to isotopic separation or fractionation between the source and product (Fry 2006). Hence, the stable carbon isotopic composition of methane (δ^{13} C-CH₄) in a system is dependent on the mechanisms and rates of methane production and consumption and can thus be useful for the study of methane cycling (Whiticar 1986).

An important characteristic of biogenic methane produced in sediments is that with respect to its carbon stable isotope composition it is remarkably ¹³C-depleted (δ^{13} C typically around -60 to -80‰; Conrad et al. 2007) compared with either allochthonous terrestrial plant detritus (δ^{13} C value from C3 plants around -27 ‰; Peterson & Fry 1987) or phytoplankton (δ^{13} C typically around -25 to -35 ‰; Vuorio et al. 2006). Isotopic fractionation during organic matter decomposition leading to the high ¹³C depletion of biologically produced methane can be further illustrated by Figure 1.



Fig. 1: Scheme of carbon flow and carbon isotope fractionation during the methane production (adapted from Conrad et al. 2014, Blaser and Conrad 2016, and using of additional literature values from: Krzycki et al. 1987, Krüger et al. 2002, Fey et al. 2004, Conrad 2005, Penger et al. 2012, Blaser et al. 2013, Ye et al. 2014).

In addition, bacterial consumption of methane is also associated with kinetic isotope effects, when enrich the residual methane in the heavier isotopes (13 C). Carbon fractionation factors related to methane oxidation are generally less than 10 ‰ (Whiticar 1999, Bastviken et al. 2002), but methane oxidation enrichment factor from

18.6 to 21.4 ‰ was observed in boreal reservoirs (Venkiteswaran and Schiff 2005). Methanotrophs therefore appear to be less selective between the lighter and heavier carbon isotopes than the methanogens (Whiticar 1999).

1.3.2. Acetotrophic vs. hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis

Methanogens, which are able to convert acetate to methane, belong to genus *Methanosaeta* and *Methanosarcina*. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens belong to orders Methanobacteriales, Methanococcales, Methanomicrobiales and several genera of the Methanosarcinales (Zinder 1993, Demirel and Scherer 2008). Most of these methanogens are commonly found in river sediments (Brablcová et al. 2013, Buriánková et al. 2013) except a Methanococcales order, which was isolated essentially from marine and coastal environments (Garcia et al. 2000). Nevertheless, the composition of methanogenic community does not have to reflect the contribution of individual methanogenic pathways, as well as abundance of the methanogens does not reflect the methanogenic potential of the sediments (Conrad et al. 2011, Chaudhary et al. 2017).

The δ^{13} C of methane produced only by acetotrophic methanogenesis vary between -27 and -60 ‰, while the δ^{13} C of hydrogenotrophically produced methane vary between -45 and -90 ‰ (Conrad 2005). The difference between the two pathways of methane formation leading to the diverse δ^{13} C values is given by diverse strength of fractionation during different metabolic pathways. The data clearly show that the fractionation factors found for H₂/CO₂-dependent methanogenesis (α_{mc}) are always significantly larger than the fractionation factors found for acetate dependent methanogenesis (α_{ma}), while the α_{ma} range between 1.000 and 1.021 and α_{mc} measured in various cultures of CO₂-reducing methanogens range between 1.031 and 1.077 (Krüger et al. 2002, Fey et al. 2004, Conrad 2005). While the fractionation factors can differ according to environmental conditions (e.g. substrate concentration, different microbial communities), both resulted values additionally depend on δ^{13} C of organic matter or related processes during its degradation, which affect the $\delta^{13}C$ of the carbon substrate (CO₂ or acetate). Both pathways contribute to methane pool, while resulted δ^{13} C of methane in the environment is given by different portion of these pathways, $\delta^{13}C$ of methane precursors, eventually by associated processes as oxidation or diffusion. Recent findings regarding the isotopic analysis of methane in various freshwater ecosystems are summarized in Table 1.

Site	Ecosystem type	δ ¹³ C of CH ₄ (‰)	$f_{mc}(\%)^*$	$ m CH_4$ production potential (nmol h ⁻¹ gDW ⁻¹)	$\delta^{13}C_{\text{org}}(\text{‰})$	Reference
inflows of Lake Biwa, Japan	river	-64 to -47	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Murase et al. 2003
White Oak River, North Carolina	river	-70.8 to -65.2	18 to 42	n.s.	n.s.	Avery and Martens 1999
three streams in eastern Amazonia	river	-75.1 to -52.7	n.s.	n.s.	-29.7 to -22.8	Moura et al. 2008
five rivers in USA	river	-56.6 to -36	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Sansone et al. 1999
Sitka Stream	river	-98.6 to -48.2	26 to 51	0-40	-26.7 to -25.8	Mach et al. 2015
Elbe River	river	-71.1 to -54.1	52 to 78	0 to 26.9	-27.2 to -0.4	Bednařík et al. submitted (this study)
Morava River	river	-63.9 to -52.5	37 to 89	0 to 83.3	-28.5 to -26.2	Bednařík et al. 2017 (this study)
River Itchen, U.K.	river	-58	33	22-80	n.s.	Shelley et al. 2015
16 tropical lakes, Brazil	lake	-94.5 to -57.7	50 to 90	4.0 ± 3.8	-32.8 to -25.2	Conrad et al. 2011
Amazonian oxbow lakes, Brazilia	lake	n.s.	>50	0 to 130	-30 to -26	Conrad et al. 2014
Lake Dagow, Germany	lake	-65 to -50	35 to 60	250 to 300	-30.1 ± 0.05	Conrad et al. 2009
two Amazonian clear-water lakes	lake	-70 to -55	53 to 63	45.5 and 63.3	-32	Conrad et al. 2010
Lake Constance, Germany	lake	-85 to -57	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Faber 1996
Lake Piaseczno, Poland	lake	-63.1 to -47.5	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Jedrysek 1995
Lake Biwa, Japan	lake	-80 to -61	>50	n.s.	-25.6 to -24.7	Murase and Sugimuto 2001
Würmsee, Germany	lake	-61 to - 52	30	n.s.	n.s.	Woltemate et al. 1984
paddy field, Vercelli, Italy	rice field	-80 to -50	33	n.s.	-26.7 ± 0.39	Conrad et al. 2002
paddy field, Vercelli, Italy	rice field	n.s.	33	n.s.	-26 ± 0.3	Fey et al. 2004
paddy field, Vercelli, Italy	rice field	-60 to -40	>50	n.s.	-26.5	Kruger et al. 2002
Uruguay	rice field	n.s.	25 to 42	25 to 35	-21.9 to -17.2	Scavino et al. 2013
swamp forest, Florida, USA	wetland	-63.2 to -37.1	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Happel et al. 1994
The Point Pelee Marsh, Ontario, Canada	wetland	-72.3 to -48.2	n.s.	n.s.	-25	Hornibrook et al. 1997
Mizorogaike pond, Kyoto, Japan	wetland	-76.7 to -52.8	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Sugimuto and Fujita 2006
Lakkasuo mire complex, Finland	peatland	n.s.	>40	14.9 to 209.7	n.s.	Galand et al. 2005
Lakkasuo mire complex, Finland	peatland	-89 to -58	>40	15 to 210	-27.4 to -26.5	Galand et al. 2010
permafrost region in Siberia (67°N)	peatland	n.s.	30	179.2	n.s.	Metje and Frenzel 2007

Tab. 1: Overview of literature values regarding the isotopic analysis of methane in sediments of inland waters

* f_{mc} = part of hydrogenotrophically produced methane n.s. = not specified

Generally, the most of the methane produced in nature originates from acetate, however, the relative amounts of methane produced from the methyl group of acetate or reduction of CO_2 can vary depending on the presence of other metabolic groups of anaerobes and the environment (Ferry 1993). Hydrogen should theoretically account for 33 % of total methanogenesis when carbohydrates or similar forms of organic matter are degraded (Conrad 1999). Many methanogenic environments show both much lower and much higher contributions of H_2 to methane production than is considered normal.

The lower contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis can be relatively easily explained by the contribution of homoacetogenesis. Homoacetogenic microorganisms oxidize H_2 or formate and reduce CO_2 to acetate. This process increases the amount of methane derived from acetate and the importance of methanogenic acetotrophs (Ferry 1993):

$$4H_2 + 2CO_2 \rightarrow CH_3COOH + 2H_2O \tag{5}$$

Despite of general consideration, that homoacetogenesis is thermodynamically unfavourable in many anaerobic environments and thus its importance is minimal, recent studies shows the significant occurrence of the homoacetogenesis in river sediments or peatland soils (Ye et al. 2014, Mach et al. 2015). Acetogenic bacteria can effectively compete with hydrogenotrophic methanogens (up to ten time faster consumption of H₂ than methanogens) and therefore, acetogens may play an important role in regulating acetate dynamics, methane production, and carbon cycling (Ye et al. 2014). The isotopic effect related to homoacetogenesis (acetyl-CoA pathway) is significantly stronger compared to fermentation and thus leads to depletion in δ^{13} C of acetate-methyl relative to the soil organic carbon (Blaser et al. 2013). Due to this difference in fractionation between these two acetogenic pathways it was calculated, that homoacetogenesis can contribute up to 40 % of the acetate production in river sediments (Mach et al. 2015).

The mechanisms behind higher contributions of hydrogenotrophically produced methane are mostly unclear despite the fact that dominance of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is not unusual for freshwater ecosystems (Krüger et al 2002, Galand et al. 2010, Conrad et al. 2010, Conrad et al. 2014). In methanogenic environments H_2 is rapidly turned over, because its concentration is given by the simultaneous production by fermenting plus syntrophic bacteria and consumption by methanogenic archaea

(Conrad 2002). Conceivable explanations for dominance of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in freshwater sediments have been defined by Conrad et al. (2009) and are further discussed for example in Bednařík et al. 2017 (Paper II). Briefly, the most plausible explanation based on several studies is that organic matter in the sediments is incompletely degraded with the preferential production of H_2 and the accumulation of residual organic substances having a higher oxidation state than the original organic carbon (Conrad et al. 2011). End of the reduction process of organic matter characterised by steady state phase with constant production rates of methane and carbon dioxide can result in different rate of methane and carbon dioxide production, when for example oxidation status of soil organic matter changes during decomposition (Yao and Conrad 2000). Different path of organic matter degradation with use of organic compounds as oxidants (thus CO_2 rather than methane is the major degradation product) leading to prevalence of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis was documented in the oligotrophic environments by Galand et al. (2010).

Moreover, changes in primary productivity, temperature, and hydrology may affect methanogenesis by altering the short-term supply of labile organic substrates to fermentative bacteria in the shallow subsurface. The predominance of methanogenic pathway appears to be determined primarily by the availability of labile substrates and hence the degree of decomposition of organic debris. This may result in prevailing acetoclastic methanogenesis in shallow subsurface, while the methane in deeper and older sediments layers is produced mainly hydrogenotrophically (Hornibrook et al. 1997, Conrad et al. 2009). However, distribution of organic matter in running waters is dependent on many factors such as stream velocity or river bed topography and do not show such a degree of stratification (Malard et al. 2002).

Temperature was recognized as an important factor effecting the stable isotopic composition of produced methane, while the methane was enriched in ¹³C during the warmer months (Avery and Martens 1999). However, the temperature does not affect the rate of individual fractionation factors during methanogenesis, but increasing temperature was found to induce a change in the microbial community composition or the local substrate concentration and consequently in a change of the methanogenic pathway (Penger et al 2014). The methane produced from acetate reached 85 %, 67 % and 0 % of the total methane production at 10 °C, 20 °C and 50 °C, respectively (Conrad 2002). So, the methanogens are dominated by different species at different temperatures and the different population structures obviously affect the pathway and/or

rate of methane formation. However, methane production is not only affected by the direct methane producers themselves, but also by other microbial populations that influence the availability of methanogenic substrates. Hence, the change in community and pathway induced by temperature must not be mistaken as a direct temperature effect on the fractionation of stable carbon isotopes (Penger et al. 2014).

1.3.3. Experimental determination of particular methanogenic pathways contribution to total methane production

The relative contribution of the two main methanogenic pathways to total methane production can be calculated due to the sufficient difference in isotopic fractionation during both the hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic methanogenesis. Rough estimation derived only from δ^{13} C of methane and δ^{13} C of CO₂ can be calculated as apparent fractionation factor (α_c):

$$\alpha_{\rm C} = \frac{\delta^{13}C - CH_4 + 1000}{\delta^{13}C - CO_2 + 1000} \tag{6}$$

Resulted values of α_C higher than 1.055 are characteristic for prevailing hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis, while the values lower than 1.055 indicate prevailing acetoclastic methanogenesis (Whiticar et al. 1986, Whiticar and Faber 1986, Whiticar 1999). In addition, apparent fractionation factor is equal to fractionation factor for hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis, if the acetoclastic methanogenesis is not operating and methane is exclusively produced from CO₂ reduction (Conrad et al. 2009).

It is possible to obtain more accurate (in order of percentages) contributions of individual methanogenic pathways to total methane production, if the further stable isotopic signatures and isotopic fractionation factors are known for the examined environmental system: δ^{13} C-CH₄, δ^{13} C-CO₂, δ^{13} C of acetate-methyl, fractionation factor for the reduction of CO₂ (α_{mc}) to methane and acetate-methyl to methane (α_{ma}) (Conrad 2005). However, experimental determination of fractionation factors in environmental samples is difficult, since either the hydrogenotrophic or the acetoclastic methanogenic pathway must be suppressed in order to determine the isotope fractionation by one of the two pathways specifically. For that reason, it was important milestone, when the methyl fluoride (CH₃F) was reported to be a specific inhibitor of acetoclastic

methanogens, while hydrogenotrophic methanogens were not affected (Janssen and Frenzel 1997) and thus allowing the determination of δ^{13} C-CH₄ specifically produced from CO₂ reduction (δ mc) and of fractionation factor for hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (α_{mc}). Acetate, which is then no longer consumed in inhibited samples, accumulates and allows determination of the isotopic signatures of the fermentatively produced acetate.

Based on inhibition treatment, direct calculation of contribution of methanogenic pathways using the residual methane production (comparison of methane production in the inhibited and uninhibited sample under same conditions) seems to be the simplest way. However, it was found that small part of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis can be inhibited during incubation with CH₃F in addition to acetoclastic methanogenesis. Extent of the H₂/CO₂-dependent methanogenesis inhibition depends on CH₃F concentration (Conrad and Klose 1999). If the hydrogentrophic methanogenesis is inhibited a little by CH₃F, residual methane production of the samples incubated with CH₃F can be lower than expected values corresponding with part of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis determined by isotope analysis. Thus, it is more robust to calculate contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis from the isotopic mass balance, which should not or little be affected, when part of the hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is inhibited (Conrad et al. 2009).

In order to determine resulted contribution of particular methane production pathways to total methane production, the calculation usually has two more assumptions: (1) δ^{13} C of acetate is similar to δ^{13} C of organic matter and (2) δ^{13} C of acetoclastically produced methane is similar to δ^{13} C of acetate. Ad 1: Isotopic enrichment factors during the degradation of organic matter to acetate is much smaller than those during hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic methanogenesis or the intramolecular difference in δ^{13} C between the carboxyl and methyl group of acetate (Conrad et al. 2014). So, when direct measurement of δ^{13} C of acetate is not available, it can be assumed, that fractionation during fermentation between organic carbon and acetate-methyl, from which methane is formed, is not significant (Blair et al. 1987, Sugimuto and Wada 1993, Conrad et al. 2009), while the δ^{13} C of acetate carboxyl group is usually depleted in ¹³C (Conrad et al. 2009, Conrad et al. 2010). However, possible exchange reactions of the carboxyl group of acetate with the CO₂ pool during incubation may subsequently result to significantly heavier (¹³C enriched) acetate (DeGraaf et al. 1996). Thus, the higher δ^{13} C of acetate than the δ^{13} C of organic carbon can be theoretically caused by analysis of $\delta^{13}C$ of total acetate, which combines the $\delta^{13}C$ of methyl and carboxyl group of acetate. On the other hand, chemolithotrophic production of acetate (homoacetogenesis) leads to significant depletion of acetate-methyl in ¹³C due to the strong isotopic effect connected with this metabolic pathway as described above (Blaser et al. 2013).

Ad 2: Preference of the certain metabolic pathway for the lighter carbon isotope (¹²C), fractionation, is not sufficiently expressed in the substrate limited conditions (Fry 2007). Considering the almost complete consumption of acetate during incubation of samples in steady state conditions, very low or zero fractionation for methane from acetate can be assumed (Sugimoto and Wada 1993). Based on literature, fractionation factor for formation of methane from acetate is usually considered in the range of 1.007–1.035 (Gelwicks et al. 1994, Hornibrook et al. 2000, Penning 2006, Goevert and Conrad 2009).

2. Aims of dissertation thesis

The aims of this thesis were:

- To characterize the methane production and oxidation potential of the river sediments in longitudinal profile of the Elbe River and to reveal the contribution of individual methanogenic pathways to the total methane production using the stable carbon isotope analysis.
- 2) To compare the rate of the methane related processes (methane production, oxidation, emissions to the atmosphere) between weir impoundments and free flowing river sections of Morava River. Part of it was also quantification of methane ebullition and extent of methane degassing in the spillways.
- 3) To determine the proportion of methane production pathways in the sediments of the examined weir impoundments and river sections.
- 4) To characterize the spatial variability of methane production and consumption by the river sediments including the proportion of the methanogenic pathways in the cross-section profile of weir impoundment.

3. Material and methods

The samples collection and field measurements have taken place at the 11 locations along the Elbe River from river km 8 to river km 948 and in the cascade of three weirs in the 16 km long stretch of Morava River. More detailed characterization of studied sites is included in the Paper I and Paper II, respectively.

Determination of individual components of methane dynamic in river demands involvement of many different methods. Measured components of the methane dynamic are schematically shown in Figure 2.



Fig. 2: Measured components of the methane dynamic in the impounded river

Individual methods are described in detail in the attached papers. This chapter therefore contains only an overview of the methods used for this thesis. They are briefly summarized here:

Methane production and oxidation potentials of sediments were measured during incubation experiments in the laboratory. Sediment for measurement of methane production potential was incubated in anoxic conditions (headspace of bottle was flushed with nitrogen) approximately one months. Gas samples from headspace were taken repeatedly during the course of incubation (4-6 weeks) and analysed for concentrations of methane. The rate of methane production was calculated from the slope of the linear regression given by the graph of methane concentration increase over time. Sediment for measurement of methane oxidation potential was incubated under the oxic conditions (ambient air in a headspace) with addition of methane. Potential methane oxidation rates were obtained from the slope of the methane concentration decrease over time.

Determination of the contribution of individual methanogenetic pathways to total methane production was carried out using the stable carbon isotope measurements. This method is described in more detail in Paper II and schematically illustrated in Figure 3. It is based on effect of methylfluorid (CH₃F), which completely inhibits acetate-dependent methanogenesis. Methane was then exclusively produced by hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis and thus allowed determination of the fractionation factors specific for this methanogenic pathway.



Fig. 3: Scheme of the method for determination of the contribution of two main methanogenic pathways to the total methane production using analysis of the stable carbon isotopes (original Adam Bednařík)

Methane emissions from the surface water to the atmosphere were detected by three different methods fully described in Paper II. First, methane emissions across the air-water interface were directly measured by a floating chamber method. Second, methane diffusion fluxes (i.e. without contribution of the ebullition) to the atmosphere were determined using calculations derived from recent studies and based on the gas transfer velocity and the methane concentration gradient between the river water and the atmosphere (Striegl et al. 2012, McGinnis et al. 2014, Borges et al. 2015, Bodmer et al. 2016). Third, ebullition measurements were carried out using submerged gas funnel traps. Moreover, degassing at weirs was estimated on the basis of methane concentration differences and water discharge.

From comparison of first and second method for measurement of methane emissions in our conditions followed, that we did not observe the increased methane emissions caused by the additional induced turbulence arising from application of anchored chambers described by Lorke et al. (2015). Diffusive fluxes calculated from gas transfer velocity and directly measured emissions by chambers were not different in sites with the marginal contribution of the ebullition.

4. Main results and discussion

4.1. Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River (Paper I)

The first study was motivated by a paucity of data on methane dynamic in large rivers, especially those focused on methane-related processes in sediments. Therefore, we have investigated the spatial variability of methane production and consumption by sediments of Elbe River including the differentiation of the methane production pathways (acetoclastic vs. hydrogenotrophic) using the natural abundance of stable carbon isotopes. Additionally, we determined the diversity of the methanogenic communities.

The methane production was detected in six sediment samples (from 11 of total) along the Elbe River, while the methanotrophy was found in all examined sediment samples. The methane production and oxidation differed considerably in the river longitudinal profile without any clear trend and without any correlation with other studied environmental parameters. Moreover, the mcr-A and pmo-A gene copy numbers (genes showing the presence of methanogens and methanotrophs, respectively) were similar and quite stable among the sediment samples. It follows that while it was found hotspots of the measured methane processes, the molecular data showed no spatial characteristics. This observation confirms the more general pattern that the microbial abundance and community patterns only rarely correlate with their activity (Mach et al. 2015, Chaudhary et al. 2017).

On the other hand, several samples of sediments, which did not show any detectable methane production despite of incubation in anoxic conditions and presence of methanogens, were probably limited by substrate (organic carbon) or by the availability of alternative electron acceptors (dissolved NO^{3-} , SO_4^{2-} , Fe^{3+}).

Incubation experiments with isotopic analyses of CO_2 and methane revealed that the hydrogenotrophic pathway of methane formation (CO_2 reduction) was dominant for all examined methane productive sites accounting for 52 to 78 % of total methane release, thus implying the most probably the incomplete degradation of organic matter (see chapter 1.3.2.).

The following research was therefore more focused on detailed characterization of methane dynamic in these hot-spots of methane related processes.

4.2. Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river (Paper II)

In order to understand the role of small weir impoundments in river methane dynamics, we measured methane concentration, methane oxidation in the water column as well as sediments, total methane emissions to the atmosphere (diffusion and ebullition) and sediment methane production in three weir impoundments and river reaches between them. Generally, reduced water velocity upstream of dams leads to higher sediment accumulation rates and burial of organic carbon, which subsequently allows development of anoxic conditions suitable for methane production (e.g. Abril et al. 2005; Maeck et al. 2013).

Indeed, we found that river methane dynamics might be highly influenced by weirs, especially by increased methane production and consumption by sediments, followed by increasing methane emissions to the atmosphere. Both methane production and oxidation potential of sediments were higher upstream of the weirs compared to downstream of the weirs or usual river reaches. The total methane emissions to the atmosphere reached the highest values upstream of the weirs, while the ebullition accounted for ~96 % of the total methane emissions. Methane consumption in the sediments together with the microbial methane oxidation in the water column substantially contributed to the methane removal from surface water. Thus, the contribution of the ebullition to the methane emissions in these shallow impoundments was enhanced by bypassing microbial methane oxidation, compared to relatively slow diffusion fluxes. Overall, methane emissions from average weir impoundment can reach up to 42 times higher values than from the river section of an equal area.

In spite of such high emission fluxes including further methane release by degassing in the spillways of the weirs and high methane oxidation, considerable 7.5 times increased of methane concentration in the surface water was observed in the 16 km long examined section, pointing to important methane sources in such a short river reach.

The contribution of H_2/CO_2 -dependent methanogenesis to total produced methane tended to be higher for sediments upstream of the weirs, compared to the sediments from river sections or downstream of the weirs. More precisely, hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis contributed 37 to 89 % of the total methane production and was dominant (more than 50 %) in sediments upstream of the weirs, while acetoclastic methanogenesis was probably prevailing in remaining sediments.

31

Observed predominance of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis most probably explained by incomplete degradation of organic matter in the sediments with the preferential production of H_2 and the accumulation of residual organic substances having a higher oxidation state than the original organic carbon (Conrad et al. 2011) is frequently reported from lake ecosystems (Murase and Sugimuto 2001, Conrad et al. 2009, Conrad et al. 2014).

These all findings together with other sediment characteristics show that methane related processes upstream of the weirs are more comparable with lake sediments than river sediments.

4.3. Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the impoundment (Paper III)

Previous results encouraged us to have a further insight to the spatial variability of methane production within the weir impoundments. For this purpose, sediments upstream of the weir were sampled in the cross-channel profile and in two different sediment depths. Methane production and oxidation potentials including the contribution of individual methanogenic pathways to total methane production were measured as before.

Samples from the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) reached higher methane production than sediments from the deeper layer (10-20 cm) during the incubation experiments. The methane oxidation potential of sediments showed the same spatial pattern as observed for the methane production.

We hypothesized that more uniform sedimentation in cross-channel profiles compared to river due to the overall decrease of the flow velocity upstream of the weir will result in more identical rates of methane-related processes through the transect. Instead, we found frequently observed pattern in lakes and rivers, that littoral zones are main sites of the methanogenic activity. Increased methane production in the littoral sediments of lakes is likely caused by greater availability of labile organic matter from the aquatic vegetation and by higher temperatures in summer months, which in turn support higher methane production rates (Bussmann 2005, Murase et al. 2005, Hofmann et al. 2010), while higher methane production in riparian habitats of rivers is probably connected with low water exchange between surface water and sediments, thus, the low oxygen supply to the sediment (Malard et al. 2002, Fischer et al. 2005). In our study, sediments near the bank zones and in the mid-channel were characterised by the highest organic carbon content (6.9 %) as well the highest methanogenic activity (2.5 mmol g^{-1} DW d^{-1}).

Stable carbon isotopes analysis, used for determination of individual methanogenic pathways, confirms our previous findings that the methane production is dominated by H_2/CO_2 dependent methanogenesis upstream of the weir. However, it was more evident in the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm), while the proportion of acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in deeper sediment layer (10-20 cm) was more balanced. This slight shift in the contribution of methanogenic pathways was not caused by the lability or availability of organic substrate because the similarity of these parameters between examined sediment layers, so real causes stayed unclear based on available data.

5. Conclusions

Altogether results presented in this study confirm that river sediments are important place of anaerobic degradation of organic matter with methane as a final product. Moreover, the methane dynamics in a river system show a high local variability, indicating that multiple measurements are needed to characterize the sources and fates of the methane. The methane dynamics along the river continuum is dramatically impacted by the building of small impoundments, which contribute significantly to the total methane production and its subsequent emission disproportionately to their area. Therefore, sampling carried out regardless of occurrence of small impoundments can considerably underestimate methane emissions to atmosphere from lotic ecosystems and the importance of these barriers for river methane dynamic. We found out that the most productive sites in the impounded river zones are littoral sediments as was previously reported for different freshwater habitats including lakes and rivers. Modifications of methane related processes in impounded river zones are reflected also by different contribution of individual metabolic pathways of methane production compared to usual river sections.

Recent studies clearly show that rivers may emit considerable amount of methane to the atmosphere. Hence, rivers should be included into the future estimations and models of a global methane budget. Namely, high spatial variability of methane related processes is remarkable in rivers compared to other ecosystems and deserves to be considered in greater details in the further studies. In any case, it is necessary to consider the sampling location of particular water habitats, because sediment samples taken only in the particular zones of water habitats can significantly misrepresent the further extrapolation of obtained results. Considering the considerable sediment methane production upstream of the weirs, more studies focusing on quantification of direct methane fluxes from sediments to surface water and conducted in-situ would also be of great importance.

Finally, I do hope that findings presented here contribute to improving our knowledge about the sources and fate of methane in river ecosystems.

6. References

Abril G, Guerin F, Richard S, Delmas R, Galy-Lacaux C, Gosse P, Tremblay A, Varfalvy L, et al. (2005): Carbon dioxide and methane emissions and the carbon budget of a 10-year old tropical reservoir (Petit Saut, French Guiana). Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 19, GB4007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2005GB002457

Alshboul Z, Encinas-Fernandéz J, Hofmann H, Lorke A (2016): Export of dissolved methane and carbon dioxide with effluents from municipal wastewater treatment plants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50: 5555–5563. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b04923

Anthony SE, Prahl FG, Peterson TD (2012): Methane dynamics in the Willamette River, Oregon. Limnol. Oceanogr. 57: 1517–1530. doi:10.4319/lo.2012.57.5.1517

Atkins ML, Santos IR, and Maher DT (2017): Seasonal exports and drivers of dissolved inorganic and organic carbon, carbon dioxide, methane and d13C signatures in a subtropical river network. Sci. Total Environ. 575: 545–563. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.020

Avery GB & Martens ChS (1999): Controls on the stable carbon isotopic composition of biogenic methane produced in a tidal freshwater estaurine sediment. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 63: 1075–1082. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(98)00315-9

Bastviken D, Ejlertsson J, Sundh I, Tranvik L (2002): Measurement of methane oxidation in lakes: a comparison of methods, Environ. Sci. Technol. 36: 3354–3361. doi: 10.1021/es010311

Bastviken D, Cole J, Pace M, Tranvik L (2004): Methane emissions from lakes: Dependence of lake characteristics, two regional assessments, and a global estimate. Glob Biogeochem Cycles. 18: GB4009. doi:10.1029/2004GB002238

Bastviken D, Tranvik LJ, Downing JA, Crill PM, Prast AE (2011): Freshwater Methane Emissions Offset the Continental Carbon Sink. Science. 331: 50. doi: 10.1126/science.1196808

Baulch HM, Dillon PJ, Maranger R, Schiff SL (2011): Diffusive and ebullitive transport of methane and nitrous oxide from streams: Are bubble-mediated fluxes important? J Geophys Res. 116: G04028. doi:10.1029/2011JG001656

Beal EJ, Claire MW, House CH (2011): High rates of anaerobic methanotrophy at low sulfate concentrations with implications for past and present methane levels. Geology 9: 131-139. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4669.2010.00267.x.

Bednařík A, Čáp L, Maier V, Rulík M (2015): Contribution of Methane Benthic and Atmospheric Fluxes of an Experimental Area (Sitka Stream). Clean – Soil, Air, Water. 43: 1136–1142. https://doi.org/10.1002/clen.201300982

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2017): Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river. Sci. Total Environ. 584–585: 164–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.163

Bhullar GS, Edwards PJ, Olde Venterink H (2014): Influence of Different Plant Species on Methane Emissions from Soil in a Restored Swiss Wetland. PLoS ONE 9(2): e89588. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089588

Blair NE, Boehme SE, Chanton JP (1987): Seasonal variation in $\Sigma CO_2 \delta^{13}C$ values from an anoxic coastal sediment. Abstr. Pap. Am. Chem. Soc. 193, 77–GEOC.

Blaser M and Conrad R (2016): Stable carbon isotope fractionation as tracer of carbon cycling in anoxic soil ecosystems. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 41: 122–129. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2016.07.001

Blaser MB, Dreisbach LK, Conrad R (2013): Carbon isotope fractionation of 11 acetogenic strains grown on H₂ and CO₂. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79: 1787–1794. doi:10.1128/AEM.03203-12

Bodmer P, Heinz M, Pusch M, Singer G, Premke K (2016): Carbon dynamics and their link to dissolved organic matter quality across contrasting stream ecosystems. Sci. Total Environ. 553: 574–86. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.095

Boulton AJ, Findlay S, Marmonier P, Stanley EH, Valett HM (1998): The functial significance of the hyporheic zone in streams and rivers. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 29: 59–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.29.1.59

Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Teodoru CR, Marwick TR, Tamooh F, Geeraert N, Omengo FO, Guérin F, Lambert T, Morana C, Okuku E, Bouillon S (2015): Globally significant greenhouse-gas emissions from African inland waters. Nat. Geosci. doi: 10.1038/NGEO2486

Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Lambert T, Bouillonb S, Morana C, Brouyère S, Hakounc V, Jurado A, Tseng HC, Descy JP, Rolanda FAE (2018): Effects of agricultural land use on fluvial carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide concentrations in a large European river, the Meuse (Belgium). Science of the Total Environment 610–611: 342–355. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.047

Brablcová L, Buriánková I, Badurová P, Rulík M (2013): The phylogenetic structure of microbial biofilms and free-living bacteria in a small stream. Folia Microbiol. 58: 235–243. doi: 10.1007/s12223-012-0201-y

Brablcová L, Buriánková I, Badurová P, Chaudhary PP, Rulík M (2015): Methanogenic archaea diversity in hyporheic sediments of a small lowland stream. Anaerobe 32: 24–31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2014.11.009

Bridgham SD, Cadillo-Quiroz H, Keller JK, Zhuang Q (2013): Methane emissions from wetlands: biogeochemical, microbial, and modeling perspectives from local to global scales. Glob Chang Biol. 19: 1325–1346. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12131

Brook EJ, Harder S, Severinghaus JP, Steig EJ, Sucher CM (2000): On the origin and timing of rapid changes in atmospheric methane during the last glacial period. Global Biogeochem Cycles 14: 559–572. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999GB001182

Buriánková I, Brablcová L, Mach V, Hýblová A, Badurová P, Cupalová J, Čáp L, Rulík M (2012): Methanogens and methanotrophs distribution in the hyporheic sediments of a small lowland stream. Fund Appl Limnol. 181: 87–102. doi: 10.1127/1863-9135/2012/0283

Buriánková I, Brablcová L, Mach V, Dvořák P, Chaudhary PP, Rulík M (2013): Identification of Methanogenic archaea in the Hyporheic Sediment of Sitka Stream. PLoS ONE 8(11): e80804. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080804

Bussmann I (2005): Methane release through resuspension of littoral sediment. Biogeochemistry. 74: 283–302. doi: 10.1007/s10533-004-2223-2

Call M, Sanders CJ, Enrich-Prast A, Sanders L, Marotta H, Santos IR, Maher DT (2018): Radon-traced pore-water as a potential source of CO2 and CH4 to receding black and clear water environments in the Amazon Basin. Limnol Oceanogr Lett. 3(5): 375–383. doi: 10.1002/lol2.10089

Chan OC, Claus P, Casper P, Ulrich A., Lueders T, Conrad R (2005): Vertical distribution of structure and function of the methanogenic archaeal community in Lake Dagow sediment. Environ. Microbiol. 7: 1139–1149. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00790.x

Chanton JP, Chasar LC, Glaser P, Siegel D (2005): Chapter 6, Carbon and hydrogen isotopic effects in microbial methane from terrestrial environments. In: Flanagan, J.R., Ehleringer, J.R., Pataki, D.E. (Eds.), Stable Isotopes and Biosphere–Atmosphere Interactions, Physiological Ecology Series. Elsevier–Academic Press, pp. 55–105.

Chaudhary PP, Rulík M, Blaser M (2017): Is the methanogenic community reflecting the methane emissions of river sediments? - comparison of two study sites. MicrobiologyOpen. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.454
Comer-Warner SA, Romeijn P, Gooddy DC, Ullah S, Kettridge N, Marchant B, Hannah DM, Krause S (2018): Thermal sensitivity of CO2 and CH4 emissions varies with streambed sediment properties. Nat Commun. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04756-x

Conrad R (1999): Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 28: 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1999.tb00575.x

Conrad R (2002): Control of microbial methane production in wetland rice fields. Nutr Cycl Agroecosys. 64: 59–69. doi: 10.1023/A:1021178713988

Conrad R (2005): Quantification of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotopic signatures: a review and a proposal. Org Geochem. 36: 739–752. doi: 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2004.09.006

Conrad R (2009): The global methane cycle: recent advances in understanding the microbial processes involved. Environ Microbiol Rep. 1 (5): 285–292. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-2229.2009.00038.x.

Conrad R & Claus P (2005): Contribution of methanol to the production of methane and its 13C-isotopic signature in anoxic rice field soil. Biogeochemistry. 73: 381–393. doi: 10.1007/s10533-004-0366-9

Conrad R & Klose M (1999): How specic is the inhibition by methyl fuoride of acetoclastic methanogenesis in anoxic rice field soil? FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 30: 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-6496(99)00038-0

Conrad R, Klose M, Claus P (2002): Pathway of CH_4 formation in anoxic rice field soil and rice roots determined by ¹³C-stable isotope fractionation. Chemosphere. 47: 797–806. doi:10.1016/S0045-6535(02)00120-0

Conrad R,On-Chim C, Claus P, Casper P (2007): Characterization of methanogenic Archaea and stable isotope fractionation during methane production in the profundal sediment of an oligotrophic lake (Lake Stechlin, Germany. Limnol Oceanogr. 52: 1393–1406. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2007.52.4.1393

Conrad R, Claus P, Casper P (2009): Characterization of stable isotope fractionation during methane production in the sediment of a eutrophic lake, Lake Dagow, Germany. Limnol Oceanogr 54(2): 457–471. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.2.0457

Conrad R, Klose M, Claus P, Enrich-Prast A (2010): Methanogenic pathway, ¹³C isotope fractionation, and archaeal community composition in the sediment of two clear-water lakes of Amazonia. Limnol Oceanogr. 55(2): 689–702. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.2.0689

Conrad R, Noll M, Claus P, Klose M, Bastos WR, Enrich-Prast A (2011): Stable carbon isotope discrimination and microbiology of methane formation in tropical anoxic lake sediments. Biogeosciences. 8: 795–814. doi:10.5194/bg-8-795-2011

Conrad R, Ji Y, Noll M, Klose M, Claus P, Enrich-Prast A (2014): Response of the methanogenic microbial communities in Amazonian oxbow lake sediments to desiccation stress. Environ Microbiol. 16: 1682–1694. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12267

Crawford JT, Stanley EH, Spawn SA, Finlay JC, Loken LC, Striegl RG (2014): Ebullitive methane emissions from oxygenated wetland streams. Glob Chang Biol. 20: 3408–3422. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12614

Crawford JT, Loken LC, Stanley EH, Stets EG, Dornblaser MM, Striegl RG (2016): Basin scale controls on CO2 and CH4 emissions from the Upper Mississippi River, Geophys. Res. Lett. 43: 1973–1979. doi:10.1002/2015GL067599

De Angelis MA & Scranton MI (1993): Fate of methane in the Hudson River and Estuary. Global Biogeochem Cycles. 7 (3): 509–523. https://doi.org/10.1029/93GB01636

DeGraaf W, Wellsbury P, Parkes RJ, Cappenberg TE (1996): Comparison of acetate turnover in methanogenic and sulfate-reducing sediments by radiolabeling and stable isotope labeling and by use of specific inhibitors: Evidence for isotopic exchange. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62: 772–777.

Demirel B & Scherer P (2008): The roles of acetotrophic and hydrogenotrophic methanogens during anaerobic conversion of biomass to methane: a review. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol. 7: 173–190. doi: 10.1007/s11157-008-9131-1

Dlugokencky E. [Internet]. NOAA/ESRL [cited 2018 Aug 5]. Available from: http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends_ch4/

Downing JA, Prairie YT, Cole JJ, Duarte CM, Tranvik LJ, Striegl RG, McDowell WH, Kortelainen P et al (2006): The global abundance and size distribution of lakes, ponds, and impoundments. Limnol Oceanogr. 51: 2388–2397. doi: 10.4319/lo.2006.51.5.2388

Downing JA, Cole JJ, Middelburg JJ, Striegl RG, Duarte CM, Kortelainen P, Prairie YT, Laube KA (2008): Sediment organic carbon burial in agriculturally eutrophic impoundments over the last century. Glob Chang Biol. 22: GB1018. doi:10.1029/2006GB002854

Etheridge DM, Steele LP, Francey RJ, Langenfelds RL (1998): Atmospheric methane between 1000 AD and present: Evidence of anthropogenic emissions and climate variability. J Geophys Res. 103: 15979–15993. https://doi.org/10.1029/98JD00923

Ettwig KF, Butler MK, Le Paslier D, Pelletier E, Mangenot S, Kuypers MMM, Schreiber F, Dutilh BE, Zedelius J, de Beer D, Gloerich J, Wessels HJCT, van Alen T, Luesken F, Wu ML, van de Pas-Schoonen KT, Op den Camp HJM, Janssen-Megens EM, Francoijs K-J, Stunnenberg H, Weissenbach J, Jetten MSM, Strous M (2010): Nitrite-driven anaerobic methane oxidation by oxygenic bacteria. Nature. 464: 543–548. doi: 10.1038/nature08883

Faber E, Berner U, Gerling P, Hollerbach A, Stahl WJ, Schroder HG (1996): Isotopic tracing of methane in water and Exchange with the atmosphere. Energy Convers. Mgmt. 37(6-8): 1193–1198. doi: 10.1016/0196-8904(95)00319-3

Ferry JG (1993): Fermentation of acetate. In: Ferry JG (ed.): Methanogenesis: Ecology, physiology, biochemistry and genetics. Chapman and Hall, New York, 536 pp.

Fey A, Claus P, Conrad R (2004): Temporal change of 13 C-isotope signatures and methanogenic pathways in rice field soil incubated anoxically at different temperatures. Geochim Cosmochim. Ac. 68: 293–306. doi:10.1016/S0016-7037(03)00426-5

Findlay S. (1995): Importance of surface-subsurface exchange in stream ecosystems: The hyporheic zone, Limnol. Oceanogr. 40, 159–164. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1995.40.1.0159

Fischer H, Kloep F, Wilzcek S, Pusch MT (2005): A river's liver – microbial processes within the hyporheic zone of a large lowland river. Biogeochemistry. 76: 349–371. doi: 10.1007/s10533-005-6896-y

Ford TE & Naiman NJ (1988): Alteration of carbon cycling by beaver: methane evasion rates from boreal forest streams and rivers. Can. J. Zool. 66: 529–533. https://doi.org/10.1139/z88-076

Fry B. (2006): Stable isotope ecology. Springer Science, USA, 308 pp.

Garcia JL, Patel BKC, Ollivier B (2000): Taxonomic, Phylogenetic, and Ecological Diversity of Methanogenic Archaea. Anaerobe. 6: 205–226. https://doi.org/10.1006/anae.2000.0345

Galand PE, Fritze H, Conrad R, Yrjälä K (2005): Pathways for methanogenesis and diversity of methanogenic archaea in three boreal peatland ecosystems. Appl Environ Microbiol. 71: 2195–2198. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.4.2195-2198.2005

Galand PE, Yrjälä K, Conrad R (2010): Stable carbon isotope fractionation during methanogenesis in three boreal peatland ecosystems. Biogeosciences. 7: 3893–3900. doi:10.5194/bg-7-3893-2010

Gelwicks JT, Risatti JB, Hayes JM (1994): Carbon isotope effects associated with aceticlastic methanogenesis. Appl Environ Microbiol. 60: 467–472.

Goevert D & Conrad R (2009): Effect of substrate concentration on carbon isotope fractionation during acetoclastic methanogenesis by *Methanosarcina barkeri* and M. acetivorans and in rice field soil. Appl Environ Microbiol. 75: 2605–2612. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02680-08

Gooddy DC & Darling WG (2005): The potential for methane emissions from groundwaters of the UK. Sci. Total Environ. 339: 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.07.019

Happel JD, Chanton JP, Showers WS (1994): The influence of methane oxidation on the stable isotopic composition of methane emitted from Florida swamp forests. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 58(20): 4377–4388. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(94)90341-7

Hlaváčová, E., Rulík M. & Čáp L. (2005): Anaerobic microbial metabolism in hyporheic sediment of a gravel bar in a small lowland stream. River Res. Applic. 21: 1003–1011. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.866

Hofmann H, Federwisch L, Peeters F (2010): Wave-induced release of methane: Littoral zones as a source of methane in lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55(5): 1990–2000. doi:10.4319/lo.2010.55.5.1990

Hope D, Palmer SM, Billet MF & Dawson JC (2001): Carbon dioxide and methane evasion from a temperate peatland stream. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46(4): 847–857. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2001.46.4.0847

Hope D, Palmer SM, Billett MF, Dawson JJC (2004): Variations in dissolved CO2 and CH4 in a firstorder stream and catchment: an investigation of soil-stream linkages. Hydrol. Process. 18: 3255–3275. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5657

Hornibrook ERC, Longstaffe FJ, Fyfe WS (1997): Spatial distribution of microbial methane production pathways in temperate zone wetland soils: Stable carbon and hydrogen isotope evidence. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 61(4): 745–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(96)00368-7

Hornibrook ERC, Longstaffe FJ, Fyfe WS (2000): Evolution of stable carbon isotope compositions for methane and carbon dioxide in freshwater wetlands and other anaerobic environments. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 64(6): 1013–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(99)00321-X

Huttunen JT, Vaisanen TS, Hellsten SK, Martikainen PJ (2006): Methane fluxes at sediment-water interface in some boreal lakes and reservoirs. Boreal Environ. Res. 11: 27–34.

IPCC (2013): Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

Jahne B & Haußecker H (1998): Air-water gas Exchange. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech. 30: 443–68. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.fluid.30.1.443

Janssen PH & Frenzel P (1997): Inhibition of methanogenesis by methyl fluoride: Studies of pure and defined mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Appl Environ Microbiol. 63: 4552–4557.

Jedrysek MO (1995): Carbon isotope evidence for diurnal variations in methanogenesis in freshwater lake sediments. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 59(3): 557–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(94)00369-W

Jones RI & Grey J (2011): Biogenic methane in freshwater food webs. Freshwater boil. 56: 213–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02494.x

Jones JB & Mulholland PJ (1998): Methane input and evasion in a hardwood forest stream: Effects of subsurface flow from shallow and deep pathways. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43: 1243–1250. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1998.43.6.1243 Kemens A, Forsberg BR, Melack JM (2016): Downstream emissions of CH4 and CO2 from hydroelectric reservoirs (Tucuruí, Samuel, and Curuá-Una) in the Amazon basin. Inland Waters. 6: 295–302. doi: 10.5268/IW-6.3.980

Krüger M, Eller G, Conrad R, Frenzel P (2002): Seasonal variation in pathways of CH4 production and in CH4 oxidation in rice fields determined by stable carbon isotopes and specific inhibitors. Glob Chang Biol. 8: 265–280. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00476.x

Krzycki JA, Kenealy WR, Deniro MJ, Zeikus JG (1987): Stable Carbon Isotope Fractionation by Methanosarcina barkeri during Methanogenesis from Acetate, Methanol, or Carbon Dioxide-Hydrogen. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2597–2599.

Lancaster ST & Grant GE (2006): Debris dams and the relief of headwater streams. Geomorphology. 82: 84–97. doi:10.1016/j.geomorph.2005.08.020

Lazar JG, Addy K, Welsh MK, Gold AJ, Groffman PM (2014): Resurgent Beaver Ponds in the Northeastern United States: Implications for Greenhouse Gas Emissions. J. Environ. Qual. 43:1844–1852. doi:10.2134/jeq2014.02.0065

Li S & Zhang Q (2014): Carbon emission from global hydroelectric reservoirs revisited. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21: 13636–13641. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3165-4

Lorke A, Bodmer P, Noss C, Alshboul Z, Koschorreck M, Somlai-Haase C, Bastviken D, Flury S et al (2015): Technical note: drifting versus anchored flux chambers for measuring greenhouse gas emissions from running waters. Biogeosciences. 12: 7013-7024. doi:10.5194/bg-12-7013-2015

Mach V, Blaser M, Claus P, Chaudhary PP, Rulik M (2015): Methane production potentials, pathways, and communities of methanogens in vertical sediment profiles of river Sitka. Front Microbiol. 6: 506. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00506

Maeck A, DelSontro T, McGinnis DF, Fischer H, Flury S, Schmidt M, Fietzek P, Lorke A (2013): Sediment trapping by dams creates methane emission hot spots. Environ Sci Technol. 47: 8130–8137. doi: 10.1021/es4003907

Malard F, Tockner K, Dole-Olivier MJ, Ward JV (2002): A landscape perspective of surface–subsurface hydrological exchanges in river corridors. Freshwater Biol. 47: 621–640. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2002.00906.x

Martinez-Cruz K, Sepulveda-Jauregui A, Casper P, Anthony KW, Smemo KA, Thalasso F (2018): Ubiquitous and significant anaerobic oxidation of methane in freshwater lake sediments. Water Research 144: 332–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.07.053

McGinnis DF, Kirillin G, Tang KW, Flury S, Bodmer P, Engelhardt Ch, Casper P, Grossart HP (2014): Enhancing surface methane fluxes from an oligotrophic lake: exploring the microbubble hypothesis. Environ. Sci. Technol. doi: 10.1021/es503385d

McGinnis DF, Bilsley N, Schmidt M, Fietzek P, Bodmer P, Premke K, Lorke A, Flury S (2016): Deconstructing Methane Emissions from a Small Northern European River: Hydrodynamics and Temperature as Key Drivers. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50(21): 11680–11687. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.6b03268

Metje M and Frenzel P (2007): Methanogenesis and methanogenic pathways in a peat from subarctic permafrost. Environ Microbiol. 9(4): 954–964. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2006.01217.x

Middelburg JJ, Nieuwenhuize J, Iversen N, Hùgh N, de Wilde H, Helder W, Seifert R, Christof O (2002): Methane distribution in tidal estuaries. Biogeochemistry. 59: 95–119.

Moura JM, Martens CS, Moreira MZ, Lima RL, Sampaio IC, Mendlovitz HP, Menton MC (2008): Spatial and seasonal variations in the stable carbon isotopic composition of methane in stream sediments of eastern Amazonia. Tellus B. 60: 21-31. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00322.x

Murase J & Sugimuto A (2001): Spatial distribution of methane in the Lake Biwa sediments and its carbon isotopic compositions. Geochem J. 35: 257–263. doi: 10.2343/geochemj.35.257

Murase J, Sakai Y, Sugimoto A, Okubo K, Sakamoto M (2003): Sources of dissolved methane in Lake Biwa. Limnology. 4: 91–99. doi: 10.1007/s10201-003-0095-0

Murase J, Sakai Y, Kametani A, Sugimoto A. 2005: Dynamics of methane in mesotrophic Lake Biwa, Japan. Ecol Res. 20:377–385. doi:10.1007/s11284-005-0053-x

Natchimuthu S, Selvam BP, Bastviken D (2014): Influence of weather variables on methane and carbon dioxide flux from a shallow pond. Biogeochemistry. 119: 403–413. doi: 10.1007/s10533-014-9976-z

Norði K & Thamdrup B (2014): Nitrate-dependent anaerobic methane oxidation in a freshwater sediment. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 132: 141–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2014.01.032

Norði K, Thamdrup B, Schubert CJ (2013): Anaerobic oxidation of methane in an iron-rich freshwater sediment. Limnol Oceanogr. 58: 546–554. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2013.58.2.0546

Noss Ch, Bodmer P, Koca K, Lorke A (2018): Flow and Turbulence driven Water Surface Roughness and Gas Exchange Velocity in Streams. E3S Web of Conferences 40: 05018. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/20184005018

Penger J, Conrad R, Blaser M (2012): Stable carbon isotope fractionation by methylotrophic methanogenic archaea. Appl Environ Microbiol. 78: 7596–7602. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01773-12

Penger J, Conrad R, Blaser M (2014): Stable carbon isotope fractionation of six strongly fractionating microorganisms is not affected by growth temperature under laboratory conditions. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 140: 95–105. doi:10.1016/j.gca.2014.05.015

Penning H, Claus P, Casper P, Conrad R (2006): Carbon isotope fractionation during acetoclastic methanogenesis by *Methanosaeta concilii* in culture and a lake sediment. Appl Environ Microbiol. 72: 5648–5652. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00727-06

Peterson BJ & Fry B (1987): Stable isotopes in ecosystem studies. Annu Rev Ecol System. 18: 293–320.

Rulík M, Bednařík A, Mach V, Brablcová L, Buriánková I, Badurová P, Gratzová K (2013): Methanogenic system of a small lowland stream Sitka, Czech Republic. In: Matovic MD (ed): Biomass now – cultivation and utilization (chapter 17), InTech, Rijeka, 395–426 pp.

Saarnio S, Winiwarter W, Leita J (2009): Methane release from wetlands and watercourses in Europe. Atmos Environ 43: 1421–1429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.04.007

Sander R (2015): Compilation of Henry's law constants (version 4.0) for water as solvent. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 15 (8): 4399–4981. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-15-4399-2015

Sanders IA, Heppell CM, Cotton A, Wharton G, Hildrew AG, Flowers EJ, Trimmer M (2007): Emission of methane from chalk streams has potential implications for agricultural practices. Freshwater Biol. 52: 1176–1186, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01745.x

Sansone FJ, Rust TM, Smith SV (1998): Methane distribution and cycling in Tomales bay, California. Estuaries. 21: 66–77. doi: 10.2307/1352547

Sansone FJ, Holmes ME, Popp BN (1999): Methane stable isotopic ratios and concentrations as indicators of methane dynamic in estuaries. Global biogeochem cycles. 13(2): 463–474. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999GB900012

Scavino AF, Ji Y, Pump J, Klose M, Claus P, Conrad R (2013): Structure and function of the methanogenic microbial communities in Uruguayan soils shifted between pasture and irrigated rice fields. Environ Microbiol. 15: 2588–2602. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12161

Segers R (1998): Methane production and methane consumption: a review of processes underlaying wetland methane fluxes. Biogeochemistry. 41: 23–51. doi: 10.1023/A:1005929032764

Shelley F, Abdullahi F, Grey J, Trimmer M (2015): Microbial methane cycling in the bed of a chalk river: oxidation has the potential to match methanogenesis enhanced by warming. Freshwater Biol. doi:10.1111/fwb.12480

Shen LD, Ouyang L, Zhu Y, Trimmer M (2018): Active pathways of anaerobic methane oxidation across contrasting riverbeds. The ISME Journal. 13: 752–766. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0302-y

Sollberger S, Corella JP, Girardclos S, Randlett ME, Schubert CJ, Senn DB, Wehrli B, DelSontro T (2014): Spatial heterogeneity of benthic methane dynamics in the subaquatic canyons of the Rhone River Delta (Lake Geneva). Aquat Sci 76 (Suppl 1): S89–S101. doi: 10.1007/s00027-013-0319-2

Spawn SA, Dunn ST, Fiske GJ, Natali SM, Schade JD, Zimov NS (2015): Summer methane ebullition from a headwater catchment in Northeastern Siberia. Inland Waters. 5(3): 224–230. https://doi.org/10.5268/iw-5.3.845

Stanley EH, Casson NJ, Christel ST, Crawford JT, Loken LC, Oliver SK (2016): The ecology of methane in streams and rivers: patterns, controls, and global significance. Ecol Monograph. doi: 10.1890/15-1027.1

St. Louis VL, Kelly CA, Duchemin E, Rudd JWM, Rosenberg DM (2000): Reservoir Surfaces as Sources of Greenhouse Gases to the Atmosphere: A Global Estimate. BioScience. 50(9): 766-775. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0766:RSASOG]2.0.CO;2

Striegl RG, Dornblaser MM, McDonald CP, Rover JR, Stets EG (2012): Carbon dioxide and methane emissions from the Yukon River system. Global Biochem Cycles. 26: GB0E05. doi:10.1029/2012GB004306

Sugimoto A & Wada E (1993): Carbon isotopic composition of bacterial methane in a soil incubation experiment - contributions of acetate and CO_2/H_2 . Geochim Cosmochim Ac 57: 4015–4027. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(93)90350-6

Sugimuto A & Fujita N (2006): Hydrogen concentration and stable isotopic composition of methane in bubble gas observed in a natural wetland. Biogeochemistry. 81: 33–44. doi: 10.1007/s10533-006-9028-4 Teodoru CR, Nyoni FC, Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Nyambe I, Bouillon S (2015): Dynamics of greenhouse gases (CO2, CH4, N2O) along the Zambezi River and major tributaries, and their importance in the riverine carbon budget. Biogeosciences, 12: 2431–2453. doi:10.5194/bg-12-2431-2015

Trimmer M, Sanders IA, Heppell CM (2009): Carbon and nitrogen cycling in a vegetated lowland chalk river impacted by sediment. Hydrol Process. 23: 2225–2238. doi: 10.1002/hyp.7276

Trimmer M, Maanoja S, Hildrew AG, Pretty JL, Grey J (2010): Potential carbon fixation via methane oxidation in well-oxygenated riverbed gravels. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55(2): 560–568. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.2.0560

Venkiteswaran JJ & Schiff SL (2005): Methane oxidation: isotopic enrichment factors in freshwater boreal reservoirs. Appl Geochem. 20: 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2004.11.007

Vuorio K, Meili M, Sarvala J (2006): Taxon-specific variation in the stable isotopic signatures (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) of lake phytoplankton. Freshwat Biol. 51: 807–822. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01529.x

Wang DQ, Chen ZL, Sun WW, HU BB, XU SY (2009): Methane and nitrous oxide concentration and emission flux of Yangtze Delta plain river net. Science in China series B: Chemistry. 52 (5): 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11426-009-0024-0

White JWC, Ferretti DF, Miller JB, Etheridge DM, Lassey KR, Lowe DC, MacFarlin CM, Dreier MF, Trudinger CM, Ommen T (2007): The Global Methane Budget over the Last 2000 Years: 13CH4 Reveals

Hidden Information. In: Dawson TE, Siegwolf RTW (eds.): Stable Isotopes as Indicators of Ecological Change. Academic Press, Cambridge, United States, 436 pp.

Whiticar MJ & Faber E (1986): Methane oxidation in sediment and water column environments-Isotope evidence. Org. Geochem. 10: 759–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0146-6380(86)80013-4

Whiticar MJ, Faber E, Schoell M (1986): Biogenic methane formation in marine and freshwater environments: CO₂ reduction vs. acetate fermentation – isotopic evidence. Geochim Cosmochim Ac. 50: 693–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(86)90346-7

Whiticar MJ (1999): Carbon and hydrogen isotope systematice of bacterial formation and oxidation of methane. Chem Geol. 161: 291–314. https://doi.org/10.1029/GB002i003p00279

Wilcock RJ & Sorrel BK (2008): Emissions of greenhouse gases CH_4 and N_2O from low-gradient streams in agriculturally developed catchments. Water Air Soil Pollut. 188: 155–170. doi: 10.1007/s11270-007-9532-8

Wilkinson J, Maeck A, Alshboul Z, Lorke A (2018): Continuous Seasonal River Ebullition Measurements Linked to Sediment Methane Formation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49(22): 13121–13129. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b01525

Woltemate I, Whiticar MJ, Schoell M (1984): Carbon and hydrogen isotopic composition of bacterial methane in a shallow freshwater lake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 29(5): 985–992. doi: 10.4319/lo.1984.29.5.0985

Wuebles DJ & Hayhoe K (2002): Atmospheric methane and global change. Earth-Science Reviews 57: 177–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-8252(01)00062-9

Yamamoto S, Alcauskas JB, Crozier TE (1976): Solubility of methane in distilled water and seawater, J. Chem. Eng. Data, 21: 78–80. https://doi.org/10.1021/je60068a029, 1976.

Yang SS (1998): Methane production in river and lake sediments in Taiwan. Environ Geochem Health. 20: 245–249.

Yang LB, Li XY, Yan WJ, Ma P, Wang JN (2012): CH_4 concentrations and emissions from three rivers in the Chaohu Lake watershed in Southeast China. J Integr Agric 11: 665–673. doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(12)60054-9

Yang L, Lu F, Zhou X, Wang X, Duan X, Sun B (2014): Progress in the studies on the greenhouse gas emissions from reservoirs. Acta Ecol. Sin. 34: 204–212. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chnaes.2013.05.011

Yao H & Conrad R (2000): Electron balance during steady-state production of CH4 and CO2 in anoxic rice soil. Eur J Soil Sci 51: 369–378. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2389.2000.00330.x

Yavitt JB & Knapp AK (1998): Aspects of methane flow from sediment through emergent cattail (Typha latifolia) plants. New Phytol. 139: 495–503. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1998.00210.x

Ye R, Jin Q, Bohannan B, Keller JK, Bridgham SD (2014): Homoacetogenesis: A potentially underappreciated carbon pathway in peatlands. Soil Biol Biochem. 68: 385–391. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.10.020

Zinder SH (1993): Physiological ecology of methanogens. In: Ferry JG (ed.): Methanogenesis: Ecology, physiology, biochemistry and genetics. Chapman and Hall, New York, 536 pp.

- 7. Attached publications
- 7.1. Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Tušer M, Chaudhary PP, Šimek K, Rulík M (2019): Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River. Limnologica (*in review*)

1	Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River			
2				
3	Adam Bednařík ^{1*†} , Martin Blaser ^{2†} , Anna Matoušů ^{3,4} , Michal Tušer ⁴ , Prem Prashant			
4	Chaudhary ^{1,5,6} , Karel Šimek ^{3,4} & Martin Rulík ¹			
5				
6	¹ Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Science, Palacký University			
7	Olomouc, Czech Republic			
8	² Department of Biogeochemistry, Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology,			
9	Marburg, Germany			
10	³ Faculty of Sciences, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic			
11	⁴ Biology Centre of CAS, Institute of Hydrobiology, České Budějovice, Czech Republic			
12	⁵ School of Chemical and Biomedical Engineering, Nanyang Technological University (NTU),			
13	Singapore			
14	⁶ Nanyang Technological University Food Technology Centre (NAFTEC), Nanyang			
15	Technological University (NTU), Singapore			
16				
17	*Corresponding author: adambednarik01@gmail.com			
18	† These authors have contributed equally to this work			
19				
20				

21 Abstract

Methane (CH₄) is an important atmospheric trace gas mostly released from wet anoxic soils 22 and sediments. While many studies have focused on relatively homogenous environments like 23 rice fields and lake sediments, the changing contribution of heterogeneous sediments e.g. 24 25 along the longitudinal profile of a rivers has not been covered very frequently. Here we investigated sediment samples from 11 locations of the Elbe River. Sediments were incubated 26 27 to measure methanogenic/methanotrophic potentials and contribution along individual methanogenic pathways using isotope analysis of δ^{13} C. Additionally, we determined the 28 diversity of the methanogenic communities (analysis of T-RFLP targeting the mcr-A gene in 29 the sediment samples), while abundances of archaea, methanogens and methanotrophs were 30 determined by qPCR. The CH₄ production was detected in six samples (out of 11 examined) 31 and ranged from 0.12 to 644.72 nmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹. Methanotrophy was found in all examined 32 sediment samples and ranged from 654 to 10,875 nmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹. Abundance of 33 methanogens and methanotrophs (Mcr-A and pmo-A gene copy numbers) was not 34 significantly different and quite stable around 10^6 to 10^7 copies gDW⁻¹. The group specific 35 qPCR showed high fluctuations, while the highest counts were reported for 36 Methanomicrobiales and Methanosarcinales $(10^5 \text{ to } 10^8 \text{ copies per gram dry sediment})$, 37 followed by *Methanobacteriales* $(10^3 \text{ to } 10^5 \text{ copies per gram dry sediment})$. A significant 38 proportion of unidentified methanogens was found in almost every locality. Isotope analysis 39 of δ^{13} C showed that (CH₄) is produced mainly by hydrogenotrophic methanogens. We see no 40 trend in the studied parameters along the Elbe River. The molecular data showed no spatial 41 characteristics, while we found hotspots of the measured CH₄ processes (CH₄ production and 42 oxidation) due to other local driving factors (e.g. carbon content). Thus, out results indicate 43 that the observed variability of the CH₄ production and oxidation rates is only indirectly 44 linked to the presence or quantities of different microbial guilds. 45

46

Key words: methane, river sediments, methanogenic potential, methanotrophic potential,
qPCR, TRFL-P, stable carbon isotope, delta 13C, mcr-A, pmo-A,

1. Introduction

50

Methane (CH₄) is a significant component of the aquatic carbon cycling and is involved in 51 many biogeochemical and physical processes. Since biological methane production is mainly 52 linked to wet anoxic soils and sediments, streams and rivers are one of many sources of 53 atmospheric methane contributing 15 - 40 % to the total CH₄ efflux of wetlands and lakes 54 (Stanley et al. 2016). Sediments are very important sites of riverine metabolism including 55 their role in methanogenesis (Dahm et al. 1987). Generally, the mineralization of the organic 56 matter under anaerobic conditions is carried out by several microbial organisms and results -57 58 in the absence of other electron acceptors like nitrate, iron, manganese etc. - in the release of CH₄ and CO₂ (Zeikus 1983, Schink 1997). Two major feeding habits of methanogens can be 59 60 differentiated: acetoclastic (acetate conversion to CH_4 and CO_2) and hydrogenotrophic (H₂) and CO₂ to CH₄ and water). These two pathways can be discriminated using isotopic 61 62 techniques due to diverse strength of isotopic fractionation during different methanogenic 63 pathways, which lead to different isotopic composition of resulted CH₄ (Conrad 2005).

64 The CH₄, which is formed in the sediments is subsequently released via diffusion, ebullition or through plants to the surface water or the atmosphere, where it is transported via advection 65 or dispersion, respectively. Simultaneously, the CH₄ is subject of significant oxidation by CH₄ 66 oxidizing bacteria during its transport in aquatic ecosystems. Moreover, all the processes 67 involved in the aquatic CH₄ cycle are subject to large temporal and particularly spatial 68 heterogeneity (Stanley et al. 2016). Understanding the variability of methane-related 69 processes is key factor leading to more precise estimates of lotic ecosystems relevance in the 70 global methane budget, which is recently based on scarce data (Bastviken et al. 2011). 71

Previous studies conducted in large rivers show, that rivers are mostly oversaturated in 72 dissolved CH₄ with respect to the atmosphere equilibrium (i.e. rivers are a net source of CH₄ 73 to the atmosphere). Frequently observed inverse relationship between discharge and CH₄ 74 75 concentration is most probably given either by dilution (Koné et al. 2010, Anthony et al. 2012) or by higher temperature during low water periods. Increased temperature further 76 77 enhances microbial activity and thus decreases oxygen levels (Borges et al. 2018). Notably, CH₄ emissions from rivers may reflect the properties of the surrounding catchments, such as 78 79 topography, soil type and texture, land use, hydrological connectivity with wetlands and other 80 anthropogenic activities as input of wastewaters (Jones and Mulholland 1998, Silvennoinen 81 2008, Yang et al. 2012, Borges et al. 2015). Generally, the studies considering CH₄ in large rivers were focused mainly on its concentration in surface water and its eventual flux to the 82 83 atmosphere, but the data concerning the sediment related processes are missing (Teodoru et al. 2015, Barbosa et al. 2016). Hence only few data related to CH_4 processes in sediments of large rivers exists and almost no data comes from complex longitudinal studies, despite of fact that river sediments have great potential as source of CH_4 due to high methanogenic biomass (Buriánková et al. 2012).

Many studies examining CH₄ production in stream and rivers confirm that methanogens are 88 ubiquitous members of the microbial community within river hyporheic sediments (e.g. 89 Sanders et al. 2007, Trimmer et al. 2012, Chaudhary et al. 2017). Currently there are seven 90 orders of methanogenic archaea described in the literature: Methanomicrobiales, 91 92 Methanosarcinales, Methanocellales, Methanobacteriales, Methanococcales, Methanopyrales and Methanomassiliicoccales (Borrel et al. 2011, Borrel et al. 2013, Borrel et al. 2014, Lang 93 94 et al. 2015). Methanomicrobiales and the Methanosarcinales followed by Methanobacteriales dominate the methanogenic communities in freshwater sediments of lakes and rivers (Chan et 95 96 al. 2005, Chaudhary et al. 2013). Moreover, Methanocellales are common in rice field soils or 97 peats and have rarely been found in lake sediment (Scavino et al. 2003, Galand et al. 2005, 98 Conrad et al. 2010). Our previous studies conducted in another European river (Sitka, Czech republic) revealed three major methanogenic groups using molecular techniques (denaturing 99 gradient gel electrophoresis, terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism [T-RFLP], 100 101 quantitative polymerase chain reaction [qPCR] and cloning): Methanosarcinales, Methanomicrobiales and Methanobacteriales (Buriankova et al. 2013, Brablcova et al. 2014, 102 Chaudhary et al. 2014, Chaudhary et al. 2017). Hence we focused our attempts to clarify the 103 role of these groups using T-RFLP and qPCR in the present study. 104

In principle, one can raise four hypotheses to describe the turnover of organic matter in river 105 sediments along the longitudinal profile of a river: either (1) decrease or (2) increase of the 106 CH₄ related processes along the river flow; further (3) no correlation with environmental 107 factors but hotspots of the microbial activities due to other local factors (e.g. carbon content 108 109 etc.), and (4) no obvious impact resulting in comparable process rates along the riverbed. To validate which of these hypothesis may be applied for river systems, our aim was to describe 110 111 the following processes and elucidate how our results could support the above-mentioned hypothesis: (i) methanogenic and methanotrophic potential of the sediments, (ii) an isotopic 112 113 signal of CH₄ including determination of methanogenic pathways to the total CH₄ production, (iii) the community composition (TRFL-P) and quantification (qPCR) of archaea, 114 115 methanogens and methanotrophs in the sediment samples. Samples for this study were taken during a large sampling campaign along the Elbe River carried out in October 2013, from 116 117 Špindlerův Mlýn (km 8) to Geesthacht (km 948) (more detailed in Matoušů et al. 2018).

118 Material and methods

119 **1.1. Study site**

The Elbe River rises at an elevation of 1,386 m above sea level in the Krkonoše (Giant 120 Mountains) in the northeast of the Czech Republic, flowing through the central part of the 121 Czech Republic and through central and northern Germany before discharging into the North 122 Sea at Cuxhaven, 110 km northwest from Hamburg. Its total length is 1,094 km and its 123 catchment area is 148,268 km². Sediment samples for this study were taken at 11 different 124 sites along the river flow in October 2013. Localization of each sampling sites including 125 sediment characteristics are specified in Fig. 1 and Table 1. (Note that we limited the 126 sampling to the freshwater regions of the Elbe River; samples below the weir in Geesthacht 127 are at least partially influenced by the North Sea.) 128



129

Fig. 1: The sampling sites on the longitudinal profile of the Elbe River. The numbering is
determined by the distance from the river source in km (see "River km" in Tab. 1). Original
map: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Lauf_der_Elbe.png; modified.

133

134

135 **1.2. Sampling of sediment**

Triplicates samples of the upper sediment (down to a depth of 10 cm) were collected by hand shovel near the shore. A bulk sediment was used for a granulometric analysis, while sediment intended for incubation experiments were sieved through a 1-mm sieve immediately after the sampling to remove coarse detritus, stones or invertebrates. For the molecular analysis, frostresistant vials containing 5 g of fresh sediment were put into a liquid nitrogen storage box,
sediment samples for nutrient analyses, organic carbon content, methanogenic potential,
isotope composition and methanotrophic activity were transferred into 50 mL Falcon tubes
and stored in a cool box until further processing.

Sediments for the granulometric analysis were sieved through a system of ten sieves with decreasing mesh sizes. All separate parts of the sediment were weighted and grain median size was analysed using the Gradistat software (version 8.0) (Blott and Pye 2001). The dry weight of the sample was determined gravimetrically. The carbon and nitrogen contents of the sediments were quantified on a CHNS-element analyzer by the Analytical Chemical Laboratory of the University of Marburg.

150

151 **1.3. Incubation experiments**

152 For the investigation of methanogenic pathways and methane production potential about 40 g (wet weight) of the sediment were transferred in triplicate into 60 ml sterile serum bottles, 153 flushed with N₂, closed with butyl rubber stoppers and incubated at 25 °C in the dark. At the 154 start of the incubation 5 ml of distilled autoclaved water were added for later sampling of the 155 156 liquid phase. The gas headspace of half of the bottles was supplemented with 3% $CH_3F(v/v)$ to specifically inhibit acetotrophic methanogenesis (Janssen and Frenzel 1997). The gas 157 samples were taken repeatedly (twice a week) during the course of incubation (4-6 weeks) 158 and analysed for concentrations of CH₄, carbon dioxide (CO₂) and δ^{13} C of CH₄ and CO₂. At 159 the end of the incubation, the bottles were sacrificed to determine concentration and $\delta^{13}C$ of 160 161 acetate.

Methane oxidation potential of sediments was determined in triplicate for each sample. Sterile bottles (250 ml) were filled with 20 g of sediment (wet weight) and closed by a cap with PTFE silicone septa. The headspace (ambient air) was enriched with CH₄ to give a final concentration of 10,000 ppm and incubated at 25 °C in the dark. The concentration of CH₄ in the headspace of each bottle was measured at T_0 h and then nine times during 170 h. The CH₄ production and oxidation potentials were calculated from the linear slope of CH₄ concentration change over time.

In the sediment incubation experiments, CH₄ was analyzed by gas chromatography (GC)
using a flame ionization detector (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). CO₂ was analyzed in the same
instrument after conversion to CH₄ with a methanizer (Ni-catalyst at 350°C, Chrompack,
Middelburg, Netherlands).

175

176 **1.4. Isotopic analyses**

Isotope measurements of ${}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ in gas samples were performed on a gas chromatograph 177 combustion isotope ratio mass spectrometer (GC-C-IRMS) system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, 178 Bremen, Germany). The precision of repeated analysis was $\pm 0.2\%$ when 1.3 nmol of CH₄ 179 was injected. The principle operation was described by Brand (1996) with details given in 180 several recent publications (Blaser et al. 2013; Penger et al. 2012; Penger et al. 2014). An 181 182 isotopic analysis and quantification of acetate were performed on a high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) system (Spectra System P1000, Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, 183 184 CA, USA; Mistral, Spark, Emmen, the Netherlands) equipped with an ion-exclusion column (Aminex HPX-87-H, BioRad, München, Germany) and coupled to Finnigan LC IsoLink 185 186 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) as described by Krummen et al. (2004). Isotope ratios were detected on an IRMS (Finnigan MAT Deltaplus Advantage). The HPLC-187 188 C-IRMS system had a detection limit of abou 5 μ M and a precision of \pm 0.3‰. Details on acetate determination and calculations of isotope fractionation factors and the contribution of 189 190 hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis have been described in Blaser et al. (2013) or Penger et al. 191 (2014) and it is summarized in the supplementary material (text and Fig. S1).

192

193

1.5. Molecular analyses

DNA was extracted from the fresh sediment before the start of the incubation using the 194 PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. 195 The extracted DNA was used to characterize the mcr-A gene by T-RFLP (Terminal-restriction 196 lenght polymorphism) according to Chin et al. (Chin et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1997) using the 197 primers mcr-A f (TAY GAY CAR ATH TGG YT) and mcr-A r (ACR TTC ATN GCR TAR 198 199 TT) published by Springer et al. (Springer et al., 1995) with a FAM (6-carboxyfluorescein)label at the forward primer. The mcr-A gene amplicons were digested with Sau96I 200 (Fermentas), and the products were size-separated in an ABI 3130 DNA sequencer (Applied 201 Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany). The normalization and standardization of the T-RFLP 202 profiles was performed according the method from Dunbar et al (2001). To assign the 203 resulting fragments we used published literature values (Chin et al. 2004; Conrad et al. 2008; 204 Kemnitz et al. 2004; Lueders et al. 2001; Ramakrishnan et al. 2001; Mach et al. 2015) as well 205 as a clone library, which was constructed in our lab in order to thoroughly characterize the 206

207 methanogenic community at different locations and depth of Sitka stream (Chaudhary et al.208 2017).

209

1.6. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) in sediment samples

211 In order to quantify the microbial community we used a set of different primers targeting the total archaea (16S rRNA genes), methanogenic archaea (mcrA gene), three major 212 methanogenic orders Methanobacteriales (MBT-set), Methanomicrobiales (MMB-set), or 213 Methanosarcinales (MSL-set), and methanotrophs (pmoA gene) (Ovreas et al., 1997, Luton 214 et al., 2002, Yu et al., 2005) (Table S1). qPCR was performed using the BioRad CFX 215 Connect[™] qPCR Detection System (BioRad, USA). The 25µL real-time PCR mixture was 216 prepared using the Brilliant II SYBR master mix (Agilent Technologies, USA), 12.5 µL of 2x 217 reaction solution, 0.25 µL of each primer (final concentration 0.25 µM), 5 µL of template 218 DNA, and 7 µL of PCR-grade water. The two-step amplification protocol was applied as 219 follows: initial denaturation for 5 min at 94 °C followed by 45 cycles of 30 s at 94 °C and 220 221 combined annealing and extension for 30 s at X°C (X values are given in Table S1). The fluorescent signal was measured at the end of each annealing/extension step. DNA samples 222 223 were analyzed in triplicate at each point. Standard curves were generated for the methanogenic strains, by amplifying the target genes with PCR. The PCR products were 224 cloned into the pGEM-T Easy vector (Promega, Madison, WI). The plasmids were extracted, 225 serially diluted, and used as templates in qPCR. 226

227

228 **1.7. Statistical analysis**

Data analyses were performed by using the STATISTICA 12 software (StatSoft 2013). Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test the normal distribution of a data. The Spearman's correlation analysis of data were used to find the relationships among environmental parameters as independent variables (e.g. carbon content, grain median size) and experimentally measured parameters as dependent variables (e.g. CH₄ production and oxidation potential). All statistical tests used a significance level of 5 %.

236 **2. Results**

237 **2.1. Methane production and oxidation by sediment**

The CH₄ production in top sediments (0-10 cm) was recorded only for six sites (out of 11 examined): Valy (km 140), Meissen – river (km 447), Meissen – harbour (km 448), Muehlberg (km 489), Hohenwarthe (km 703) and Dömitz (km 871) (Fig. 2). Methanogenic potential of these sediments ranged from 0.12 to 644.72 nmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹ with the highest CH₄ production in Meissen - harbour (mean 551.68 ± 46.68 nmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹). The methanogenic potential was positively correlated with the carbon content of the sediment (r = 0.64, p < 0.05).

Isotopic analyses of CO_2 and CH_4 were used to calculate the contribution of different methanogenic pathways (Fig. 3). These analyses were performed for CH_4 productive sediments except the site Hohenwarthe (km 703), where the formation of CH_4 was insufficient for isotopic analyses during the incubation (compare Fig. 2). The hydrogenotrophic pathway of CH_4 formation was dominant during the whole incubation for all five sites accounting for 52 to 78 % of total CH_4 release. Detailed sediment characteristics are provided in Table 1.

	Sampling site	Grain	Water	Sediment	Sediment	δ ¹³ C of	δ ¹³ C of	Acetate
Diron lan		median	content (%)	carbon	nitrogen	sediment	acetate	conc.
Kiver kill		size (mm)		content (%)	content	carbon (‰)	(‰) ^a	$(\mathbf{mM})^{\mathbf{a}}$
					(%)			
56	Verdek	19.3	18.9 ± 1.2	0.19 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.0	79.8 ± 60.2^{b}	n.m.	n.m.
140	Valy	0.20	31.2 ± 1.4	1.70 ± 0.12	0.13 ± 0.0	-25.6 ± 0.4	-14.5 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.7
411	Wachwitz	17.1	19.5 ± 0.6	0.25 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.0	-16.7 ± 2.7	n.m.	n.m.
447	Meissen	9.51	17.3 ± 0.6	0.42 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.0	-23.2 ± 0.9	-26.3 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.6
448	Meissen - harbor	0.32	68.9 ± 2.6	5.70 ± 0.34	0.46 ± 0.1	-27.2 ± 0.4	-17.8 ± 1.1	0.4 ± 0.1
489	Muehlberg	11.4	16.3 ± 0.4	0.12 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.0	-0.4 ± 5.7	-18.4 ± 3.8	3.8 ± 2.2
578	Lutherstadt Wittenberg	0.41	18.5 ± 0.9	0.06 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.0	-23.6 ± 1.0	n.m.	n.m.
703	Hohenwarthe	0.49	16.2 ± 0.4	0.23 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.0	-20.8 ± 2.1	n.m.	n.m.
734	Bittkau	0.56	16.1 ± 0.6	0.17 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.0	$27.8\pm26.8^{\text{b}}$	n.m.	n.m.
767	Arneburg	7.49	14.2 ± 0.6	0.03 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.0	-10.2 ± 8.3	n.m.	n.m.
871	Domitz	0.91	14.4 ± 0.8	0.08 ± 0.03	0.00 ± 0.0	-11.6 ± 0.0	-27.2 ± 1.8	4.0 ± 1.1

Table 1. Basic study sites description with sediment characterization (mean values \pm SE; n.m. = not measured).

^a An acetate concentration and δ^{13} C of acetate were measured after the incubation in samples inhibited by CH₃F

^b Observed positive values of δ^{13} C of sediment carbon are connected with very depleted carbon pool in incubated samples, which leads to significant isotopic enrichment of carbon with ¹³C.





The aerobic methanotrophic potential of sediments was recorded for all sites and ranged from 654 to 10,875 nmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹ (Fig. 4). The calculated methanotrophic potential of sediments was always higher than the methanogenic potential at each sampling site. The highest values of methanotrophic potentials were observed at the km 448 (Meissen-harbour). The CH₄ production and oxidation in surface sediments varied spatially along the Elbe River longitudinal profile without any clear trend.

272



273

Fig. 4: Methane oxidation potential of sediments (mean values \pm SE).

- 275
- 276 277

2.2. Population dynamics of archaea (arc), methanogens (mcrA) and methanotrophs (pmoA) in sediments

278 2.2.1. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)

The abundances of total archaea (16S rRNA gene), methanotrophs (pmo-A, coding methane 279 monooxygenases) and methanogens (mcr-A, coding for a subunit of the methyl-coenzyme M 280 (CoM) reductase) were determined by qPCR in the fresh samples (Fig. 5). The copy number 281 of archaeal 16S rRNA genes were relatively stable in the range of 10^7 to 10^8 copies per gram 282 283 dry sediment. The lowest levels were found at the km 140 (Valy), whereas one order of magnitude higher values could be reported from the km 448 (Meissen - harbour) and km 447 284 Meissen-river sediments. Copy numbers for mcr-A and pmo-A were 10^6 to 10^7 . While mcr-A 285 copies were highest at the km 448 (Meissen - harbor), pmoA had its maximum at the km 411 286 287 (Wachwitz).



Fig. 5: Abundance (log copy numbers gDW^{-1}) of total archaea, methanotrophs (pmoA) and methanogens (mcrA) in examined sediments (mean values \pm SE). Open symbols represent site Meissen – harbour (km 448).

292

The results of the group specific qPCR revealed a similar order of magnitude but showed higher fluctuations. The highest counts were reported for *Methanomicrobiales* and *Methanosarcinales* (10^5 to 10^8 copies per gram dry sediment). Again the Meissen-harbour sample (km 448) showed the highest copy numbers while otherwise there was a slight decrease of copy numbers from spring to mouth for both methanogenic orders. *Methanobacteriales* showed more variability along the river and ranged from 10^3 to 10^5 copies per gram dry sediment (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6: The abundance (log copy numbers gDW^{-1}) of individual orders of methanogens in the examined samples determined by the group specific qPCR (mean values \pm SE). Open symbols represent site Meissen – harbour (km 448).

300

305 2.2.2. Terminal restriction length polymorphism of mcr-A gene

The composition of the methanogenic communities along the Elbe River was determined by an analysis of T-RFLP targeting the *mcr-A* gene in the sediment samples (Fig. 7). All localities were dominated by the T-RF's attributed to *Methanosarcinales* (27 to 84 %) followed by T-RF's assigned to *Methanobacteriales* (5 to 60 %). Methanogens belonging to *Methanomicrobiales* were found at a very low level. A number of very long T-RF's of (506-10bp) could not be identified to known T-RF's. Details on TRFLP results are given in the supplementary material (Fig. S2).





Fig. 7: The relative abundance of individual orders of methanogens in the examinedsediments determined by analysis of T-RFLP.

317 **3. Discussion**

318 **3.1.** Methanogenic and methanotrophic potential of the sediments

Despite incubation under wet anoxic conditions, methanogenic activity was detected for roughly half of the samples (six out of eleven sampling sites). This might be caused by lower level of organic substrates in inactive sediments (carbon content below 1%) or by the availability of alternative electron acceptors (dissolved NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} , Fe^{3+}) in well-oxygenated river surface sediments (Huttunen et al. 2006; Duc et al. 2010). For instance, hardly detectable CH₄ production was also observed in Amazonian white water lakes, probably due to relatively high iron and low organic carbon (below 1.5%) content (Conrad et al. 2014).

326 The CH₄ formation in the analysed sediments did not show any clear trend along the Elbe River profile. However, sites with high methanogenic potential (Meissen-harbour and Valy) 327 were characterised by fine sediment fraction and high organic carbon content compare to 328 329 other sampled sites (see Table 1) signifying importance of these local factors in methane production. Many authors (e.g. Sanders et al. 2007, Maeck et al. 2013, Sollberger et al. 2014, 330 331 Bednařík et al. 2017) indicated that sites, where fine and organic matter rich sediment is accumulated, are particularly active sites of CH₄ production. Moreover, sites with high 332 333 methanogenic potential (Meissen-harbour and Valy) in our study coincided with high CH₄ concentration in the surface water (for details see Matoušů et al. 2018). This implies that the 334 CH₄ input into the water column may originate in some hot-spots of CH₄ production rather 335 than a continuous supply from the sediment. Despite of nearby existence of large city 336 (Dresden) and its possible anthropogenic pollution, there was not observed unusually 337 increased methanogenic activity in the sediment sample from the river channel in Meissen 338 (km 447) or Wachwitz (km 411). Therefore, increased methanogenic potential in this study is 339 rather linked to local factors allowing accumulation of sediment than to potential pollution 340 from city (Meissen or Dresden). Similarly, there were not observed significantly different 341 physico-chemical parameters in these sites, which is presented in our previous study (Matoušů 342 et al. 2018). Nevertheless, effect of anthropogenic pollution in rivers on methanogenic activity 343 344 and river CH₄ concentration exists and it was previously reported for instance by Dzyuban 2011 in polluted tributaries of the Rybinsk Reservoir or by Alshboul et al. (2016) in effluents 345 346 and receiving streams downstream of the municipal wastewater treatment plants in Germany.

The methanogenic potential presented in this study for the Elbe River is in the range of the values reported for other streams and rivers (0-1,990 nmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹; Table 2). Previously reported methanogenic potential from a lower part of the Elbe River by Gebert et al. (2006) reaches a similar range of values as measured in this study. This comparison suggests that obtained results reported here probably correspond to general natural capacity of this environment and values are not skewed. It also shows that similar representative results can be reached with different methodological approaches (incubation time, sediment amount). However, methanogenic potential is significantly lower (0.01 and 3.99 μ mol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) compared to CH₄ production in lakes and rice paddy soils (Yao et al. 1999; Conrad et al. 2010; Duc et al. 2010).

- Results of this study demonstrate that CH₄ in sediments of the Elbe River is produced 357 predominantly from CO₂ reduction. Although acetoclastically produced CH₄ should 358 theoretically prevail (Conrad 1999), dominance of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is not 359 unusual for freshwater ecosystems (Krüger et al. 2002; Galand et al. 2010; Conrad et al. 2010; 360 361 Conrad et al. 2014). A higher contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is probably connected to only a partial oxidation of organic matter as described in more detail in Conrad 362 363 et al. (2009). Although samples in this study were taken from the sediment surface layer (0-10 cm), generally well oxygenated (i.e. with complete degradation of organic matter), 364 365 microzones with low oxygen level are likely to occur (Boulton et al. 1998). These anoxic microzones may provide places for anaerobic processes like methanogenesis and for 366 367 incomplete degradation of organic matter in the surface sediments (Deborde et al. 2010). A more balanced contribution of methanogenic pathways to CH₄ production was found in the 368 Sitka stream sediments, while hydrogenotrophically produced CH_4 reached 36 - 51 % (Mach 369 et al. 2015). Similarly high contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (57 - 90 %)370 were detected in the Morava River sediments upstream of the weirs, where fine and organic 371 372 rich sediments were accumulated (Bednařík et al. 2017).
- In contrast, methanotrophic activity (measured under substrate addition) occurred in all 373 samples, while the CH₄ oxidation potential was comparable to other reports from various 374 freshwater ecosystems (Bender and Conrad 1994; Sanders et al. 2007; Shretsha et al. 2010). 375 376 However, it should be noted, that the CH₄ production and oxidation rates were not measured under in situ conditions and with addition of substrate in case of CH₄ oxidation 377 378 measurements. Thus they represent potential rates suitable for comparison of studied sites, but they do not allow mass balance calculation. Moreover, comparison of the CH₄ oxidation rates 379 380 between different studies is very limited, because obtained results can be highly affected by the diverse incubation setting (e.g. incubation temperature, initial CH₄ concentration) due to 381 strong substrate and temperature dependence of oxidation rates (Shelley et al. 2015). 382
- 383
- 384

			CH ₄ production		
Site	δ^{13} C of CH ₄ (‰)	$f_{mc}(\%)^*$	potential	$\delta^{13}C_{org}(\%)$	Reference
			$(nmol gDW^{-1} d^{-1})$		
inflows of Lake Biwa, Japan	-64 to -47	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Murase et al. 2003
White Oak River, North Carolina	-70.8 to -65.2	18 to 42	n.s.	n.s.	Avery and Martens 1999
three streams in eastern Amazonia	-75.1 to -52.7	n.s.	n.s.	-29.7 to -22.8	Moura et al. 2008
five rivers in USA	-56.6 to -36	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Sansone et al. 1999
Sitka Stream	-98.6 to -48.2	26 to 51	0 to 960	-26.7 to -25.8	Mach et al. 2015
Elbe River	-71.1 to -54.1	52 to 78	0 to 645	-27.2 to -0.4	Bednařík et al. (this study)
Morava River	-63.9 to -52.5	37 to 89	0 to 1,999	-28.5 to -26.2	Bednařík et al. 2017
River Itchen, U.K.	-58	33	528 to 1,920	n.s.	Shelley et al. 2015
Nine rivers in Germany	n.s.	n.s.	120 to 720	n.s.	Gebert et al. 2006
River Frome, England	n.s.	n.s.	48 to 384^{\dagger}	n.s.	Sanders et al. 2007

Table 2: Overview of literature values regarding the isotopic analysis of CH₄ and its production in river sediments

386 * f_{mc} = part of hydrogenotrophically produced methane

387 [†] nmol CH₄ g⁻¹ (wet sediment) h^{-1}

388 n.s. = not specified

389

390

391

393 3.2. Molecular analyses of sediments

394 The molecular data suggests that even though the overall numbers on the group level are quite stable, the community composition is much more variable. In general Methanomicrobiales 395 and Methanosarcinales are the most dominant methanogens detected followed by 396 Methanobacteriales. This was supported by the TRFLP results, which also showed the 397 dominance of Methanosarcina and Methanomicrobia. However, the qPCR results can not 398 directly be compared to T-RFLP since T-RFLP is based on the highly degenerated mcrA 399 400 primers and it gives only relative abundances, while the order specific q-PCR is supposed to 401 provide reasonable estimates of absolute numbers for the respective methanogenic order 402 according to the standards used. The methanogenic community based on T-RFLP of mcrA has 403 been so far primarily described for rice field soils (Lueders et al. 2001, Ramakrishnan et al. 2001, Chin et al. 2004, Kemnitz et al. 2004, Conrad et al. 2008). In rice field soil the TRFLP 404 405 patterns are more diverse and contain additional methanogenic orders (Lueders et al. 2001, Ramakrishnan et al. 2001, Chin et al. 2004, Kemnitz et al. 2004, Conrad et al. 2008). A recent 406 407 study in river sediments also found Methanosarcina as dominant TRF (Chaudhary et al. 408 2017.)

409 In general, our results are in good agreement with reported methanogenic community profiles from other freshwater habitats: Methanosarcinales and Methanomicrobials have been 410 described as dominant methanogenic members using various archaea/methanogen-specific 411 primers, e.g. from freshwater river and estuarine sediment (Munson et al. 1997, Purdy et al. 412 2002, Buriankova et al. 2013, Brablcova et al. 2014), as well as from peat bog sites (Galand et 413 al. 2005), freshwater lake sediments (Falz et al. 1999, Koizumi et al. 2004), Florida 414 Everglades wetland soils (Castro et al. 2004), hydrocarbon-contaminated aquifer (Kleikemper 415 416 et al. 2005) and deep-sea hydrothermal sediments (Dhillon et al. 2005).

417 When we compare our molecular methods-based results with the activity measurements, it is obvious that they seemingly do not fit together: while we found ten times higher 418 methanotrophic potential compared to the methanogenic potential, the microbial abundance 419 420 are quite congruent. However, methanotrophs relay on a constant flux of two gaseous substrates: oxygen and methane and hence appear in high quantities at the oxic-anoxic 421 422 interface where the oxygen and CH₄ gradients overlap. We analysed a sediment mixture of the 423 top 10 cm where the methanotrophs became dispersed, which may explain why they displayed a high activity when stimulated with a specific substrates. In contrast, methanogens 424 are active in all anoxic parts of the sediment and generally more dispersed than 425 426 methanotrophs.

The second discrepancy is that we found a high contribution of hydrogenotrophic 427 428 methanogenesis based on our isotope analysis, while our molecular studies revealed high numbers of potentially acetoclastic methanogens (Methanosarcinales) and a lower number of 429 430 the strict hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Methanobacteriales and Methanomicrobiales). This may have two reasons: On one hand, Methanosarcinales can live acetoclastic as well as 431 hydrogenotrophic, and hence as the more substrate versatile microbes may use different 432 substrates according to the environmental conditions. On the other hand, it is generally 433 observed that the microbial abundance and community patterns only rarely correlate with 434 435 their activity (Mach et al. 2015, Chaudhary et al. 2017). This can be confirmed by our results, demonstrating that the activities (methanogenic and methanotrophic potential rates) 436 437 correspond only to a certain extent to the molecular data. Methanosarcina have been described as relatively oxygen tolerant, containing a series of genes encoding oxygen 438 439 detoxification (Zhang et al. 2006; Angel et al. 2011).

440

441 **4.** Conclusions

The methanogenic potential of the sediments (using the natural available substrate) showed CH₄ production potential comparable to previously published river systems. However, only approximately half of the samples could be activated (most probably due to substrate limitation) and these samples showed a strong variance (over one to two orders of magnitude). However, all sediment samples showed a methanotrophic potential (under substrate addition), while it differed by one order of magnitude between studied sites.

Molecular analyses of the underlying microbial community revealed constant quantities of 448 several marker genes (16S archea, mcrA, pmoA) over the river continuum. This suggest that 449 the observed variability of the microbial activities (i.e. CH₄ production and oxidation) as well 450 451 as the resulting CH_4 concentrations in the water column are only indirectly linked to the presence of different microbial guilds, but rather affected by their activity (which has not 452 directly been tested in this study). Further insight into the methanogenic community (TRFLP 453 454 and the group specific qPCR) revealed large variations in the methanogenic populations of different sediment samples. 455

456 Coming back to our original hypothesis mentioned in the introduction, we see no trend in the 457 studied parameters along the Elbe River. However, we found hotspots of the measured CH_4 458 processes (Fig. 2 and 4) due to other local driving factors (e.g. carbon content, etc.). 459 Therefore, based on results presented in this study, spatial heterogeneity of sediment 460 characteristics (grain median size, carbon content) seems to be more relevant for prediction of 461 methanogenic or methanotrophic activity than only abundance of methanogens or462 methanotrophs.

463

464

465

466 Acknowledgement

This project was financially supported by project GAJU 145/2013/D, by project GAČR-13-00243S (PI-K. Šimek), and by project CZ.1.07/2.3.00/20.0204 (CEKOPOT) co-financed by the European Social Fund and the state budget of the Czech Republic. The gratitude belongs to Prof. Jan Kubečka for providing the Thor Heyerdahl research vessel, further to Jakub Matoušů for help with graphic and to Dr. Tomáš Jůza for the organizing and providing the logistical support.

473 **References**

- 474 Alshboul Z, Encinas-Fernandéz J, Hofmann H, Lorke A (2016) Export of dissolved methane
- and carbon dioxide with effluents from municipal wastewater treatment plants. Environ Sci
- 476 Technol 50: 5555–5563. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b04923
- 477
- Angel R, Matthies D, Conrad R (2011) Activation of methanogenesis in arid biological soil
 crusts despite the presence of oxygen. PLoS ONE 6: e20453.
- 480
- Anthony SE, Prahl FG, Peterson TD (2012) Methane dynamics in the Willamette River.
 Oregon Limnol Oceanogr 57: 1517–1530. doi:10.4319/lo.2012.57.5.1517
- 483
- Avery GB, Martens ChS (1999) Controls on the stable carbon isotopic composition of
 biogenic methane produced in a tidal freshwater estaurine sediment. Geochim Cosmochim Ac
 63: 1075–1082.
- 487
- Bastviken D, Tranvik LJ, Downing JA, Crill PM, Prast AE (2011) Freshwater Methane
 Emissions Offset the Continental Carbon Sink. Science 331: 50.
- 490
- Barbosa PM, Melack JM, Farjalla VF, Amaral JHF, Scofield V, Forsberg BR (2016)
 Diffusive methane fluxes from Negro, Solim~oes and Madeira rivers and fringing lakes in the
- 493 Amazon basin. Limnol Oceanogr 61: S221–S237. doi: 10.1002/lno.10358
- 494
- Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2017) Effect of weir impoundments
 on methane dynamics in a river. Science of the Total Environment 584–585: 164–174.
- 497
- Bender M, Conrad R (1994) Methane oxidation activity in various soils and freshwater
 sediments: Occurrence, characteristics, vertical profiles, and distribution on grain size
 fractions. Journal of geophysical research 99(8): 16,531–16,540
- 501
- 502 Blaser MB, Dreisbach LK, Conrad R (2013) Carbon isotope fractionation of 11 acetogenic
- strains grown on H2 and CO2. Applied and environmental microbiology 79: 1787–1794.
- 504

Blott SJ, Pye K (2001) Gradistat: A Grain size distribution and statistics package for the
analysis of unconsolidated sediments. Earth Surf Process Landforms 26: 1237–1248. doi:
10.1002/esp.261

- Boulton AJ, Findlay S, Marmonier P, Stanley EH, Valett HM (1998) The functial significance
 of the hyporheic zone in streams and rivers. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 29: 59–81.
- 511
- Borrel G, Jézéquel D, Biderre-Petit C, Morel-Desrosiers N, Morel JP, Peyret P, Fonty G,
 Lehours AC 2011 Production and consumption of methane in freshwater lake ecosystems.
 Res microbiol 162: 832–47.
- 515
- Borrel G, O'Toole PW, Harris HMB, Peyret P, Brugere JF, Gribaldo S (2013) Phylogenomic
 data support a seventh order of methylotrophic methanogens and provide insights into the
 evolution of methanogenesis. Genome Biol Evol 5: 1769–1780.
- 519
- Borrel G, Parisot N, Harris HMB, Peyretaillade E, Gaci N, Tottey W, Bardot O, Raymann K,
 Gribaldo S, Peyret P, O'Toole PW, Brugere JF (2014) Comparative genomics highlights the
 unique biology of *Methanomassiliicoccales*, a Thermoplasmatales-related seventh order of
 methanogenic archaea that encodes pyrrolysine. *Bmc Genomics* 15.
- 524
- Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Teodoru CR, Marwick TR, Tamooh F, Geeraert N, Omengo FO,
 Guérin F, Lambert T, Morana C, Okuku E, Bouillon S (2015): Globally significant
 greenhouse-gas emissions from African inland waters. Nat. Geosci. doi: 10.1038/NGEO2486
- Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Lambert T, Bouillon S, Morana C, Brouyère S, Hakoun V,
 Jurado A, Tseng HC, Descy JP, Roland FAE (2018) Effects of agricultural land use on fluvial
 carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide concentrations in a large European river, the
 Meuse (Belgium). Science of the Total Environment 610–611: 342–355. Doi:
 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.047
- 534
- Brablcova L, Buriankova I, Badurova P, Chaudhary PP, Rulik M. (2014) Methanogenic
 archaea diversity in hyporheic sediments of a small lowland stream. Anaerobe 32C: 24–31.
- 537

538	Buriánková I, Brablcová L, Mach V, Hýblová A, Badurová P, Cupalová J, Čáp L, Rulík M
539	(2012) Methanogens and methanotrophs distribution in the hyporheic sediments of a small
540	lowland stream. Fund Appl Limnol. 181: 87-102. doi: 10.1127/1863-9135/2012/0283
541	
542	Buriánková I, Brablcová L, Mach V, Dvořák P, Chaudhary PP, Rulík M (2013) Identification
543	of Methanogenic archaea in the Hyporheic Sediment of Sitka Stream. PLoS ONE 8(11):
544	e80804. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080804
545	
546	Brand WA (1996) High precision isotope ratio monitoring techniques in mass spectrometry.
547	Journal of Mass Spectrometry 31: 225–235.
548	
549	Castro H, Ogram A, Reddy KR (2004) Phylogenetic Characterization of Methanogenic
550	Assemblages in Eutrophic and Oligotrophic Areas of the Florida Everglades. Appl Environ
551	Microbiol 70(11): 6559-6568. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.11.6559-6568.2004
552	
553	Chaudhary PP, Wright ADG, Brablcová L, Buriánková I, Bednařík A, Rulík M (2014)
554	Dominance of Methanosarcinales Phylotypes and Depth-Wise Distribution of Methanogenic
555	Community in Fresh Water Sediments of Sitka Stream from Czech Republic. Current
556	Microbiology 69: 809–816.
557	
558	Chaudhary PP, Rulík M, Blaser M (2017) Is the methanogenic community reflecting the
559	methane emissions of river sediments? - comparison of two study sites. MicrobiologyOpen
560	doi: 10.1002/mbo3.454.
561	
562	Chan OC, Claus P, Casper P, Ulrich A, Lueders T, Conrad R 2005 Vertical distribution of
563	structure and function of the methanogenic archaeal community in Lake Dagow sediment.
564	Environ Microbiol 7: 1139e1149.
565	

Chin KJ, Lukow T, Conrad R (1999) Effect of temperature on structure and function of the
methanogenic archaeal community in an anoxic rice field soil. Applied and environmental
microbiology 65: 2341–2349.

569

570 Chin KJ, Lueders T, Friedrich MW, Klose M, Conrad R (2004) Archaeal community structure
571 and pathway of methane formation on rice roots. Microb Ecol 47: 59–67.

- 573 Conrad R (1999) Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen
 574 concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. Fems Microbiology Ecology 28: 193–
 575 202.
- 576
- 577 Conrad R (2005) Quantification of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotopic
 578 signatures: a review and a proposal. Org Geochem 36: 739–752.
- 579
- Conrad R, Klose M, Noll M, Kemnitz D, Bodelier PLE (2008) Soil type links microbial
 colonization of rice roots to methane emission. Global Change Biol 14: 657–669.
- 582

Conrad R, Claus P, Casper P (2009) Characterization of stable isotope fractionation during
methane production in the sediment of a eutrophic lake, Lake Dagow, Germany. Limnol
Oceanogr 54(2): 457–471.

- 586
- Conrad R, Klose M, Claus P, Enrich-Prast A (2010) Methanogenic pathway, ¹³C isotope
 fractionation, and archaeal community composition in the sediment of two clear-water lakes
 of Amazonia. Limnol Oceanogr 55(2): 689–702.
- 590

Conrad R, Ji Y, Noll M, Klose M, Claus P, Enrich-Prast A (2014) Response of the
methanogenic microbial communities in Amazonian oxbow lake sediments to desiccation
stress. Environmental microbiology 16(6): 1682–1694.

- 594
- 595 Dahm CN, Trotter EH, Sedell JR (1987): Role of anaerobic zones and processes in stream 596 ecosystem productivity. In: Averett RC, McKnight DM (eds.): Chemical Quality of Water and 597 the Hydrological Cycle, Chelsea, MI: Lewis, pp. 157–78.
- 598
- Deborde J, Anschutz P, Guérin F, Poirier D, Marty D, Boucher G, Thouzeau G, Canton M,
 Abril G (2010) Methane sources, sinks and fluxes in a temperate tidal Lagoon: The Arcachon
 lagoon (SW France). Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 89: 256–266.
- 602
- Dhillon A, Lever M, Lloyd KG, Albert DB, Sogin ML, Teske A (2005) Methanogen diversity
 evidenced by molecular characterization of methyl coenzyme M reductase A (mcrA) genes in
 hydrothermal sediments of the Guaymas Basin. Appl Environ Microbiol 71: 4592–4601.

Duc NT, Crill P, Bastviken D (2010) Implications of temperature and sediment characteristics 607 608 on methane formation and oxidation in lake sediments. Biogeochemistry 100: 185–196. 609 610 Dunbar J, Ticknor LO, Kuske CR (2001) Phylogenetic specificity and reproducibility and new method for analysis of terminal restriction fragment profiles of 16S rRNA genes from 611 bacterial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol 67: 190-197. 612 613 614 Dzyuban AN (2011) Methane and its transformation processes in water of some tributaries of the Rybinsk Reservoir. Water Resources, 38(5): 615-620. doi: 10.1134/S0097807811050046 615 616 Falz KZ, Holliger C, Grosskopf R, Liesack W, Nozhevnikova AN, Muller B (1999) Vertical 617 618 distribution of methanogens in the anoxic sediment of Rotsee (Switzerland). Appl Environ Microbiol 65: 2402–2408. 619 620 Galand PE, Fritze H, Conrad R, Yrjälä K (2005) Pathways for Methanogenesis and Diversity 621 622 of Methanogenic Archaea in Three Boreal Peatland Ecosystems. Appl Environ Microbiol 623 71(4): 2195-2198. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.4.2195-2198.2005 624 Galand PE, Yrjälä K, Conrad R (2010) Stable carbon isotope fractionation during 625 methanogenesis in three boreal peatland ecosystems. Biogeosciences 7: 3893-3900. 626 627 Gebert J, Köthe H, Gröngröft A (2006) Prognosis of methane formation by river sediments. J 628 Soils & Sediments 6 (2): 75-83. 629 630 Huttunen JT, Väisänen TS, Hellsten SK, Martikainen PJ (2006) Methane fluxes at the 631 sediment-water interface in some boreal lakes and reservoirs. Boreal environment research 632 633 11:27-34. 634 Janssen PH, Frenzel P (1997) Inhibition of methanogenesis by methyl fluoride: Studies of 635 pure and defined mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Applied and 636 environmental microbiology 63: 4552-4557. 637 638

- Jones JB, Mulholland PJ (1998) Influence of drainage basin topography and elevation
 oncarbon dioxide and methane supersaturation of streamwater. Biogeochemistry 40: 57–72.
- Kemnitz D, Chin KJ, Bodelier P, Conrad R (2004) Community analysis of methanogenic
 archaea within a riparian flooding gradient. Environ Microbiol 6: 449–461.
- 644
- 645 Kleikemper J, Pombo SA, Schroth MH, Sigler WV, Pesaro M, Zeyer J (2005) Activity and
- 646 Diversity of Methanogens in a Petroleum Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Aquifer. Applied and
- 647 Environmental Microbiology 71(1): 149–158. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.1.149-158.2005
- 648
- Koizumi Y, Takii S, Fukui M (2004) Depth-related change in archaeal community structure in
 a freshwater lake sediment as determined with denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of
 amplified 16S rRNA genes and reversely transcribed rRNA fragments. FEMS Microbiology
 Ecology 48(2): 285–292. doi: 10.1016/j.femsec.2004.02.013
- 653
- Kone YJM, Abril G, Delille B, Borges AV (2010) Seasonal variability of methane in the
 rivers and lagoons of Ivory Coast (West Africa). Biogeochemistry 100: 21–37.
- 656
- Krüger M, Eller G, Conrad R, Frenzel P (2002) Seasonal variation in pathways of CH₄
 production and in CH₄ oxidation in rice fields determined by stable carbon isotopes and
 specific inhibitors. Global change biology 8: 265–280.
- 660
- Krummen M, Hilkert AW, Juchelka D, Duhr A, Schluter HJ, Pesch R (2004) A new concept
 for isotope ratio monitoring liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. Rapid
 Communications in Mass Spectrometry 18: 2260–2266.
- 664
- Lang K, Schuldes J, Klingl A, Poehlein A, Daniel R, Brune A (2015) New mode of energy
 metabolism in the seventh order of methanogens as revealed by comparative genome analysis
 of "Candidatus Methanoplasma termitum". Appl Environ Microb 81: 1338–1352.
- 668
- Liu WT, Marsh TL, Cheng H, Forney LJ (1997) Characterization of microbial diversity by
 determining terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms of genes encoding 16S
 rRNA. Applied and environmental microbiology 63: 4516–4522.
- 672

- Lueders T, Chin KJ, Conrad R, Friedrich M (2001) Molecular analyses of methyl-coenzyme
 M reductase alpha-subunit (mcrA) genes in rice field soil and enrichment cultures reveal the
 methanogenic phenotype of a novel archaeal lineage. Environ Microbiol 3: 194–204.
- 676

Luton PE, Wayne JM, Sharp RJ, Riley PW (2002) The mcrA gene as an alternative to 16S
rRNA in the phylogenetic analysis of methanogen populations in landfill. Microbiology 148:
3521–3530.

- 680
- Maeck A, DelSontro T, McGinnis DF, Fischer H, Flury S, Schmidt M, Fietzek P, Lorke A
 (2013) Sediment trapping by dams creates methane emission hot spots. Environ Sci Technol
 47: 8130–8137. doi: 10.1021/es4003907
- 684

Mach V, Blaser M, Claus P, Chaudhary PP, Rulik M (2015) Methane production potentials,
pathways, and communities of methanogens in vertical sediment profiles of river Sitka. Front
Microbiol 6: 506. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00506

688

Matoušů A, Rulík M, Tušer M, Bednařík A, Šimek K, Bussmann I (2018): Methane dynamics
in a large river – a case study of the River Elbe. Aquat Sci, 81:12.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-018-0609-9

692

Moura JM, Martens CS, Moreira MZ, Lima RL, Sampaio IC, Mendlovitz HP, Menton MC
2008 Spatial and seasonal variations in the stable carbon isotopic composition of methane in
stream sediments of eastern Amazonia. Tellus B. 60: 21-31. doi:10.1111/j.16000889.2007.00322.x

- 697
- Munson M.A. Nedwell D.B. Embley T.M. (1997) Phylogenetic diversity of Archaea in
 sediment samples from a coastal salt marsh. Appl Environ Microbiol 63: 4729–4733.
- 700
- Murase J, Sakai Y, Sugimoto A, Okubo K, Sakamoto M 2003 Sources of dissolved methane
 in Lake Biwa. Limnology. 4: 91–99. doi: 10.1007/s10201-003-0095-0
- 703
- Øvrea°s L, Forney L, Daae FL, Torsvik V (1997) Distribution of bacterioplankton in
 meromictic Lake Saelenvannet, as deter-mined by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of
| 706 | PCR-amplified gene fragments coding for 16S rRNA. Appl EnvironMicrobiol 63: 3367- |
|-----|--|
| 707 | 3373. |
| 708 | |
| 709 | Ortiz-Llorente MJ, Alvarez-Cobelas M (2012) Comparison of biogenic methane emissions |
| 710 | from unmanaged estuaries, lakes, oceans, rivers and wetlands. Atmos Environ 59: 328-337. |
| 711 | |
| 712 | Penger J, Conrad R, Blaser M (2012): Stable carbon isotope fractionation by methylotrophic |
| 713 | methanogenic archaea. Applied and environmental microbiology 78: 7596–7602. |
| 714 | |
| 715 | Penger J, Conrad R, Blaser M (2014) Stable carbon isotope fractionation of six strongly |
| 716 | fractionating microorganisms is not affected by growth temperature under laboratory |
| 717 | conditions. Geochim Cosmochim Ac 140: 95–105. |
| 718 | |
| 719 | Purdy KJ, Munson MA, Nedwell DB, Embley TM (2002) Comparison of the molecular |
| 720 | diversity of the methanogenic community at the brackish and marine ends of a UK |
| 721 | estuary. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 39: 17–21. |
| 722 | |
| 723 | Ramakrishnan B, Lueders T, Dunfield P, Conrad R, Friedrich MW (2001) Archaeal |
| 724 | community structures in rice soils from different geographical regions before and after |
| 725 | initiation of methane production. 37–186. |
| 726 | |
| 727 | Sanders IA, Heppell CM, Cotton JA, Wharton G, Hildrew AG, Flowers EJ, Trimmer M |
| 728 | (2007) Emission of methane from chalk streams has potential implications for agricultural |
| 729 | practices. Freshwater biology 52: 1176–1186. |
| 730 | |
| 731 | Scavino AF, Ji Y, Pump J, Klose M, Claus P, Conrad R (2013) Structure and function of the |
| 732 | methanogenic microbial communities in Uruguayan soils shifted between pasture and |
| 733 | irrigated rice fields. Environ Microbiol 15: 2588–2602. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12161 |
| 734 | |
| 735 | Sansone FJ, Holmes ME, Popp BN (1999) Methane stable isotopic ratios and concentrations |
| 736 | as indicators of methane dynamic in estuaries. Global biogeochem cycles. 13(2): 463-474. |
| 737 | |
| 738 | Schink B (1997) Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic degradation. |
| | |

739 Microbiol Mol Biol R 61: 262–280.

|--|

741	Shelley F, Abdullahi F, Grey J, Trimmer M (2015) Microbial methane cycling in the bed of a
742	chalk river: oxidation has the potential to match methanogenesis enhanced by warming.
743	Freshwater Biol. 60: 150–160. doi:10.1111/fwb.12480
744	
745	Shretsha M, Strestha PM, Frenzel P, Conrad R (2010) Effect of nitrogen fertilization on
746	methane oxidation, abundance, community structure, and gene expression of methanotrophs
747	in the rice rhizosphere. The ISME Journal 4: 1545–1556.
748	
749	Silvennoinen H, Liikanen A, Rintala J, Martikainen PJ (2008) Greenhouse gas fluxes from
750	eutrophic Temmesjoki River and its Estuary in the Liminganlahti Bay (the Baltic Sea).
751	Biogeochemistry 90: 193–208. doi: 10.1007/s10533-008-9244-1
752	
753	Sollberger S, Corella JP, Girardclos S, Randlett ME, Schubert CJ, Senn DB, Wehrli B,
754	DelSontro T (2014) Spatial heterogeneity of benthic methane dynamics in the subaquatic
755	canyons of the Rhone River Delta (Lake Geneva). Aquat Sci 76 (Suppl 1): S89-S101. doi:
756	10.1007/s00027-013-0319-2
757	
758	Springer E, Sachs MS, Woese CR, Boone DR (1995) Partial gene sequences for the A subunit
759	of methyl-coenzyme M reductase (mcrI) as a phylogenetic tool for the family
760	Methanosarcinaceae. International journal of systematic bacteriology 45: 554–559.
761	
762	Stanley EH, Casson NJ, Christel ST, Crawford JT, Loken JC, Oliver SK (2016) The ecology
763	of methane in streams and rivers: patterns, controls, and global significance. Ecological
764	monographs. doi: 10.1890/15-1027.1
765	
766	StatSoft, Inc. (2013) STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 12,
767	www.statsoft.com
768	
769	Teodoru CR, Nyoni FC, Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Nyambe Y, Bouillon S (2015)
770	Dynamics of greenhouse gases (CO2, CH4, N2O) along the Zambezi River and major
771	tributaries, and their importance in the riverine carbon budget. Biogeosciences 12: 2431-
772	2453. doi:10.5194/bg-12-2431-2015

- Trimmer M, Grey J, Heppell CM, Hildrew AG, Lansdown K, Stahl H, Yvon-Durocher G
 (2012) River bed carbon and nitrogen cycling: State of play and some new directions. Sci
 Total Environ 434: 143–158. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.10.074
- 777

Yang LB, Li XY, Yan WJ, Ma P, Wang JN (2012) CH₄ concentrations and emissions from
three rivers in the Chaohu Lake watershed in Southeast China. J Integr Agric 11: 665–673.
doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(12)60054-9

781

Yao H, Conrad R, Wassmann R, Neue H-U (1999) Effect of soil characteristics on sequential

reduction and methane production in sixteen rice paddy soils from China, The Philippines andItaly. Biogeochemistry 47: 269–295.

785

Yu Y, Lee C, Kim J, Hwang S (2005): Group-specific primer and probe sets to detect
methanogenic communities using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction.
Biotechnol Bioeng 89: 670–679.

789

Zhang W, Culley D, Nie L, Brockman F (2006) DNA microarray analysis of anaerobic
Methanosarcina barkeri reveals responses to heat shock and air exposure. Journal of Industrial
Microbiology & Biotechnology 33: 784–790.

793

Zeikus JG (1983) Metabolism of one-carbon compounds by chemotropic anaerobes. Adv
Microb Physiol 24: 215–299.

796

1	Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River
2	
3	Supplementary material
4	Adam Bednařík ¹ * [†] , Martin Blaser ^{2†} , Anna Matoušů ^{3,4} , Michal Tušer ⁴ , Prem Prashant
5	Chaudhary ^{1,5,6} , Karel Šimek ^{3,4} & Martin Rulík ¹
6	
7	¹ Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Science, Palacký University
8	Olomouc, Czech Republic
9	² Department of Biogeochemistry, Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology,
10	Marburg, Germany
11	³ Faculty of Sciences, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic
12	⁴ Biology Centre of CAS, Institute of Hydrobiology, České Budějovice, Czech Republic
13	⁵ School of Chemical and Biomedical Engineering, Nanyang Technological University
14	(NTU), Singapore
15	⁶ Nanyang Technological University Food Technology Centre (NAFTEC), Nanyang
16	Technological University (NTU), Singapore
17	
18	*Corresponding author: adambednarik01@gmail.com
19	[†] These authors have contributed equally to this work
20	



22

Fig S1: Delta ¹³C values of methane for sediment incubations of different methanogenic sites. In black incubations under N_2 ; in grey incubations under $N_2 + 3\%$ CH₃F.

25

In the well studied systems (e.g. rice paddies and lake sediments) methane emission can be

- 27 linked to two dominating processes: acetoclastic (eq. 1) and hydrogenotrophic (eq. 2)
- 28 methanogenesis:

$$29 \quad CH_3COOH \rightarrow CO_2 + CH_4 \tag{1}$$

$$30 \quad CO_2 + 4H_2 \rightarrow 2H_2O + CH_4 \tag{2}$$

To distinguish the two dominant methanogenic pathways the natural abundance of stable 31 carbon isotopes can be used if the δ^{13} C of methane and of its precursors and the methanogenic 32 fractionation factors are known (Conrad, 2005). The acetoclastic methanogenesis expresses a 33 smaller kinetic isotopic ($\alpha = 1.009 - 1.027$) effect (Gelwicks et al., 1994; Goevert and Conrad, 34 2009; Penning et al., 2006) than the hydrogenotrophic methane formation ($\alpha = 1.045 - 1.073$) 35 (Valentine et al., 2004). The inhibition of acetoclastic methanogenesis by methylfuoride 36 (CH₃F) allows quantifying the contribution of both pathways (Conrad et al., 2011; Janssen 37 and Frenzel, 1997). 38

39 While the acetoclastic pathway is dominating in e.g. rice paddy soils (up to 67% of methane

- 40 release (Conrad, 1999)) freshwater sediments and gut environments are dominated by
- 41 hydrogen driven methanogenesis (Conrad, 1999).

42 Calculations

The carbon isotopic signature was given in the delta notation relative to the Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (V-PDB) standard. The fractionation factor α for a reaction A \rightarrow B are defined after (Hayes, 1993):

46
$$\alpha_{A,B} = (\delta^{13}C_A + 10^3) / (\delta^{13}C_B + 10^3)$$
 (3)

Isotopic calculations of fractionation factors and estimation of the approximate partition of
hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis of the total methanogenesis were calculated according to
(Conrad, 2005):

50 The apparent fractionation factor (α_{app}) for conversion of CO₂ to CH₄ is given by:

51
$$\alpha_{app} = (\delta CO_2 + 10^3) / (\delta CH_4 + 10^3)$$
 (4)

52 where δCO_2 and δCH_4 are directly measured isotopic signatures of the carbon in CO_2 and 53 CH_4 , respectively.

54 Fractionation factor for hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (α_{mc}) is given by:

55
$$\alpha_{\rm mc} = (\delta_{\rm CO2} + 10^3) / (\delta_{\rm mc} + 10^3)$$
 (5)

where δ_{mc} is carbon isotopic signature of methane solely produced from carbon dioxide (directly measured from assays inhibited by methylfluoride). Partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is calculated by the following mass balance equation (6):

59
$$f_{\rm mc} = (\delta_{\rm CH4} - \delta_{\rm ma})/(\delta_{\rm mc} - \delta_{\rm ma})$$
(6)

where f_{mc} is the partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis and δ_{ma} is carbon isotopic signature of methane solely produced from acetate. It is calculated from the following equation:

63
$$\delta_{\text{ma}} = (1/\alpha_{\text{ma}})(\delta_{\text{ac}} + 10^3 - \alpha_{\text{ma}} * 10^3)$$
 (7)

64 where α_{ma} is fractionation factors for acetoclastic methanogenesis and δ_{ac} is the measured 65 isotopic signal of acetate. Several published α_{ma} have been used to estimate the contribution of 66 hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis e.g. (Gelwicks et al., 1994; Goevert and Conrad, 2009; 67 Penning et al., 2006). We used α_{ma} 1.009 for our calculations which is a somewhat moderate 68 assumption used by several authors e.g. (Aschenbach et al., 2013)

71 Table S1: Characteristics of primer sets used in Quantitative PCR

Name	Target Group	Sequence(5'- 3')	Annealing	Amplic	Reference
			Temperatu	on size	
			re (°C)	(bp)	
PARCH340-F	Archaea	CCC TAC GGG GYG CAS CAG	58.3	152	Øvrea's et
PARCH519-R		TTA CCG CGG CKG CTG			al. 1997
pmoA 189-F	Methanotrophs	GGN GAC TGG GAC TTC TGG	56	531	Holmes et
pmoA682-R		GAA SGC NGA GAA GAA SGC			al. 1995
MCRA-F	Methanogens	GGT GGT GTM GGD TTC ACM CAR	55	488	Luton et
MCRAR- R		ТА			al. 2002
		TTC ATT GCR TAG TTW GGR TAG			
		TT			
MBT857-F	Methanobacteriales	CGW AGG GAA GCT GTT AAG T	53.4	342	Yu et al.
MBT1196-R		TAC CGT CGT CCA CTC CTT			2005
MMB282-F	Methanomicrobiales	ATC GRT ACG GGT TGT GGG	50.7	506	Yu et al.
MMB832-R		CAC CTA ACG CRC ATH GTT TAC			2005
MSL812-F	Methanosarcinales	GTA AAC GAT RYT CGC TAG GT	52.7	354	Yu et al.
MSL1159-R		GGT CCC CAC AGW GTA CC			2005



Fig S2: Relative abundance of methanogenic groups as determined by T-RFLP of mcrA in theElbe River sediments

75

72

76 **References**

Aschenbach, K., Conrad, R., Rehakova, K., Dolezal, J., Janatkova, K., Angel, R., 2013.
Methanogens at the top of the world: occurrence and potential activity of methanogens in
newly deglaciated soils in high-altitude cold deserts in the Western Himalayas. Frontiers in
microbiology 4, 359.

Conrad, R., 1999. Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen
concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. Fems Microbiology Ecology 28, 193202.

Conrad, R., 2005. Quantification of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotopic
signatures: a review and a proposal, Organic Geochemistry, Stable isotope applications in
methane cycle studies, pp. 739-752.

- 87 Conrad, R., Noll, M., Claus, P., Klose, M., Bastos, W., Enrich-Prast, A., 2011. Stable carbon
 88 isotope discrimination and microbiology of methane formation in tropical anoxic lake
 89 sediments. Biogeosciences 8, 795-814.
- Gelwicks, J.T., Risatti, J.B., Hayes, J.M., 1994. Carbon isotope effects associated with
 aceticlastic methanogenesis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60, 467-472.
- Goevert, D., Conrad, R., 2009. Effect of substrate concentration on carbon isotope
 fractionation during acetoclastic methanogenesis by Methanosarcina barkeri and M.
 acetivorans and in rice field soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75, 2605-2612.
- Hayes, J.M., 1993. Factors controlling C-13 contents of sedimentary organic-compounds principles and evidence. Marine Geology 113, 111-125.
- Holmes AJ, Costello AM, Lidstrom ME, Murrell JC (1995) Evidence that particulate methane
 monooxygenase and ammonia monooxygenase may be evolutionarily related. FEMS
 Microbiol Lett 132: 203–208.
- Janssen, P.H., Frenzel, P., 1997. Inhibition of methanogenesis by methyl fluoride: Studies of
 pure and defined mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Applied and
 Environmental Microbiology 63, 4552-4557.
- Luton PE, Wayne JM, Sharp RJ, Riley PW (2002) The mcrA gene as an alternative to 16S
 rRNA in the phylogenetic analysis of methanogen populations in landfill. Microbiology 148:
 3521–3530.
- Øvrea°s L, Forney L, Daae FL, Torsvik V (1997) Distribution of bacterioplankton in
 meromictic Lake Saelenvannet, as deter-mined by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of
 PCR-amplified gene fragments coding for 16S rRNA. Appl EnvironMicrobiol 63: 3367–
 3373.
- Penning, H., Claus, P., Casper, P., Conrad, R., 2006. Carbon isotope fractionation during
 acetoclastic methanogenesis by Methanosaeta concilii in culture and a lake sediment. Applied
 and Environmental Microbiology 72, 5648-5652.

- Valentine, D.L., Chidthaisong, A., Rice, A., Reeburgh, W.S., Tyler, S.C., 2004. Carbon and
 hydrogen isotope fractionation by moderately thermophilic methanogens. Geochimica et
 Cosmochimica Acta 68, 1571-1590.
- 116 Yu Y, Lee C, Kim J, Hwang S (2005): Group-specific primer and probe sets to detect
- 117 methanogenic communities using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction.
- 118 Biotechnol Bioeng 89: 670–679.

119

7.2. Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2017): Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river. Science of the Total Environment, 584– 585: 164–174 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv



Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river



Adam Bednařík^{a,*}, Martin Blaser^b, Anna Matoušů^{c,d}, Petr Hekera^a, Martin Rulík^a

^a Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Laboratory of Aquatic Microbial Ecology, Faculty of Science, Palacky University in Olomouc, Olomouc, Czech Republic

^b Department of Biogeochemistry, Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology, Marburg, Germany

^c Faculty of Sciences, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic

^d Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Institute of Hydrobiology, České Budějovice, Czech Republic

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- CH₄ emissions were higher upstream of the weirs compared to river reaches.
- Sediments upstream of the weirs resemble many previous observations for lake systems.
- Small impoundments significantly affect the CH₄ cycle in a river.



ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 December 2016 Received in revised form 21 January 2017 Accepted 24 January 2017 Available online xxxx

Editor: J Jay Gan

Keywords: Methane production Methane emission Methane ebullition River impoundment River sediment Methanogenic pathways

ABSTRACT

We measured CH₄ concentration, CH₄ oxidation in the water column and total CH₄ emissions to the atmosphere (diffusion and ebullition) in three weir impoundments and river reaches between them, in order to understand their role in river methane (CH₄) dynamics. Sediment samples were also collected to determine CH₄ consumption and production potentials together with the contribution of individual methanogenic pathways. The CH₄ surface water concentration increased 7.5 times in the 16 km long river stretch. Microbial CH₄ oxidation in the water column reached values ranging from 51 to 403 nmol $l^{-1} d^{-1}$ and substantially contributed to the CH₄ removal from surface water, together with CH₄ emissions. The total CH₄ emissions to the atmosphere varied between 0.8 and 207.1 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹ with the highest values observed upstream of the weirs (mean 68.5 ± 29.9 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹). Most of the CH₄ was transported through the air-water interface by ebullition upstream of the weirs, while the ebullition accounted for 95.8 ± 2.0% of the total CH₄ emissions. Both CH₄ production and oxidation potential of sediments were higher upstream of the weirs compared to downstream of the weirs. The contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis to total CH₄ sediment production was 36.7–89.4% and prevailed upstream of the weirs. Our findings indicate that weirs might influence river CH₄ dynamics, especially by increased CH₄ production and consumption by sediments, followed by increasing CH₄ emissions to the atmosphere.

© 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: adambednarik01@gmail.com (A. Bednařík).

1. Introduction

Methane (CH₄) emissions from inland freshwater ecosystems (lakes, reservoirs and rivers) are believed to be to important contributions to global CH₄ flux (Ciais et al., 2013; Bastviken et al., 2011). It has been estimated that CH₄ effluxes from lakes or wetlands are equivalent to ca. 20–50% of global CH₄ emission, but fluvial systems are one of the least studied freshwater types (Stanley et al., 2016). The controlling factors of CH₄ fluxes from rivers and the characteristics of their spatial and temporal heterogeneity are still poorly understood (Saarnio et al., 2009; Ortiz-Llorente and Alvarez-Cobelas, 2012).

One major factor affecting the CH₄ dynamic in rivers is the presence of dams. In general, impoundments can cause significant changes to river habitats, morphology, sediment transport and physicochemical properties of the water (Ogbeibu and Oribhabor, 2002; Rickard et al., 2003; Gao et al., 2013; Kattel et al., 2016) and is also known to be important in greenhouse gas dynamics (Louis et al., 2000; Sobek et al., 2012). Impoundments in central Europe are environments with a high organic carbon burial rate; with smaller impoundments having greater deposition and accumulation rates per unit area (Downing et al., 2008). There is a high contribution of small impoundments to the total area of impoundments, making it obvious that small aquatic bodies can play an important role in the global carbon cycles (Downing et al., 2006; Holgerson and Raymond, 2016).

The microbial processes related to CH_4 production occur to a large extent in the hyporheic zone of streams and rivers. Here anaerobic carbon cycling is the prevailing process and CH_4 is one of the major components of interstitial dissolved organic carbon (Dahm et al., 1991; Baker et al., 1999; Fischer et al., 2005).

Generally, H₂/CO₂ and acetate have been recognized as the two dominant substrates for methanogenic Archaea in freshwater ecosystems. When carbohydrates are anaerobically degraded to CH_4 and CO_2 , acetoclastic methanogenesis (using acetate) would theoretically contribute 67% of CH₄ production following the stoichiometry of the degradation, while the contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (using H_2/CO_2 as substrate) would contribute the remaining 33%. This holds true for rice field soils (Conrad et al., 2002; Fey et al., 2004; Scavino et al., 2013), but recent studies from numerous freshwater ecosystems show various contributions of the two dominating methanogenic pathways. Low contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (using H₂/CO₂) have been reported for rivers - 18-45% (Avery and Martens, 1999; Mach et al., 2015). Much higher contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis have been frequently reported for lakes - 50-90% (Murase and Sugimuto, 2001; Conrad et al., 2011; Conrad et al., 2014) and peatlands - 46-89% (Galand et al., 2005; Galand et al., 2010). Nevertheless, very few data are available concerning spatial variations of methanogenic pathways in freshwater sediments, particularly those from rivers.

Damming reduces the flow velocity of the water, which in turn decreases the oxygen availability. Hence CH_4 produced in the sediment is less likely to be oxidised in the sediment and the water column. This has two consequences: (1) the increased production and reduced oxidation of CH_4 results in a supersaturation and increased ebullition events and (2) the supersaturated water increases the CH_4 concentration in downstream water sections.

Sites with increased sedimentation and CH_4 concentration are thus considered to be 'hot spots' of CH_4 ebullition (Sobek et al., 2012; Maeck et al., 2013). Bubble release is a frequent transportation pathway of CH_4 from lakes and reservoirs (Bastviken et al., 2004; DelSontro et al., 2010), while it is considered to be less important in natural streams and rivers, where most of the emission measurements have focused on transport through the air-water interface by diffusion (Striegl et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2012; Silvennoinen et al., 2008). There is now good evidence however, that bubble-mediated fluxes are an important CH_4 emission mechanism in running waters (Baulch et al., 2011; Crawford et al., 2014; Sawakuchi et al., 2014). The aim of this study was to quantify the effect of three weirs and weir impoundments on individual components of the CH_4 dynamic in a 16 km river reach. Our hypotheses were that impoundments cause changes in sediment composition that leads to increased rate of CH_4 production and reduced rate of CH_4 consumption; these changes lead to increased CH_4 emissions to the atmosphere. We examined 1) changes in river CH_4 concentrations, 2) emissions to the atmosphere (diffusion and ebullition), 3) methanotrophic activity in water column and 4) CH_4 production and consumption by sediments including the determination of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotope values.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study site

The study river was the Morava (Czech Republic), where it flows through Olomouc city (from 49°36.8" N, 17°15.2" E to 49°29.7" N, 17°16.7" E). The Morava is a second-order tributary of the Danube with a mean annual discharge of 26.4 $m^3 s^{-1}$ at our study site. The Morava river catchment is characterised by the development of the relief features on the marginal West-European platform, young Carpathian folded mountain ranges and of the Pannonian basin. The present georelief has been characterised by alternating period of quiet development and by periods of abrupt changes. About 54% of the catchment area is agricultural land (45% arable), 34% is covered by forest, 1.5% urbanized areas and 1.4% is covered by water. The main sources of nutrients are municipalities and agricultural activities. Coniferous forests prevail in the upper part of the catchment. The river upstream from the study area meanders through the floodplain forests of the Protected Landscape Area Litovelské Pomoraví, however our study reach of Morava River is straightened, its cross section is modified and its river banks are stabilized.

Three weirs are situated in this 16 km stretch of the river (Table 1), constructed for stabilization of the vertical alignment and of the riverbed, energy production using small hydropower plants, and retention of surface water for water supply. Nine sampling points were chosen along the river (Fig. 1). Three sites were located in river parts unaffected by impoundments, between the weirs (R 1–3); three sites were directly in impoundments upstream of the weirs (DW 1–3) and three sites were collected twice in the summer months of 2014, one week, in mid-July and one in mid-August. Measurements of all parameters were performed simultaneously for each sampling site. Data from both sampling periods are presented together.

2.2. Sediment samples and incubation experiments

Triplicate samples of surface sediment layer (0–10 cm) from each site were collected in July 2014 by scuba diving. Sediments were then sieved through a 1-mm sieve and stored at 4 °C until subsequent analyses and laboratory experiments. Sediments for the granulometric analysis were sieved through a system of ten sieves of decreasing mesh sizes. All separate parts of the sediment were weighted and grain median size was analyzed using the software Gradistat (version 8.0) (Blott and Pye, 2001). The dry weight of the sample was determined gravimetrically. The carbon content of the sediments was quantified on a CHNS-

Table 1
Basic parameters of weirs

Weir	Backwater length (m)	Volume of reservoir (m ³)	Weir length at overflow edge (m)	Maximum water depth (m)	Height of weir(m)
W1	2600	139,000	40.8	3.2	2.7
W2	2000	160,000	40.0	4.1	2.4
W3	5290	450,000	50.6	2.7	3.7



Fig. 1. Schematic map identifying the nine sampling sites along the studied section of Morava river (UW = upstream of the weir, DW = downstream of the weir, R = river section).

element analyzer by the Analytical Chemical Laboratory of the University of Marburg.

Investigation of methanogenic pathways and methane production potential used approximately 30 g (wet weight) of the sediment in duplicate, transferred into 60-ml sterile serum bottles, flushed with N₂, closed with butyl rubber stoppers and incubated at 25 °C in the dark. Five ml of distilled autoclaved water was added into each bottle at the start of the incubation for later sampling of the liquid phase. The gas headspace of half of the bottles was supplemented with 3% CH₃F to specifically inhibit acetotrophic methanogenesis (Janssen and Frenzel, 1997). Gas samples (200 µl) were taken repeatedly (twice a week) during the course of incubation (4–6 weeks) and analyzed for concentrations of CH₄, CO₂ and δ^{13} C of CH₄ and CO₂. At the end of the incubation, the bottles were sacrificed to sample the liquid phase, stored frozen (-20 °C) for later analyses of concentration and δ^{13} C of acetate The rate of CH₄ production was calculated from the slope of the linear regression given by the graph of CH₄ concentration increase over time.

Methane oxidation potential of the sediment was determined in triplicate for each sample. Sterile bottles (250 ml) were filled with 20 g of sediment (wet weight) and closed by a cap with PTFE silicone septa. The headspace (ambient air) was enriched with CH_4 to give a final concentration of 10,000 ppm and incubated at 25 °C in dark. The concentration of CH_4 in the headspace of each bottle was measured at 0 h and then nine times during 185 h. Potential CH_4 oxidation rates were obtained from the slope of the CH_4 decrease over time.

In the sediment incubation experiments, CH_4 was analyzed by gas chromatography (GC) using a flame ionization detector (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan), while CO_2 was analyzed after conversion to CH_4 with a methanizer (Ni-catalyst at 350 °C, Chrompack, Middelburg, Netherlands). Isotope measurements of ${}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ in gas samples were performed on a gas chromatograph combustion isotope ratio mass spectrometer (GC-C–IRMS) system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). The principal operation was described by Brand (Brand, 1996). Other details are given in Penger et al., 2012; Blaser et al., 2013; Penger et al., 2014.

Isotopic analysis and quantification of acetate were performed on a high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) system (Spectra System P1000, Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA; Mistral, Spark, Emmen, the Netherlands) equipped with an ion-exclusion column (Aminex HPX-87-H, BioRad, München, Germany) and coupled to Finnigan LC IsoLink (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) as described (Krummen et al., 2004). Isotope ratios were detected on an IRMS (Finnigan MAT Deltaplus Advantage).

The carbon isotopic signature was given in the delta notation relative to the Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (V-PDB) standard. The fractionation factor α for a reaction A \rightarrow B is defined after (Hayes, 1993) as:

$$\mathbf{a}_{AB} = \left(\delta^{13}C_A + 10^3\right) / \left(\delta^{13}C_B + 10^3\right) \tag{1}$$

Isotopic calculations of fractionation factors and estimation of the approximate partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis to total methanogenesis were calculated according to Conrad (2005):

The apparent fractionation factor (α_{app}) for conversion of CO₂ to CH₄ is given by:

$$\alpha_{app} = \left(\delta_{CO_2} + 10^3\right) / \left(\delta_{CH_4} + 10^3\right) \tag{2}$$

where δCO_2 and δCH_4 are directly measured isotopic signatures of the carbon in CO_2 and CH_4 , respectively.

Fractionation factor for hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis $\left(\alpha_{mc}\right)$ is given by:

$$\alpha_{mc} = \left(\delta_{CO_2} + 10^3\right) / \left(\delta_{mc} + 10^3\right) \tag{3}$$

where δ_{mc} is carbon isotopic signature of methane solely produced from carbon dioxide (directly measured from assays inhibited by methylfluoride). Partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is calculated by the following mass balance equation:

$$f_{\rm mc} = \left(\delta_{\rm CH_4} - \delta_{\rm m\alpha}\right) / \left(\delta_{\rm mc} - \delta_{\rm m\alpha}\right) \tag{4}$$

where f_{mc} is the partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis and δ_{ma} is carbon isotopic signature of methane solely produced from acetate, the latter calculated from the following equation:

$$\delta_{m\alpha} = (1/\alpha_{ma}) \left(\delta_{ac} + 10^3 - \alpha_{ma} 10^3 \right) \tag{5}$$

where α_{ma} is fractionation factor for acetoclastic methanogenesis ($\alpha_{ma} =$ 1.009; Goevert and Conrad, 2009) and δ_{ac} is the measured isotopic signal of acetate.

2.3. Physical parameters of water

All physical parameters were measured at the depth from which the water samples were collected (10 cm below the water level), except flow velocity, which was calculated from several measuring depths. Concentration of dissolved oxygen together with temperature was measured using an oximeter Eutech DO 450. Conductivity was measured using a Hanna DiST 3 conductivity meter HI 98303. Flow velocity was measured using a portable flowmeter (Marsh-McBirney model 2000 Flo-Mate).

2.4. Water samples

Surface water samples (n = 4-8 per sampling site) for analysis of dissolved CH₄ were collected at a depth of 10 cm below the water

level, in vials (40 ml) with screw-tops, covered by a polypropylene cap with PTFE silicone septa. They were immediately treated by injecting concentrated sulfuric acid (200 μ l) to stop the microbial activity (final concentration ca. 90 mM). All samples were transported to the laboratory in a cool box.

Concentrations of dissolved CH_4 in the surface water were measured using headspace equilibration. Dissolved CH_4 was extracted from the water by replacing 15 ml of water with N₂ and then vigorously shaking the vials for 30 s. to release the supersaturated gas from the water to facilitate equilibration between the water and gas phases. All samples were equilibrated at laboratory temperature. CH_4 was analyzed from the headspace by injecting 0.2 ml of gas sub-sample with a gas-tight syringe with valve into a 6890 N (Agilent, USA) gas chromatograph, equipped with a flame ionization detector, with a 0.53 mm \times 30 m GS Alumina column. Gas concentration in water was calculated using Henry's law.

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) was analyzed in samples filtered through glass-fibre filters of 0.4-µm nominal pore size (GF-5, Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany) with a Shimadzu TOC-5000A analyzer (Shimadzu, Japan).

The CH₄ oxidation rate was determined as outlined in Bussmann et al. [2015]. Briefly, water samples were processed in triplicates with two killed controls. Immediately after collecting the samples we injected 100 µl (10 µCi) of ³H-CH₄ (American Radiolabeled Chemicals, Inc.). The samples were vigorously shaken for 60 s and incubated in the dark at near in situ temperature. Control samples were killed by injecting 200 µl of concentrated sulphuric acid before the tracer was added. Activities in "live" samples were stopped the same way, but after approximately 24 h. Samples were stored in the dark at 4 °C, prior to being analyzed within 1 week. In the laboratory the samples were opened, and the total radioactivity of the sample - including the labelled CH₄ and labelled produced H₂O - measured immediately by mixing a 1 ml aliquot of each sample with 5 ml of scintillation cocktail (Ultima Gold[™] LLT) and analyzed with a liquid scintillation counter (Tri-Carb® 2910 TR, Perkin Elmer; or Tri-Carb® 2900 TR, Packard). Subsequently the samples were sparged with air for half an hour to expel all remaining CH₄. Afterwards the microbially-produced radioactive water was analyzed in the same way, by mixing a 1 ml aliquot of each sample with 5 ml of scintillation cocktail and analyzed on liquid scintillation counter as described above. The calculation of the microbial mediated CH₄ oxidation is based on the transformation of added radioactively marked tracer (³H-CH₄) into the oxidation products (³H-H₂O) during a timed incubation (detailed in Bussmann et al., 2015).

2.5. Emissions to the atmosphere

Methane emissions (diffusion + ebullition) across the air-water interface were determined by a floating chamber method. The openbottom floating polyethylene chambers (volume 3.1 l covering an area of 0.024 m²) were deployed on the water surface (see Rulik et al., 2013; Bednařík et al., 2015). The chambers (n = 5 per sampling site) were anchored and allowed to float on the water's surface for a period of 3 hours. Pre-incubations were performed to assess linearity of gas concentrations in headspace of the chambers and establish the incubation time required for reliable flux measurements. Samples of headspace gas were collected through the rubber stopper inserted at the chamber's top using a 100 ml gas-tight syringe. The syringe was pumped two times to mix the chamber content before withdrawing 50 ml of gas from the chamber. Samples of ambient air were collected in each study point for determining the initial background concentrations. Emissions were calculated as the difference between initial background and final concentration in the chamber headspace, and expressed according to Eq. (6):

$$E = [(c_I - c_R) \times V \times 24/(t \times 1000)]/p \tag{6}$$

where *E* is gas emission in mmol $m^{-2} day^{-1}$; c_l is concentration of the methane in the chamber headspace in µmol l^{-1} ; c_R is concentration of the methane in background air in µmol l^{-1} ; *V* is volume of the chamber in L; *t* is time of incubation in hr.; *p* is the area of chamber expressed in m^2 .

We determined CH_4 diffusion fluxes to the atmosphere using calculations derived from recent studies (Striegl et al., 2012; McGinnis et al., 2014; Borges et al., 2015; Bodmer et al., 2016).

The air-water CH₄ diffusion flux (F) was computed according to

$$\mathbf{F} = k(\mathbf{c}_w - \mathbf{c}_a) \tag{7}$$

where *k* is the gas transfer velocity for water-air gas exchange (m d⁻¹), $c_w - c_a$ is the gas concentration gradient between the river and the atmosphere (mol m⁻³).

For the river flux calculations *k* is defined as (Fortescue and Pearson, 1967)

$$k = 1.46 (DV/h)^{-0.5}$$
(8)

where *D* is the molecular diffusion coefficient of CH₄ in the water (Broecker and Peng, 1974), *V* is the water velocity (m s⁻¹) and *h* is the water depth (m).

In addition to that, we used E (Eq. (6)) to calculate diffusive gas transfer velocity (k) by inverting the equation for Fick's law of gas diffusion, as follows:

$$k = E/(c_w - c_a) \tag{9}$$

where *k* is the gas transfer velocity (m d⁻¹), *E* is taken from Eq. (6) and $c_w - c_a$ is the gas concentration gradient between the river and the atmosphere (mol m⁻³).

For better comparison of k with different studies, we standardized k of CH₄ to k600 (equivalent to k of CO₂ at 20 °C) computed according to:

$$k_{600} = k(600/S_c)^{-0.5} \tag{10}$$

where k is the calculated from Eq. (8), Sc is the Schmidt number for CH₄ in situ temperature (Wanninkhof, 1992).

Ebullition measurements were carried out, using triplicate submerged gas traps located at three sites upstream of the weirs (UW 1-3) and one river stretch (R 3) on Morava River. The other sites did not allow the installation of the bubble traps due to shallow water depth. The traps consisted of inverted funnels (0.65 m internal diameter, covering an area 0.332 m²) sealed with butyl-rubber septum. The bottom of the funnel was situated 1.5 m below the water level. The funnels remained on site for 24 h. Accumulated gas volumes during the sampling period were collected manually through a butyl-rubber septum using a 100 ml gas-tight syringe at the end of the experiment. The total volume of gas collected was estimated from an external scale on each funnel. Methane concentration in bubbles was multiplied by the volume of accumulated gas over the sampling period to determine CH₄ ebullition fluxes. Care was taken to avoid disturbing the benthic substrate during funnel traps operation. All gas samples were stored in 12 ml evacuated soda glass vials (Labco Limited UK) until analysis.

Degassing at weirs was estimated on the basis of methane concentration difference and water discharge according to the calculation given by Maeck et al. (2013) (Eq. (8)).

$$E_{\text{degas sing}} = [(c_{uw} - c_{dw}) \times Q] / P_{oe}$$
(11)

where $E_{degassing}$ is the emissions at the weir (mol m⁻² d⁻¹), c_{uw} is methane concentration upstream of the weir (mol m⁻³), c_{dw} is methane concentration downstream of the weir (mol m⁻³), Q is a water discharge (m³ d⁻¹) and P_{oe} is an area of overflow edge (m²).

2.6. Statistics

Data analyses were performed using the software STATISTICA 12 (StatSoft, 2013). Differences between groups of data were examined using a Kruskal–Wallis test. Multiple regression analysis and Spearman's correlation analysis of data were used to find the relationships among variables. All statistical tests used a significance level of 5%.

3. Results

3.1. Environmental parameters

Water temperature (mean 20 \pm 0.1 °C), conductivity (mean 319.2 \pm 3.2 μ S cm⁻¹) and dissolved organic carbon (mean 2.7 \pm 0.2 mg l⁻¹) were relatively stable along the river profile without significant differences between each type of observed sites (Table 2). Mean values of dissolved oxygen concentrations and flow velocity ranged from 5.0 to 12.1 mg l⁻¹ and from 0.06 to 0.6 m s⁻¹, respectively, with values significantly lower for sections upstream of the weirs compared to river sections downstream of the weirs and unaffected river sections (K-W test; p < 0.01) (Table 2). Grain median size was the smallest in sediments upstream of the weirs (mean 1.8 \pm 0.9 mm), whereas the biggest grain median size was observed in the river sections with mean 15.2 \pm 3.7 mm. Total sediment carbon content was significantly highest upstream of the weirs (mean 5.5 \pm 0.8%) compared to other studied sites (K-W test; p < 0.001).

3.2. Methane oxidation and production by sediments

Consumption of CH₄ by sediments during the sediment incubation experiments was observed in all samples, with mean values in the range of 0.6–11.8 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹ (Fig. 2a). The CH₄ oxidation potential of sediments was an order of magnitude higher upstream of the weirs (mean 10.6 \pm 1.7 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) compared to sites downstream of the weirs (mean 1.1 \pm 0.2 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) and three times higher than the river sections (mean 3.1 \pm 1.5 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) (K-W test; p < 0.001).

Formation of CH₄ by sediments wasn't observed in all samples, unlike CH₄ consumption, and mean values ranged from 0 to 2 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹. The CH₄ production potential was the highest for sites upstream of the weirs (mean 1.5 ± 0.4 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹), followed by the river sections (mean 0.14 ± 0.07 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹), however without significant difference (Fig. 2b). The lowest values of CH₄ production were observed downstream of the weirs (mean 0.009 ± 0.003 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) (K-W test; p < 0.05). Both CH₄ formation and consumption were strongly positively correlated with sediment carbon content (r = 0.63, p < 0.05; r = 0.80, p < 0.05, respectively).

The δ^{13} C of organic matter in sediments was $-27.1 \pm 0.3\%$ (n = 27) (Table 3). The δ^{13} C of acetate was ¹³C enriched compared to the organic matter with mean $-22 \pm 2.4\%$ (n = 9) in inhibited samples, while there was no observed acetate accumulation in uninhibited samples. The δ^{13} C of CH₄ measured in the end of the uninhibited incubation

was on average 6.4 \pm 1.8‰ more depleted in ¹³C than the δ^{13} C of CH₄ from bubbles trapped in situ. Detailed results of ¹³C measurements of sediment samples with sufficient CH₄ production are given in Table 3.

Contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis ($f_{\rm mc}$) to CH₄ production was calculated for samples with sufficient CH₄ formation during the incubation experiment (UW 1–3, DW 1, R 1, R 3). In general, the time courses of the contribution of H₂/CO₂-dependent methanogenesis to total produced CH₄ were relatively constant for individual samples and tended to be higher for sediments upstream of the weirs compared to the sediments from river sections or downstream of the weirs (Fig. 3). Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis contributed 36.7 to 89.4% of the total CH₄ production and was dominant (>50%) in sediments upstream of the weirs, while acetoclastic methanogenesis was probably prevailing in remaining sediments.

Despite the different contribution of methanogenic pathways between the sites, the δ^{13} C of CH₄ released in the end of incubation and in situ (bubbles), the apparent fractionation factor (α_{app} ; using Eq. (2)) and fractionation factor for hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (α_{mc} ; using Eq. (3)) were approximately the same for all locations (see Table 3).

3.3. Methane in surface water

Methane concentration in the surface water tended to increase along the river stretch (Fig. 4a) with significantly higher concentrations in surface water upstream of the weirs (mean 1145.3 \pm 127.5 nmol l⁻¹) compared to river sections (mean 617.2 \pm 139.5 nmol l⁻¹), while methane concentrations in sites downstream of the weirs were not significantly different (mean 1060.6 \pm 171.8 nmol l⁻¹) (K-W test; p < 0.05). Measured CH₄ surface water concentration at R1 (the most upstream location) was 7.5 times lower than at location DW 3 (the most downstream location). Multiple regression analysis of the data did not reveal any relationship between CH₄ concentration in surface water and measured environmental parameters in Table 2 (F = 2.32, p = 0.26).

Mean aerobic CH_4 oxidation potential in the water column of the Morava River varied from 51 to 403 nmol $l^{-1} d^{-1}$ (Fig. 4b). Consequently, mean potential CH_4 turnover time in surface water (black squares, Fig. 4b) was constant across the studied locations with values between 3.9 and 5.6 days, except one location (DW 2), where the oxidation was slower (potential turnover time 15 days). Hence, methanotrophy in the water column was an important process in the CH_4 budget of most locations.

3.4. Methane emissions to the atmosphere

The CH₄ emissions were determined by direct measurements with floating chambers and bubble traps. However, considering the high contribution of bubbles to total CH₄ emissions upstream of the weirs, we also calculate the CH₄ diffusion through the air-water interface using the gas transfer velocity (k) and CH₄ concentration difference between

Table 2

elected physicochemical properties of studied site	$(mean values \pm SE) (R = river; UW = ups)$	stream of the weir; DW = downstream of the weir).
--	--	---

	5 1	1	,		1		,	
Site	Flow velocity $(m s^{-1})$	Dissolved oxygen $(mg l^{-1})$	Dissolved oxygen saturation (%)	Temperature (°C)	Conductivity (µS cm ⁻¹)	Dissolved organic carbon $(mg l^{-1})$	Grain median size (mm)	Sediment carbon content (%)
R 1	0.35 ± 0.03	9.7 ± 0.3	109 ± 5	20.6 ± 0.7	305 ± 15	2.5 ± 0.1	19.41	0.2 ± 0.0
UW 1	0.06 ± 0.01	8.4 ± 0.2	95 ± 3	20.5 ± 0.3	319 ± 7	2.5 ± 0.2	2.12	4.9 ± 1.1
DW 1	0.56 ± 0.03	12.1 ± 1.8	135 ± 20	20.1 ± 0.6	320 ± 10	2.7 ± 0.5	8.19	0.2 ± 0.0
R 2	0.35 ± 0.03	9.8 ± 0.6	108 ± 5	20.1 ± 0.7	308 ± 11	2.7 ± 0.3	7.85	0.2 ± 0.0
UW 2	0.10 ± 0.01	7.9 ± 0.1	88 ± 1	20 ± 0.1	316 ± 1	2.8 ± 0.2	0.13	6.2 ± 0.1
DW 2	0.33 ± 0.02	7.7 ± 0.4	86 ± 5	19.9 ± 0.1	316 ± 0	3.1 ± 0.1	1.76	0.3 ± 0.0
R 3	0.18 ± 0.00	8.7 ± 0.1	94 ± 1	19.3 ± 0.2	320 ± 5	2.7 ± 0.2	18.37	4.0 ± 0.7
UW 3	0.07 ± 0.01	5 ± 0.2	56 ± 2	19.9 ± 0.4	340 ± 3	2.7 ± 0.1	3.16	5.3 ± 1.3
DW 3	0.24 ± 0.02	7.6 ± 1	82 ± 11	20.2 ± 1.6	330 ± 8	2.4 ± 0.1	10.02	0.2 ± 0.0



169

Fig. 2. Methane oxidation (A) and production potentials (B) of sediments (mean values \pm SE) calculated from the incubation experiments (UW = upstream of the weir, DW = downstream of the weir, R = river section).

surface water and the atmosphere (Eq. (7)). All values concerning the determination of the CH₄ emissions are given in Table 4. The CH₄ emissions determined by floating chamber method and by

calculation using Eq. (7) were not significantly different in river reaches

and downstream of the weirs except the site DW 2. However CH_4 emissions upstream of the weirs obtained by floating chamber method were

considerably higher than calculated CH₄ diffusion, because the higher

contribution of ebullition to the total CH₄ emissions. Hence we calculat-

ed the total CH₄ emission from CH₄ diffusive fluxes (based on k and

concentration difference) and from directly measured ebullition by bubble traps.

All sampling sites, especially weirs, were strong sources of CH₄. Total CH₄ fluxes to the atmosphere (diffusion + ebullition) were in the range of 0.8 to 207.1 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹ (Table 4). The CH₄ emissions were significantly higher upstream of the weirs (mean 68.5 \pm 29.9 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹) followed by sites downstream of the weir (mean 3.4 \pm 0.6 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹) and lowest in river sections (mean 1.6 \pm 0.3 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹) (K-W test; p < 0.001).

Table 3

Results based on the 13 C values of parameters measured in the CH₄ producing sediment samples (mean values \pm SE). (UW = upstream of the weir, DW = downstream of the weir, R = river section, n.m. = not measured).

Site	$\delta^{13}\text{C}$ of sediment carbon (‰)	Sediment incubation experiments				In situ samples (ebullition)	
		$\delta^{13}C$ of acetate (‰) ^a	$\alpha_{app}^{\ b}$	α_{mc}^{c}	$\delta^{13}\text{C}~\text{of}~\text{CH}_4~(\text{‰})^d$	α_{app}	$\delta^{13}\text{C} \text{ of } \text{CH}_4 \ensuremath{\left(\%\right)}$
UW 1	-28.5 ± 0.06	-20.9 ± 0.0	1.040 ± 0.00	1.068 ± 0.01	-63.9 ± 0.0	1.043 ± 0.01	-54.9 ± 6.0
UW 2	-28.3 ± 0.07	-17.7 ± 3.1	1.051 ± 0.01	1.079 ± 0.01	-60.4 ± 0.9	1.048 ± 0.00	-59.4 ± 0.7
UW 3	-28.2 ± 0.05	-14.3 ± 5.0	1.054 ± 0.00	1.078 ± 0.01	-60.2 ± 0.1	1.047 ± 0.00	-52.5 ± 2.9
DW 1	-27.2 ± 0.17	-29.8 ± 0.0	1.049 ± 0.00	1.081 ± 0.00	-63.8 ± 0.0	n.m.	n.m.
R 1	-26.2 ± 0.05	-29.0 ± 3.2	1.054 ± 0.00	1.074 ± 0.00	-59.8 ± 0.0	n.m.	n.m.
R 3	-28.3 ± 0.10	-24.9 ± 0.7	1.049 ± 0.00	1.081 ± 0.01	-61.6 ± 0.0	1.038 ± 0.01	-53.8 ± 10.2

^a Measured in the samples inhibited by CH₃F.

^b α_{app} calculated according to Eq. (2).

^c α_{mc} calculated according to Eq. (3).

^d End of the incubation of the uninhibited samples.



Fig. 3. Contribution of H₂/CO₂-dependent methanogenesis (f_{mc}) to total CH₄ production of sediments during incubation experiments. f_{mc} was calculated using Eq. (4) with measured values for δ_{CH4} (uninhibited incubations) and δ_{mc} (CH₃F inhibited incubations) and calculated values for δ_{ma} using Eq. (5) and $\alpha_{ma} = 1.009$.

Degassing at weirs (calculated using Eq. (11)) reached mean values of 3.2 \pm 2.3, 4.5 \pm 1.4 and 0 \pm 0 mol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹ for site UW 1, UW 2 and UW 3, respectively. Bubble release was recorded for all locations with placed bubble traps (UW 1–3, R 3). Estimated average contribution of ebullition to total CH₄ emissions was 91, 98, 98 and 10% for site UW 1, UW 2, UW 3 and R 3, respectively, implying, that most of the CH₄ upstream of the weirs was transported through air-water interface by ebullition. Individual values of CH₄ content in trapped bubbles ranged from 16.2 to 61.1% and the δ^{13} C of CH₄ in bubbles ranged from -64 to

- 31‰ (average - 55 \pm 9‰). We did not quantify the remaining composition of the bubbles.

4. Discussion

Our results show that dams affect several processes in the CH_4 dynamics of a river continuum. We summarized our findings in Fig. 5 and will discuss the individual processes. First we discuss the sediment samples, then the water samples, and finally the CH_4 emissions to the atmosphere.

However, we did not intend to calculate the CH₄ mass balance, because the CH₄ production and oxidation rates were not measured under in situ conditions and with addition of substrate in case of CH₄ oxidation measurements. Thus they represent potential rates suitable for comparison of studied sites, but they do not allow mass balance calculation.

4.1. Effect of dams on the CH₄ dynamics in river sediments

We found that dams across a river resulted in several effects on the sediment processes including changes of the sediment characteristics, enhanced microbial activities in the sediment, ebullition of trace gases, and different contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogens to the released CH₄.

In detail, we observed significant changes in the sediment characteristics between individual river reaches in this study: The highest



Fig. 4. CH₄ concentrations in surface water (A) (mean value of $n = 4-8 \pm SE$) and aerobic CH₄ oxidation potential in surface water (B) expressed as potential CH₄ turnover time (black squares) and CH₄ oxidation rate (bars) (mean values of $n = 6-12 \pm SE$) along the studied river reach (UW = upstream of the weir, DW = downstream of the weir, R = river section).

Table	24
-------	----

The CH₄ fluxes from the surface water to the atmosphere and calculated gas transfer velocity k (mean values \pm SE).

Site	Directly measured CH_4 emission ^a (mmol m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	Calculated CH_4 diffusive fluxes ^b (mmol m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	Total CH_4 emission ^c (mmol m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	kCH_4^d (cm h ⁻¹)	$k600^{e}$ (cm h ⁻¹)	$\frac{\text{kCH}_4^{\text{f}}}{(\text{cm h}^{-1})}$
R 1 UW 1	$\begin{array}{c} 0.75 \pm 0.18 \\ 63.4 \pm 30.9 \\ 2.22 \\ \pm 0.22 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.83 \pm 0.18 \\ 0.54 \pm 0.15 \\ 0.70 \pm 0.02 \end{array}$	0.83 ± 0.27 8.15 ± 2.26	$\begin{array}{c} 19.0 \pm 2.29 \\ 3.14 \pm 0.06 \\ 12.4 \pm 0.27 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 19.3 \pm 2.32 \\ 3.18 \pm 0.06 \\ 10.7 \pm 0.22 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 18.1 \pm 4.41 \\ 297.2 \pm 225.3 \\ 15.2 \pm 5.2 \end{array}$
DW 1 R 2	$\begin{array}{r} 2.28 \pm 0.32 \\ 2.26 \pm 0.59 \\ 176.5 \pm 32.7 \end{array}$	2.78 ± 0.02 2.01 ± 0.38 1.15 ± 0.55	$\begin{array}{r} 2.78 \pm 0.02 \\ 2.05 \pm 0.29 \\ 66.1 \pm 1.00 \end{array}$	18.4 ± 0.27 16.4 ± 0.79 3.57 ± 0.53	18.7 ± 0.28 16.6 ± 0.80 3.61 ± 0.54	15.2 ± 5.78 17.6 ± 6.76 747.2 ± 489.6
DW 2 R 3	10.31 ± 1.47 1.62 ± 0.60	3.67 ± 1.30 1.92 ± 0.63	3.65 ± 1.25 2.13 ± 0.71	14.1 ± 0.20 7.05 ± 0.10	14.3 ± 0.20 7.14 ± 0.10	46.0 ± 17.9 7.69 ± 5.09
UW 3 DW 3	$\begin{array}{r} 392.1\ \pm\ 108.6\\ 2.87\ \pm\ 0.55\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.27 \pm 0.55 \\ 3.81 \pm 1.84 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 131.9 \pm 75.2 \\ 3.77 \pm 1.77 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.83 \pm 0.19 \\ 10.8 \pm 0.17 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.89 \pm 0.19 \\ 11.0 \pm 0.18 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1820\pm1398 \\ 13.1\pm10.4 \end{array}$

Diffusion together with ebullition directly measured by chamber method.

Calculated according to Eq. (7).

с The total CH₄ emissions estimated from calculated diffusive fluxes (Eq. (7)) and ebullition measured with bubble traps.

d Calculated according to Eq. (8)

Calculated according to Eq. (10).

^f Calculated according to Eq. (9).

sediment carbon content that was observed upstream of the weirs $(5.5 \pm 0.8\%)$, was at the lower end of values reported from lake sediments (1-34%; Huttunen et al. (2006); Duc et al. (2010)). Carbon content was much lower ($0.8 \pm 0.6\%$) in sediments downstream of the weirs and in river reaches, which corresponds to values from other rivers (1.1% Trimmer et al. (2009), 0.2-0.8% Sollberger et al. (2014)).

Organically rich and fine sediments upstream of the weirs resulted in considerably higher values of potential CH₄ consumption and production compared to locations downstream of the weirs and river sections. Slow moving river sections with higher sedimentation rates have been previously shown to result in enhanced methanogenesis and ebullition (Sanders et al., 2007; Maeck et al., 2013).

The high methanogenic potential of sediments recorded upstream of the weirs is comparable to organically rich lake sediments (0.2-8.4 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹; Conrad et al. (2009); Duc et al. (2010)), while the CH₄ formation in the other locations studied was lower, comparable to other rivers (Gebert et al., 2006; Sanders et al., 2007; Mach et al., 2015). The only exception was observed in location R 3, where high organic carbon content in accumulated sediment and incubation potentials were almost the same as upstream of the weirs, which could be given by local conditions of this river reach. Location R 3 could be partially affected by backwater region of third weir as indicated by reduced flow velocity and higher organic carbon content in sediment, although median grain size of sediment is high and more comparable to river reaches

Anoxic conditions and high CH₄ concentrations together with increased contribution of ebullition are positively related to the proportion of fine sediments (Baulch et al., 2011). It is consistent with our results, where we observed significant amounts of CH₄ transported in bubbles from sites with the highest CH₄ production potential and the finest median grain size. The same positive relationship exists between organic matter content in sediments and CH₄ formation (Yang, 1998; Gebert et al., 2006).

Measurements of stable isotopic composition of CH₄ produced during inhibited and uninhibited incubation experiments showed prevailing hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis upstream of the weirs, whereas CH₄ was rather produced from acetate in river reaches. Again the methanogenic pathways upstream of the weirs corresponds more to lake sediments, while the river reaches in this study represent values previously observed in other rivers (see Introduction).

Conrad (1999) and Conrad et al. (2009) provided conceivable explanations for the prevalence of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in



Fig. 5. Schematic illustration of measured parameters related with CH₄ budget in impounded river. Size of circles for each parameter corresponds to its mean value. Arrows suggest possible fate of CH₄ produced in sediments. Solid arrows show CH₄ diffusion to the surface water and to the atmosphere (or release directly to the atmosphere in bubbles). Dashed arrows indicates potential sink for CH₄ during its transport. Discrepancy between CH₄ production potential and CH₄ oxidation potential in sediments is given by substrate addition (CH₄) during incubation experiments (see 2.1.). Hence it serves mainly for comparison of microbial activity between locations and not for calculation of net CH₄ emissions from the sediments.

freshwater sediments. It may be due to: non-steady-state conditions (different pace of acetate and H₂ consumption), additional sink of acetate (syntrophic acetate-consuming microbial consortia) or incomplete degradation of organic matter. Generally, the additional sink of acetate in natural habitats is caused by competition of methanogens with ferric iron reducers or sulfate reducing bacteria, which inhibit methanogenesis until depletion of their electron acceptors (Zinder, 1993). The next potential sink is acetate turnover by syntrophic acetate oxidation, which is characterised by a small isotopic effect. Hence, it may easily be overlooked and thus be more widespread than presently assumed (Conrad and Klose, 2011). Nevertheless, syntrophic acetate oxidation takes place mainly in sediments, where the acetoclastic Methanosaeta is absent, which is not a usual situation in freshwater sediments (Karakashev et al., 2006). Moreover, we can probably exclude the contribution of homoacetogenesis as additional source of acetate or sink of H₂ and CO₂, because we observed δ^{13} C of acetate values enriched (~5‰) compared to δ^{13} C of organic matter, while the δ^{13} C of acetate is strongly depleted compared to $\delta^{13}C$ of organic matter, when the homoacetogens contribute to acetate production together with fermentation of organic matter. These factors together can theoretically lead to an increased contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in our examined sediments; however only partial mineralization of organic matter, which may result in CH₄ production from H₂ and CO₂, seems to be the most plausible explanation for the dominance of CH₄ production by CO₂ reduction in these sediments as well as in lake sediments (Conrad et al., 2009). This finding together with the high CH₄ production potentials and other sediment characteristics (Table 2) shows that CH₄ related processes upstream of the weirs are more comparable with lake sediments than river sediments.

4.2. Effect of dams on the CH₄ dynamics of river water

One would expect that the impacts of dams on the microbial processes in the sediment described above might also shape other differences, which we find in the water column. Neither the CH₄ concentration nor the methanotrophic activity in the water column, however were dramatically impacted by the the weirs.

Our CH₄ surface concentrations observed in this study (0.1– 2.2 μ mol l⁻¹) were in the range of values reported from other streams and rivers: 0.01–1.2 μ mol l⁻¹ (Lilley et al., 1995), 0.01–2.2 μ mol l⁻¹ (Wilcock and Sorrel, 2008), and 0.04–6.8 μ mol l⁻¹ (Yvon-Durocher et al., 2011).

The increase of CH_4 concentrations downstream is a usual trend in rivers, when CH_4 sources contribute gradually to the overall CH_4 concentration in surface water (Wang et al., 2009; Anthony et al., 2012; Striegl et al., 2012). Downstream increase of CH_4 concentrations observed in this study is relatively high for such a short river reach, pointing to important CH_4 sources. An even greater increase of surface CH_4 concentration along an 800 m long pool resulting from ponding behind a spillway has been recorded by Lilley et al. (1995), where the concentration changed from 7.7 to 244 nM.

CH₄ concentrations were strongly affected by microbial CH₄ oxidation in the water column without difference between types of locations (i.e. upstream of the weirs, downstream of the weirs, river sections). The potential CH₄ turnover time was about six days, which corresponds to high methanotrophic activity in a temperate river (De Angelis and Scranton, 1993). Undetectable microbial CH₄ oxidation was observed by Anthony et al. (2012) in the Willamette River and by Bussmann (2013) in the Lena River. However, there may be considerable differences between rivers or between separate sites of the same river. For instance Lilley et al. (1995) recognized microbial CH₄ oxidation responsible for 25% of methane sink in the Columbia River, but it was negligible in the Wenatchee River. Dzyuban (2011) observed significantly higher rates of bacterial CH₄ oxidation in his examined group of rivers, which were subject to stronger anthropogenic impact, compared with streams without input of organic pollutants. Considering the high methanotrophic activity in surface water of the Morava River, the occurrence of ebullition is probably more important because CH_4 release in bubbles directly to the atmosphere is not exposed to CH_4 oxidizing bacteria in the water column of shallow impoundments (McGinnis et al., 2006).

4.3. Effects of dams on CH₄ emission

Our values were measured during the summer and over a short term. Thus, they may correspond to an upper maximum of seasonal fluxes and they are not useful for annual estimates of CH₄ emissions (Ortiz-Llorente and Alvarez-Cobelas, 2012; Mach et al., 2016). Although the lower end of this range derived from river reaches (R 1–R 3) is consistent with published values from rivers (Ortiz-Llorente and Alvarez-Cobelas, 2012), the upper limits derived from locations upstream of the weirs (UW 1–UW 3) are considerably larger (mean 68.5 ± 29.9 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹). These values are more comparable to surface CH₄ evasion estimates reported from reservoirs (0.2–131 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹, DelSontro et al. (2011) or lakes (0.3–312 mmol CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹, Gonzalez-Valencia et al. (2013).

Moreover, high CH₄ concentrations upstream of the weirs probably influenced CH₄ emissions downstream of the weirs, where emissions were significantly higher than from unaffected river sites. This effect of dams has also been observed by Guerin et al. (2006), where CH₄ concentrations were significantly higher in river sections just below the dam with a decreasing trend downstream of the dams and CH₄ fluxes from downstream rivers were considerably higher than fluxes from the reservoir surface. Although methane loss mediated by degassing at weirs can reach high efficiencies, up to 80% of CH₄ contained in surface water, river downstream of the weirs still remained affected by increased CH₄ concentration (Abril et al., 2005; Richard et al., 2005). The CH₄ concentration decrease between surface water upstream of the weir and downstream of the weir observed in our study was on average 5.5% ranging from 0 to 32%. Consequently, downstream emissions together with degassing at weirs can represent a dominant part of the total emissions (Li and Zhang, 2014) and therefore, it is important to consider all these components when studying the effect of impoundment on CH₄ emissions. Likewise it is clear, that small impoundments significantly increase the importance of rivers as a substantial source of CH₄ to atmosphere.

It has been shown that estimation of CH₄ ebullition and diffusion through the air-water interface is more accurate in case of long term measurements for days or weeks (Joyce and Jewell, 2003; Maeck et al., 2014), because afternoon fluxes could be approximately twice as high as fluxes near sunset and sunrise (Bastviken et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2012). During warmer periods ebullition becomes more important because higher water temperatures, higher CH₄ concentrations and lower gas solubility (Crill, 1996). Ebullition accounted for 74.5% of total CH₄ release to the atmosphere in this study, while wide range of ebullition contribution to total emissions have been reported for rivers (10–80%; Wilcock and Sorrel, 2008; Baulch et al., 2011; Sawakuchi et al., 2014) and lakes (28–98%; Casper et al., 2000; Bastviken et al., 2004; Bastviken et al., 2010).

The CH₄ content in bubbles, which ranged from 16.2 to 61.1%, was comparable to existing literature values from various freshwater ecosystems: streams 26% (Baulch et al., 2011), lakes 44–88% (Casper et al., 2000), and reservoirs 0.001–69% (Deshmukh et al., 2014). Remaining bubble content is usually formed by N₂ and CO₂ (Casper et al., 2000). Ebullition probably contributed to considerable difference in total CH₄ emissions observed between sites upstream of the weirs and river reaches just below the weirs (see above). The CH₄ released in bubbles does not dissolve to surface water in large extent in a shallow water column (McGinnis et al., 2006). Therefore, river sites with similar surface CH₄ to the atmosphere.

5. Conclusions

The CH₄ dynamics of a river continuum are dramatically impacted by the introduction of weir (compare Fig. 5). In general we see increased microbial activities in the weir sediments affecting methanogenic as well as methanotrophic potentials, resulting in increased emissions at the weir (via diffusion and especially ebullition) and downstream river reaches. Many parameters found for weirs resemble observations for lake systems (reduced water velocity, fine sediment fraction, higher sediment carbon content, high CH₄ production potentials, ebullition of CH₄, high contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis, high methanotrophic potentials in the sediment as well as in the water). In contrast CH₄ production in the sediments of the other river sections was an order of magnitude lower and characterised by a higher contribution of acetoclastic methanogenesis. The CH₄ emissions within the 16 km river stretch varied over four orders of magnitude, with a peak for the weirs and lower emissions from the other river sections.

Altogether our results confirm that the CH₄ dynamics in a river system show a high local variability and that multiple measurements are needed to characterize the sources and fates of the CH₄. Overall, CH₄ emissions from average weir impoundment can reach up to 42 times higher values than from the river section of an equal area. Therefore, sampling carried out regardless of occurrence of small impoundments can considerably underestimate CH₄ emissions to atmosphere from lotic ecosystems and the importance of these barriers for river CH₄ dynamic.

Acknowledgements

We thank Zdeněk Mačát for the help with field sampling. Peter Claus is acknowledged for technical assistance and for HPLC–IRMS analysis. This study was financially supported by the Palacký University grant IGA_PrF_2014010 and IGA_PrF_2015_008; Endowment Fund of Palacký University, Olomouc; project GAJU 145/2013/D and by project GAČR-13-00243S (PI-K. Šimek). We thank Faculty of Science University of South Bohemia and the Biology Centre CAS for the possibility to process our analyses. David Harper is acknowledged for language correction.

References

- Abril, G., Guerin, F., Richard, S., Delmas, R., Galy-Lacaux, C., Gosse, P., Tremblay, A., Varfalvy, L, et al., 2005. Carbon dioxide and methane emissions and the carbon budget of a 10-year old tropical reservoir (Petit Saut, French Guiana). Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 19, GB4007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2005GB002457.
- Anthony, S.E., Prahl, F.G., Peterson, T.D., 2012. Methane dynamics in the Willamette River, Oregon. Limnol. Oceanogr. 57:1517–1530. http://dx.doi.org/10.4319/lo.2012.57.5.1517.
- Avery, G.B., Martens, ChS, 1999. Controls on the stable carbon isotopic composition of biogenic methane produced in a tidal freshwater estaurine sediment. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 63, 1075–1082.
- Baker, M.A., Dahm, C.N., Vallet, H.M., 1999. Acetate retention and metabolism in the hyporheic zone of a mountain stream. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44 (6), 1530–1539.
- Bastviken, D., Cole, J., Pace, M., Tranvik, L., 2004. Methane emissions from lakes: dependence of lake characteristics, two regional assessments, and a global estimate. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 18, GB4009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2004GB002238.
- Bastviken, D., Santoro, A.L., Marotta, H., Pinho, L.Q., Calheiros, D.F., Crill, P., Enrich-Prast, A., 2010. Methane emissions from Pantanal, South America, during the low water season: toward more comprehensive sampling. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44:5450–5455. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es1005048.
- Bastviken, D., Tranvik, L.J., Downing, J.A., Crill, P.M., Prast, A.E., 2011. Freshwater methane emissions offset the continental carbon sink. Science 331:50. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1126/science.1196808.
- Baulch, H.M., Dillon, P.J., Maranger, R., Schiff, S.L., 2011. Diffusive and ebullitive transport of methane and nitrous oxide from streams: are bubble-mediated fluxes important? J. Geophys. Res. 116, G04028. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2011JG001656.
- Bednařík, A., Čáp, L., Maier, V., Rulík, M., 2015. Contribution of methane benthic and atmospheric fluxes of an experimental area (Sitka stream). Clean: Soil, Air, Water 43: 1136–1142. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/clen.201300982.
- Blaser, M., Dreisbach, L.K., Conrad, R., 2013. Carbon isotope fractionation of 11 acetogenic strains grown on H₂ and CO₂. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:1787–1794. http://dx.doi. org/10.1128/AEM.03203-12.
- Blott, S.J., Pye, K., 2001. Gradistat: a grain size distribution and statistics package for the analysis of unconsolidated sediments. Earth Surf. Process. Landf. 26:1237–1248. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.261.

- Bodmer, P., Heinz, M., Pusch, M., Singer, G., Premke, K., 2016. Carbon dynamics and their link to dissolved organic matter quality across contrasting stream ecosystems. Sci. Total Environ. 553:574–586. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.095.
- Borges, A.V., Darchambeau, F., Teodoru, C.R., Marwick, T.R., Tamooh, F., Geeraert, N., Omengo, F.O., Guérin, F., Lambert, T., Morana, C., Okuku, E., Bouillon, S., 2015. Globally significant greenhouse-gas emissions from African inland waters. Nat. Geosci. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/NGE02486.
- Brand, W.A., 1996. High precision isotope ratio monitoring techniques in mass spectrometry. J. Mass Spectrom. 31, 225–235.
- Broecker, W.S., Peng, T.H., 1974. Gas exchange rates between air and sea. Tellus 26, 21–35. Bussmann, I., 2013. Distribution of methane in the Lena Delta and Buor-Khaya Bay, Russia.
- Biogeosciences 10:4641–4652. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-4641-2013.
 Bussmann, I., Matoušů, A., Osudar, R., MauS, 2015. Assessment of the radio ³H–CH₄ tracer technique to measure aerobic methane oxidation in the water column. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 13:312–327. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/lom3.10027.
- Casper, P., Maberly, S.C., Hall, G.H., Finlay, B.J., 2000. Fluxes of methane and carbon dioxide from a small productive lake to the atmosphere. Biogeochemistry 49, 1–19.
- Ciais, P., Sabine, C., et al., 2013. Carbon and other biogeochemical cycles. In: Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., et al. (Eds.), Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Conrad, R., 1999. Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 28, 193–202.
- Conrad, R., 2005. Quantification of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotopic signatures: a review and a proposal. Org. Geochem. 36:739–752. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2004.09.006.
- Conrad, R., Klose, M., 2011. Stable carbon isotope discrimination in rice field soil during acetate turnover by syntrophic acetate oxidation or acetoclastic methanogenesis. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 75:1531–1539. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2010.12. 019.
- Conrad, R., Klose, M., Claus, P., 2002. Pathway of CH₄ formation in anoxic rice field soil and rice roots determined by ¹³C-stable isotope fractionation. Chemosphere 47:797–806. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(02)00120-0.
- Conrad, R., Claus, P., Casper, P., 2009. Characterization of stable isotope fractionation during methane production in the sediment of a eutrophic lake, Lake Dagow, Germany. Limnol. Oceanogr. 54:457–471. http://dx.doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.2.0457.
- Conrad, R., Noll, M., Claus, P., Klose, M., Bastos, W.R., Enrich-Prast, A., 2011. Stable carbon isotope discrimination and microbiology of methane formation in tropical anoxic lake sediments. Biogeosciences 8:795–814. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-8-795-2011.
- Conrad, R., Ji, Y., Noll, M., Klose, M., Claus, P., Enrich-Prast, A., 2014. Response of the methanogenic microbial communities in Amazonian oxbow lake sediments to desiccation stress. Environ. Microbiol. 16:1682–1694. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920. 12267.
- Crawford, J.T., Stanley, E.H., Spawn, S.A., Finlay, J.C., Loken, L.C., Striegl, R.G., 2014. Ebullitive methane emissions from oxygenated wetland streams. Glob. Chang. Biol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12614.
- Crill, P.M., 1996. Latitudinal differences in methane fluxes from natural wetlands. Mitt Internat Verein Limnol. 25, 163–171.
- Dahm, C.N., Carr, D.L., Coleman, R.L., 1991. Anaerobic carbon cycling in stream ecosystems. Verh Internat Verein Limnol. 24, 1600–1604.
- De Angelis, M.A., Scranton, M.I., 1993. Fate of methane in the Hudson River and Estuary. Glob. Chang. Biol. 7 (3), 509–523.
- DelSontro, T., McGinnis, D.F., Sobek, S., Ostrovsky, I., Wehrli, B., 2010. Extreme methane emissions from a miss hydropower reservoir: contribution from bubbling sediments. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44:2419–2425. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es9031369.
- DelSontro, T., Kunz, M.J., Kempter, T., Wüest, A., Wehrli, B., Senn, D.B., 2011. Spatial heterogeneity of methane ebullition in a large tropical reservoir. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45:9866–9873. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es2005545.
- Deshmukh, C., Serça, D., Delon, C., Tardif, R., Demarty, M., Jarnot, C., Meyerfeld, Y., Chanudet, V., et al., 2014. Physical controls on CH₄ emissions from a newly flooded subtropical freshwater hydroelectric reservoir: Nam Theun 2. Biogeosciences 11: 4251–4269. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-4251-2014.
- Downing, J.A., Prairie, Y.T., Cole, J., Duarte, C.M., Tranvik, L.J., Striegl, R.G., McDowell, W.H., Kortelainen, P., et al., 2006. The global abundance and size distribution of lakes, ponds, and impoundments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51:2388–2397. http://dx.doi.org/10. 4319/lo.2006.51.5.2388.
- Downing, J.A., Cole, J.J., Middelburg, J.J., Striegl, R.G., Duarte, C.M., Kortelainen, P., Prairie, Y.T., Laube, K.A., 2008. Sediment organic carbon burial in agriculturally eutrophic impoundments over the last century. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, GB1018. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1029/2006GB002854.
- Duc, N.T., Crill, P., Bastviken, D., 2010. Implications of temperature and sediment characteristics on methane formation and oxidation in lake sediments. Biogeochemistry 100:185–196. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10533-010-9415-8.
- Dzyuban, A.N., 2011. Methane and its transformation processes in water of some tributaries of the Rybinsk reservoir. Water Res. 38:615–620. http://dx.doi.org/10.1134/ S0097807811050046.
- Fey, A., Claus, P., Conrad, R., 2004. Temporal change of ¹³C-isotope signatures and methanogenic pathways in rice field soil incubated anoxically at different temperatures. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 68:293–306. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(03)00426-5.
- Fischer, H., Kloep, F., Wilzcek, S., Pusch, M.T., 2005. A river's liver microbial processes within the hyporheic zone of a large lowland river. Biogeochemistry 76:349–371. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10533-005-6896-y.
- Fortescue, G.E., Pearson, J.R.A., 1967. On gas absorption into a turbulent liquid. Chem. Eng. Sci. 22, 1163–1176.

- Galand, P.E., Fritze, H., Conrad, R., Yrjälä, K., 2005. Pathways for methanogenesis and diversity of methanogenic archaea in three boreal peatland ecosystems. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71:2195–2198. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.4.2195-2198.2005.
- Galand, P.E., Yrjälä, K., Conrad, R., 2010. Stable carbon isotope fractionation during methanogenesis in three boreal peatland ecosystems. Biogeosciences 7:3893–3900. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-3893-2010.
- Gao, Y., Wang, B., Liu, X., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., Jiang, Y.X., Wang, F.S., 2013. Impacts of river impoundment on the riverine water chemistry composition and their response to chemical weathering rate. Front. Earth Sci. 7:351–360. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11707-013-0366-y.
- Gebert, J., Köthe, H., Gröngröft, A., 2006. Prognosis of methane formation by river sediments. J. Soils Sediments 6:75–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.1065/jss2006.04.153.
- Goevert, D., Conrad, R., 2009. Effect of substrate concentration on carbon isotope fractionation during acetoclastic methanogenesis by *Methanosarcina barkeri* and M. acetivorans and in rice field soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75:2605–2612. http://dx. doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02680-08.
- Gonzalez-Valencia, R., Sepulveda-Jauregui, A., Martinez-Cruz, K., Hoyos-Santillan, J., Dendooven, L., Thalasso, F., 2013. Methane emissions from Mexican freshwater bodies: correlations with water pollution. Hydrobiologia http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s10750-013-1632-4.
- Guerin, F., Abril, G., Richard, S., Burban, B., Reynouard, C., Seyler, P., Delmas, R., 2006. Methane and carbon dioxide emissions from tropical reservoirs: significance of downstream rivers. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33, L21407. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/ 2006GL027929.
- Hayes, J.M., 1993. Factors controlling C-13 contents of sedimentary organic-compounds principles and evidence. Mar. Geol. 113, 111–125.
- Holgerson, M.A., Raymond, P.A., 2016. Large contribution to inland water CO₂ and CH₄ emissions from very small ponds. Nat. Geosci. 9:222–226. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1038/ngeo2654.
- Huttunen, J.T., Väisänen, T.S., Hellsten, S.K., Martikainen, P.J., 2006. Methane fluxes at the sediment-water interface in some boreal lakes and reservoirs. Boreal Environ. Res. 11, 27–34.
- Janssen, P.H., Frenzel, P., 1997. Inhibition of methanogenesis by methyl fluoride: studies of pure and defined mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63, 4552–4557.
- Joyce, J., Jewell, P.W., 2003. Physical controls on methane ebullition from reservoirs and lakes. Environ. Eng. Geosci. 9 (2), 167–178.
- Karakashev, D., Batstone, D.J., Trably, E., Angelidaki, I., 2006. Acetate oxidation is the dominant methanogenic pathway from acetate in the absence of *Methanosaetaceae*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72 (7):5138–5141. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00489-06.
- Kattel, G.R., Dong, X., Yang, X., 2016. A century-scale, human-induced ecohydrological evolution of wetlands of two large river basins in Australia (Murray) and China (Yangtze). Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 20:2151–2168. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/hess-20-2151-2016.
- Krummen, M., Hilkert, A.W., Juchelka, D., Duhr, A., Schluter, H.J., Pesch, R., 2004. A new concept for isotope ratio monitoring liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 18:2260–2266. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/rcm.1620.
- Li, S., Zhang, Q., 2014. Carbon emission from global hydroelectric reservoirs revisited. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21:13636–13641. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3165-4.
- Lilley, M.D., de Angelis, M.A., Olson, E.J., 1995. Methane concentrations and estimated fluxes from Pacific Northwest rivers. Mitt Internat Verein Limnol. 25, 187–196.
- Louis, V.L.S., Kelly, C.A., Duchemin, E., Rudd, J.W.M., Rosenberg, D.M., 2000. Reservoir surfaces as sources of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere: a global estimate. Bioscience 50:766–775. http://dx.doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0766:RSASOG]2.0.C.
- Mach, V., Blaser, M., Claus, P., Chaudhary, P.P., Rulik, M., 2015. Methane production potentials, pathways, and communities of methanogens in vertical sediment profiles of river Sitka. Front. Microbiol. 6:506. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00506.
- Mach, V., Bednařík, A., Čáp, L., Šipoš, J., Rulík, M., 2016. Seasonal measurement of greenhouse gas concentrations and emissions along the longitudinal profile of small stream. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 25 (5):2047–2056. http://dx.doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/ 61668.
- Maeck, A., DelSontro, T., McGinnis, D.F., Fischer, H., Flury, S., Schmidt, M., Fietzek, P., Lorke, A., 2013. Sediment trapping by dams creates methane emission hot spots. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47:8130–8137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es4003907.
- Maeck, A., Hofmann, H., Lorke, A., 2014. Pumping methane out of aquatic sediments ebullition forcing mechanisms in an impounded river. Biogeosciences 11:2925–2938. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-2925-2014.
- McGinnis, D.F., Greinert, J., Artemov, Y., Beaubien, S.E., Wüest, A., 2006. Fate of rising methane bubbles in stratified waters: how much methane reaches the atmosphere? J. Geophys. Res. 11, C09007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2005[C003183.
- McGinnis, D.F., Kirillin, G., Tang, K.W., Flury, S., Bodmer, P., Engelhardt, Ch., Casper, P., Grossart, H.P., 2014. Enhancing surface methane fluxes from an oligotrophic lake: exploring the microbubble hypothesis. Environ. Sci. Technol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ es503385d.
- Murase, J., Sugimuto, A., 2001. Spatial distribution of methane in the Lake Biwa sediments and its carbon isotopic compositions. Geochem. J. 35:257–263. http://dx.doi.org/10. 2343/geochemj.35.257.

- Ogbeibu, A.E., Oribhabor, B.J., 2002. Ecological impact of river impoundment using benthic macro-invertebrates as indicators. Water Res. 36:2427–2436. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/S0043-1354(01)00489-4.
- Ortiz-Llorente, M.J., Alvarez-Cobelas, M., 2012. Comparison of biogenic methane emissions from unmanaged estuaries, lakes, oceans, rivers and wetlands. Atmos. Environ. 59:328–337. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.05.031.
- Penger, J., Conrad, R., Blaser, M., 2012. Stable carbon isotope fractionation by methylotrophic methanogenic archaea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78:7596–7602. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01773-12.
- Penger, J., Conrad, R., Blaser, M., 2014. Stable carbon isotope fractionation of six strongly fractionating microorganisms is not affected by growth temperature under laboratory conditions. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 140:95–105. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. gca.2014.05.015.
- Richard, S., Grégoire, A., Gosse, P., 2005. The efficiency of an artificial weir in oxygenating and removing CH₄ from water released by the Petit Saut hydroelectric dam (French Guiana). Rev. Sci. Eau 18:127–141. http://dx.doi.org/10.7202/705580ar.
- Rickard, Ch., Day, R., Purseglove, J., 2003. River Weirs Good Practice Guide. R&D Publication (157 pp).
- Rulík, M., Bednařík, A., Mach, V., Brablcová, L., Buriánková, I., Badurová, P., Gratzová, K., 2013. Methanogenic system of a small lowland stream Sitka, Czech Republic, In: Matovic, M.D. (Ed.), Biomass Now – Cultivation and Utilization (chapter 17). InTech, Rijeka, pp. 395–426.
- Saarnio, S., Winiwarter, W., Leita, J., 2009. Methane release from wetlands and watercourses in Europe. Atmos. Environ. 43:1421–1429. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. atmosenv.2008.04.007.
- Sanders, I.A., Heppell, C.M., Cotton, A., Wharton, G., Hildrew, A.G., Flowers, E.J., Trimmer, M., 2007. Emission of methane from chalk streams has potential implications for agricultural practices. Freshw. Biol. 52:1176–1186. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01745.x.
- Sawakuchi, H.O., Bastviken, D., Sawakuchi, A.O., Krusche, A.V., Ballester, M.V.R., Richey, J.E., 2014. Methane emissions from Amazonian rivers and their contribution to the global methane budget. Glob. Chang. Biol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12646.
- Scavino, A.F., Ji, Y., Pump, J., Klose, M., Claus, P., Conrad, R., 2013. Structure and function of the methanogenic microbial communities in Uruguayan soils shifted between pasture and irrigated rice fields. Environ. Microbiol. 15:2588–2602. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/1462-2920.12161.
- Silvennoinen, H., Liikanen, A., Rintala, J., Martikainen, P.J., 2008. Greenhouse gas fluxes from eutrophic Temmesjoki River and its Estuary in the Liminganlahti Bay (the Baltic Sea). Biogeochemistry 90:193–208. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10533-008-9244-1.
- Sobek, S., DelSontro, T., Wongfun, N., Wehrli, B., 2012. Extreme organic carbon burial fuels intense methane bubbling in a temperate reservoir. Geophys. Res. Lett. 39, L01401. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2011GL050144.
- Sollberger, S., Corella, J.P., Girardclos, S., Randlett, M.E., Schubert, C.J., Senn, D.B., Wehrli, B., DelSontro, T., 2014. Spatial heterogeneity of benthic methane dynamics in the subaquatic canyons of the Rhone River Delta (Lake Geneva). Aquat. Sci. 76 (Suppl. 1): S89–S101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00027-013-0319-2.
- Stanley, E.H., Casson, N.J., Christel, S.T., Crawford, J.T., Loken, J.C., Oliver, S.K., 2016. The ecology of methane in streams and rivers: patterns, controls, and global significance. Ecol. Monogr. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/15-1027.1.
- StatSoft, Inc, 2013. STATISTICA (data analysis software system). (version 12). www. statsoft.com.
- Striegl, R.G., Dornblaser, M.M., McDonald, C.P., Rover, J.R., Stets, E.G., 2012. Carbon dioxide and methane emissions from the Yukon River system. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 26, GB0E05. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2012GB004306.
- Trimmer, M., Sanders, I.A., Heppell, C.M., 2009. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in a vegetated lowland chalk river impacted by sediment. Hydrol. Process. 23:2225–2238. http://dx. doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7276.
- Wang, D.Q., Chen, Z.L., Sun, W.W., Hu, B.B., Xu, S.Y., 2009. Methane and nitrous oxide concentration and emission flux of Yangtze Delta plain river net. Sci. China, Ser. B: Chem. 52:652–661. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11426-009-0024-0.
- Wanninkhof, R., 1992. Relationship between wind-speed and gas-exchange over the ocean. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 97, 7373–7382.
- Wilcock, R.J., Sorrel, B.K., 2008. Emissions of greenhouse gases CH₄ and N₂O from lowgradient streams in agriculturally developed catchments. Water Air Soil Pollut. 188: 155–170. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11270-007-9532-8.
- Yang, S.S., 1998. Methane production in river and lake sediments in Taiwan. Environ. Geochem. Health 20, 245–249.
- Yang, L.B., Li, X.Y., Yan, W.J., Ma, P., Wang, J.N., 2012. CH₄ concentrations and emissions from three rivers in the Chaohu Lake watershed in Southeast China. J. Integr. Agric. 11:665–673. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(12)60054-9.
- Yvon-Durocher, G., Montoya, J.M., Woodward, G., Jones, J.I., Trimmer, M., 2011. Warming increases the proportion of primary production emitted as methane from freshwater mesocosms. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17:1225–1234. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486. 2010.02289.x.
- Zinder, S.H., 1993. Physiological ecology of methanogens. In: Ferry, J.B. (Ed.), Methanogenesis: Ecology, Physiology, Biochemistry and Genetics. Chapman & Hall, New York, NY, USA.

7.3. Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the small river impoundment

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Rulík M (2019): Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the small river impoundment. Journal of Limnology (*in press*). https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2019.1898



Methane dynamics in aquatic sediments

Methane formation and consumption by sediments in a cross-channel profile of a small river impoundment

Adam Bednařík,^{1*} Martin Blaser,² Martin Rulík¹

¹Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Laboratory of Aquatic Microbial Ecology, Palacky University of Olomouc, Czech Republic ²Department of Biogeochemistry, Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology, Marburg, Germany

*Corresponding author: adambednarik01@gmail.com

Key words: Methane; river impoundment; methane production; river sediment; methanogenic pathways.

Edited by: Franco Tassi, University of Florence, Italy

ABSTRACT

Rivers are a natural source of methane (CH₄) into the atmosphere and may contribute significantly to total CH₄ emissions. Even though the details of sources of CH₄ in rivers are not fully understood, weirs have been recognized as a hotspot of CH₄ emissions. In this study, we investigated CH₄ production and consumption in air-exposed river sediments along a cross-channel transect located upstream of a weir. Stable carbon isotopes were used for determination of individual methanogenic pathways. In order to understand the relationship between physicochemical and biological processes, additional parameters such as organic matter, grain median size, and carbon and nitrogen content were characterized as well. Generally, samples from the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) had higher CH₄ production than sediments from the deeper layer (10-20 cm) during the incubation experiments. Sediments near the bank zones and in the mid-channel were characterized by the highest organic carbon content (6.9 %) as well the highest methanogenic activity (2.5 mmol g⁻¹ DW d⁻¹). The CH₄ production was predominated by H₂/CO₂ dependent methanogenesis in the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm),

while the proportion of acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in the deeper sediment layer (10-20 cm) was balanced. The CH₄ oxidation potential of sediments showed the same spatial pattern as observed for the CH₄ production. Our results showed high spatial variability of sediment CH₄ production and oxidation in the cross-channel profile upstream of the weir, whereas the highest CH₄ dynamics were observed in the littoral zones. This variability was closely linked with the carbon and nitrogen content in the sediment samples.

INTRODUCTION

Inland freshwater habitats including streams and rivers have been recognized to be an important source of methane (CH₄) into the atmosphere (Bastviken *et al.*, 2011; IPCC, 2013; Deemer *et al.*, 2016). Recent studies show that impounded river zones are CH₄ emission "hotspots", significantly enhancing our estimations of CH₄ emissions from rivers (Maeck *et al.*,; 2013, Wilkinson *et al.*, 2015). River reaches immediately upstream of impoundments are characterized by significantly changed physicochemical parameters of the water, creating transitions between lentic and lotic water ecosystems (Gao *et al.*, 2013). For example, Ogbeibu and Oribhabor (2002) found significantly lower water transparency, current velocity and concentration of dissolved oxygen in reservoirs compared to rivers. The CH₄ emitted from these sites is mostly derived from sediment CH₄ production resulting from an increased sedimentary activity upstream of the impoundments (Barth *et al.*, 2003; Maeck *et al.*, 2013). However, spatial variability of CH₄ production and oxidation in these environments is poorly understood, as is the contribution of individual methanogenic pathways to the total CH₄ production.

In principal, CH₄ is produced during anaerobic degradation of organic matter in freshwater sediments (Zinder, 1993). Anaerobic degradation of carbohydrates results in two dominant intermediates (H₂/CO₂ and acetate), which are further processed by two different metabolic pathways of CH₄ production - hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (using H₂/CO₂) and acetoclastic methanogenesis (using acetate). Quantification of the relative contribution of both sources can be made by using stable carbon isotopic signals, due to different ¹³C/¹²C fractionation during conversion of CO₂ and acetate methyl to CH₄ (Conrad, 2005). Contribution of these methanogenesic pathways to total CH₄ production differs in various freshwater habitats. A fraction of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is usually prevailing in lake sediments (Conrad



et al., 2011), while acetoclastic methanogenesis dominates in rice paddy soils (Scavino *et al.*, 2013) and peatlands (Galand *et al.*, 2010).

Studies dealing with the spatial variability of CH₄ production in the sediments of lakes, reservoirs and rivers emphasize littoral zones as main sites of methanogenic activity (Bastviken *et al.*, 2008; Musenze *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2014). Murase *et al.* (2005) found that littoral sediments of lakes can reach substantially higher CH₄ production than profundal sediments, and further served as a source of dissolved CH₄ in lakes together with tributary rivers. Increased CH₄ release from littoral sediments is likely given by (1) greater availability of labile organic matter from the aquatic vegetation, (2) wave turbulence and bottom shear stress, which enhance sediment flux rates, and (3) higher temperatures in summer months, which in turn support higher CH₄ production rates (Bussmann, 2005; Hofmann *et al.*, 2010).

Similarly, there is an evident spatial distribution of surface water CH₄ concentration in large rivers. Richey et al. (1988) and Anthony et al. (2012) have shown CH₄ cross-channel gradients with increased CH₄ concentrations observed nearby the banks compared to mid-channel, while Sawakuchi et al. (2014) observed a different trend in the Amazon and Pará rivers, with high mid-channel CH₄ concentrations and fluxes. However, the cross-channel variability of CH₄ is not usually included in river studies because the mixing of the entire water column in streams and rivers is assumed. Studies dealing with the spatial distribution of CH₄ in the sediments of rivers report higher CH₄ concentration in pore water of nearshore and riparian habitats, while the hyporheic sediments in mid-channel have usually lower CH4 concentrations (Jones et al., 1995; Crawford *et al.*, 2014). This pattern probably results from the different rate of water exchange between surface water and sediments, leading to oxygen depletion in the uppermost sediment layer of nearshore habitats (Malard et al., 2002), while the sediments on the central river bottom are oxygenated to a large depth due to rapid vertical hydrological exchange with the flowing water column (Fischer et al., 2005). Consequently, oxygen depletion together with high sedimentation rate and supply of allochthonous labile organic matter from the riparian vegetation creates suitable conditions for high methanogenic activity in nearshore sediments (Jones et al., 1995; Jones and Mulholland, 1998; Stanley et al., 2016). However, it should be noted that microbial activity in total (i.e. including aerobic and anaerobic bacterial metabolism) is highest in the central channel, only due to connectivity with the surface water, which supplies the organic matter into deeper sediment layers (Fischer et al., 2005).

Our previous study revealed a significant effect of weir impoundments on methane river dynamics (production, oxidation, emission, methanogenic pathways) compared to usual river reaches (Bednařík *et al.*, 2017), but a study describing the cross-channel variability of CH₄ in

epress

the sediments upstream of weirs is not known to us. Hence, the overall aim of this study was to get more detailed information about the spatial variability of CH₄-related processes in a river impoundment. For this purpose, we examined 1) CH₄ production and oxidation rates of the sediments; 2) relationships between environmental variables; and 3) contribution of the methanogenic pathways to total CH₄ production using stable carbon isotopes, all in a cross-channel profile and two different sediment depths of a small river impoundment in Central Europe.

METHODS

Study site and sampling

The study area was located upstream of a weir situated in the Morava River, Czech Republic (Fig. 1; 49°35′12′′N, 17°15′43′′E). The Morava River is a seventh-order river (according to Strahler, 1957) with a mean annual water discharge of 26.4 m³ s⁻¹ in the area of our study site. The impoundment upstream of the weir is 40 m width at its widest point, and has a maximum depth of 3.2 m. The backwater length is approximately 2.6 km. Riparian vegetation is composed mainly by grasses, including reeds and willows. The river channel was without any aquatic macrophytes.

Sediment samples were collected along the cross-section profile of the impoundment (Fig. 2). Triplicates were taken by a piston corer from eight different distances from the bank line to the mid-channel (0 m, 2 m, 4 m, 6 m, 8 m, 10 m, 12 m, 14 m) and from two sediment depths (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm) for each distance. Samples were collected during artificial reduction of the water level in July 2014 caused by weir manipulation, and allowing efficient and accurate sediment sampling when the sediments were shortly exposed to air.

Incubation experiments

Sediments intended for incubation experiments were sieved through a 1-mm sieve to remove coarse detritus, stones or invertebrates, and stored at 4 °C until subsequent analyses and laboratory experiments were carried out. Samples for granulometric analysis were dried and then sieved through a system of ten sieves of decreasing mesh sizes. All separate fractions of the sediment grain sizes were weighed, and grain median size was analyzed using the software Gradistat (version 8.0) (Blott and Pye, 2001). The C, N, and H content of the sediments was quantified on a CHNS-element analyzer (vario MICRO cube, Hanau) by the Analytical Chemical Laboratory of the University of Marburg, Germany. The dry weight of the sample was determined gravimetrically.



For determination of CH₄ production potential and methanogenic pathways, approximately 30 g (wet weight) of the sediments were transferred into 60-ml sterile serum bottles in triplicates, flushed with N₂, closed with butyl rubber stoppers and incubated at 25 °C in a dark room. At the start of the incubation (before flushing with N₂), 5 ml of distilled autoclaved water was added into each bottle for sampling of the liquid phase. The liquid phase was sampled at the end of the incubation for analyses of concentration and δ^{13} C of acetate. The gas headspace of half of the bottles was supplemented with 3% CH₃F to specifically inhibit acetotrophic methanogenesis (Janssen and Frenzel, 1997). Gas samples (200 µl) were taken repeatedly (twice a week) during the course of incubation (4-6 weeks) and analyzed for concentrations of CH₄, CO₂, and δ^{13} C of CH₄ and CO₂. The CH₄ concentration was analyzed by gas chromatography (GC) using a flame ionization detector (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) and CO₂ concentration was analyzed after conversion to CH₄ with a methanizer (Ni-catalystat 350 °C, Chrompack, Middelburg, the Netherlands).

Twenty grams (wet weight) of sediment samples for determination of the CH₄ oxidation potential were placed in sterile bottles (250 ml) in triplicates, closed by a cap with PTFE silicone septa with ambient air in the headspace and then supplemented with CH₄ to give a final concentration of 10 000 ppm. The incubation was performed at 25 °C in a dark room. The concentration of CH₄ in the headspace of each bottle was measured at 0 h and then ten times over 190 h. The CH₄ production and oxidation potentials were calculated from the slope of CH₄ concentration change over time.

Isotopic analyses and calculations

Isotope measurements of ¹³C/¹²C in gas samples were performed on a gas chromatograph combustion isotope ratio mass spectrometer (GC-C-IRMS) system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). The principal operation has been described by Brand (Brand, 1996). Other details are given in Penger *et al.* (2012) and Blaser *et al.* (2013). Isotopic analysis and quantification of acetate were performed on a high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) system (Spectra System P1000 [Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA]; Mistral [Spark, Emmen, Netherlands]) equipped with an ion-exclusion column (Aminex HPX-87-H, BioRad, München, Germany) and coupled to Finnigan LC IsoLink (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) as described by Krummen *et al.*, 2004. Isotope ratios were detected on an IRMS (Finnigan MAT Deltaplus Advantage).



Isotopic calculations of fractionation factors and estimation of the approximate partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis to total methanogenesis were calculated according to a previously published procedure (Conrad, 2005; Blaser and Conrad, 2016).

In principal, partition of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis was calculated by the following mass balance equation:

$$f_{mc} = (\delta_{CH_4} - \delta_{ma}) / (\delta_{mc} - \delta_{ma})$$
(eq. 1)

where f_{mc} is the fraction of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis; δ_{CH4} is the directly measured isotopic signature of the carbon in CH₄; δ_{mc} is the carbon isotopic signature of CH₄ solely produced from CO₂ (directly measured from assays inhibited by methylfluoride) and δ_{ma} is the carbon isotopic signature of CH₄ solely produced from acetate, the latter calculated from the following equation:

$$\delta_{ma} = (1/\alpha_{ma})(\delta_{ac} + 10^3 - \alpha_{ma}10^3)$$
 (eq. 2)

where α_{ma} is the fractionation factor for acetoclastic methanogenesis ($\alpha_{ma} = 1.009$; Goevert and Conrad, 2009) and δ_{ac} is the measured isotopic signal of acetate.

Statistical analysis

Data analyses were performed using the software STATISTICA 12 (StatSoft, 2013). The Mann-Whitney U test was used for examination of differences between surface and deeper sediment layers, as well as between individual distances from the bank. Spearman's correlation analysis was used to find the relationship between variables. The significance level of P<0.05 was applied for all statistical analyses.



RESULTS

Sediment characteristics

The median grain size of sediments ranged from 0.3 to 9.8 mm, and it was significantly smaller at the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm; mean 2.4 ± 0.95 mm) compared to deeper sediments (10-20 cm; mean 6.5 ± 1.3 mm) (P<0.05). The carbon content ranged from 0.1 to 7.0 % and it was significantly higher in the surface sediment layer (mean 2.5 ± 0.6 %) compared to deeper sediments (mean 1.1 ± 0.5 %) (P<0.05). Similarly, the nitrogen content ranged from 0.01 to 0.67 % and was significantly higher in the surface sediment layer (mean 0.24 ± 0.05 %) compared to deeper sediments (mean 0.11 ± 0.04 %) (P<0.05). The C/N ratio was almost the same in all samples and both sediment depths, with a mean of 10 ± 0.1 (Tab. 1).

Methane production and oxidation by sediments

Mean CH₄ production potential ranged between 0 and 2.4 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹ (Fig. 3A). The methane production of nearshore sediments (0-4 m; mean 1.3 ± 0.3 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) was significantly higher compared to the rest of the samples (6-14 m; mean 0.2 ± 0.1 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) (P< 0.05). In total, the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm; mean 0.9 ± 0.2 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) had significantly higher CH₄ production than the deeper layer (10-20 cm; mean 0.3 ± 0.2 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) (P< 0.05). Mean CH₄ oxidation potential of sediments ranged from 0.5 to 13.3 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹ and showed the same spatial pattern as observed for the CH₄ production potential (Fig. 3B). The nearshore sediments (0-4 m; mean 7.4 ± 1.1 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) had higher CH₄ oxidation potential compared to rest of the sampled sediments (6-14 m; mean 1.7 ± 0.6 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) (P< 0.05). In addition, the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm; mean 5.6 ± 1.1 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) reached significantly higher CH₄ oxidation than deeper sediments (10-20 cm; mean 2.0 ± 0.7 µmol gDW⁻¹ d⁻¹) (P< 0.05).

Samples with the highest CH₄ production rates were characterized by immediate and linear CH₄ concentration increase during the sediment incubation (Fig. 4A), while the less productive samples were characterized by a lag phase, which takes 10-13 days from the start of the incubation, followed by linear or exponential CH₄ concentration increase (Fig. 4B). The CH₄ concentration in the headspace of the vials incubated for determination of the CH₄ oxidation potential started to decrease after 7 h and continued to decrease linearly over the remaining time of the incubation (Fig. 5). The sediment CH₄ oxidation and production potentials were strongly positively correlated with the carbon content as well as with the nitrogen content in sediments, while it was negatively correlated with the median grain size (Tab. 2).

Methanogenic pathways

The mean δ^{13} C of organic matter in sediments was -27.9 ± 0.4 ‰ VPDB (n = 48) (Tab. 1). The δ^{13} C of acetate accumulated in inhibited samples (without acetoclastic methanogenesis) was on average very comparable with ¹³C of the organic matter with mean -26 ± 1.2 ‰ VPDB (n = 25). Acetate did not accumulate in uninhibited samples. The stable carbon isotopic composition of CH₄ (δ^{13} C-CH₄) produced at the end of the uninhibited incubation was on average -69.0 ± 1.6 ‰ VPDB.

The contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (f_{mc}) to CH₄ production was stable during the whole incubation time and ranged from 41 to 75 % for individual samples (Fig. 6). The CH₄ production was predominated by the H₂/CO₂-dependent methanogenic pathway in the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) with mean $f_{mc} = 56 \pm 0.02$ % at the end of the incubation (Figure 6A). However, the contribution of acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis to the total CH₄ production in the deeper sediment layer (10-20 cm) was balanced with mean $f_{mc} = 51 \pm 0.05$ % and prevalence of CH₄ production from acetate at the end of incubation of the three samples (2 m, 12 m, 14 m; Fig. 6B).

DISCUSSION

Spatial changes in CH₄ production and oxidation

In this study, we observed the highest methanogenic potential to be in the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) at the distance of 0-4 m from the banks. A similar pattern regarding the active littoral sediments has been previously reported for lakes as well as rivers and it is mostly given by hydrological isolation and increased sedimentation rate in the nearshore habitats (Fischer et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2005). Moreover, littoral vegetation not only reduces the flow velocity, but can also serve as an additional source of organic matter (Sanders et al., 2007; Stanley et al., 2016). We expected more homogenous sediment parameters in cross-channel profiles due to the overall decrease of the flow velocity upstream of the weir. However, fine grain size and higher organic carbon content in the nearshore sediments observed in our study indicate a substantially increased sedimentation rate in this habitat. Nevertheless, after the nearshore sediments (0-4m), we observed high potential CH₄ formation and oxidation rates in the midchannel surface sediments (14 m). The best possible explanation is the accumulation of the fresh sediments in mid-channel due to channel morphology, as the mid-channel habitat is the deepest site in the cross-channel profile. In addition, the sediment characteristics (grain median size, carbon and nitrogen content) of the mid-channel samples were very similar to those from the nearshore habitat.

pagepress

The methanogenic and methanotrophic potentials of the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) were higher compared to the deeper sediment layer (10-20 cm). Generally, one would expect that better conditions for methanogens might occur in the deeper sediments, where the penetration of dissolved oxygen from the overlaying river water is lower and alternative electron acceptors such as dissolved Fe²⁺, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻ are depleted (Zehnder and Stumm, 1988). However, the results of our study suggested that availability of substrate for methanogens is the main factor driving the rate of CH₄ production, since a strong positive correlation between CH₄ production potential and organic carbon content exists (r = 0.94). High CH₄ production in the surface sediment layer is not unexpected and has previously been reported in lake sediments (Conrad *et al.*, 2009), river sediments (Mach *et al.*, 2015) and sediments of impounded river zones (Wilkinson *et al.*, 2015).

Another possible factor influencing the CH₄ production rate is likely the C/N ratio, which is frequently mentioned in studies dealing with the methanogenic activity of sediments. It was found that the total nitrogen content best reflects easily degradable organic substrates available for the methanogens and it is highly correlated with maximum methanogenesis (Yao *et al.*, 1999; Gebert *et al.*, 2006). Duc *et al.* (2010) recognized that the highest potential CH₄ formation rate is in the sediments with lower C/N ratios (<10), while the sediments with higher C/N ratios (~20) are characterized by lower CH₄ formation rates despite the high organic carbon content, which is likely associated with the lability of organic matter. In our study, we observed a similar C/N ratio (~10; Tab. 1) across all sediment samples in this study. It may indicate the same source of organic material within all samples, and also confirms that the high variability of methanogenic activity was not caused by the degradability of organic substrates in the examined sediments, but rather by the total amount and the availability of organic substrates for the methanogens.

Despite the higher CH₄ oxidation potential compared to the CH₄ production potential of all incubated sediment samples (Fig. 3), sediments represent a source of CH₄ into the surface water and the atmosphere. As suggested by Bednařík *et al.*, 2017, increased CH₄ concentrations were observed in surface water, together with high contribution of ebullition to the total CH₄ emission upstream of the weirs. The discrepancy between CH₄ production potential and CH₄ oxidation potential in sediments is given by substrate addition (CH₄) during incubation experiments. Hence, this serves mainly for a comparison of the microbial activity between individual samples and not for calculation of the net CH₄ flux from the sediments. It would be necessary to measure in-situ CH₄ benthic fluxes from the sediments to the surface water using

the benthic chamber method in order to determine the net contribution of the sediments to the surface water CH₄ (Sansone *et al.*, 1998; Bednařík *et al.*, 2015).

We assume that short exposure (several hours) of sediments to air during the reduction of water level upstream of the weir (see Methods, above) had no significant effect on the results presented in this study. Several studies have revealed that methanogenic archaea can survive in aerated and dry soils even in numbers similar to the original state (Mayer and Conrad, 1990; Fetzer *et al.*, 1993). Hernández *et al.* (2019) have recently shown that even after sediment desiccation and rewetting, stay rates and pathways of CH₄ production remain similar despite changes in the microbial community composition.

Methanogenic pathways

Generally, CH₄ production consists of three distinct phases: 1) the first is the lag phase (also reduction phase), during which most of the inorganic electron acceptors in the sediments, such as nitrate, sulfate or ferric iron, are depleted and only CO₂ is produced; 2) the methanogenic phase, characterized by strong CH₄ formation which maximally depends on the sediment characteristics; 3) in the third phase (the steady state phase), CH₄ production decreases to the stable and long-term level (Yao *et al.*, 1999; Gebert *et al.*, 2006). We observed no lag phase for the most active sediment samples where the CH₄ production was rapid. An absence of lag phase at the start of the CH₄ production could be explained either by 1) overlap of the reduction and methanogenic phases (i.e. CH₄ production started at a relatively high redox potential before the full depletion of inorganic electron acceptors; *Yao et al.*, 1999); or 2) inorganic electron acceptors was not measured in our study. Nevertheless, it has been previously shown that the total CH₄ production is strongly negatively correlated with the duration of the lag phase (Yao *et al.*, 1999), which can be completely confirmed by the results of our study.

Despite different rates of CH₄ production, the resulting contribution of individual methanogenic pathways was very similar for all examined samples of surface sediments (0-10 cm). The predominant pathway of CH₄ production in surface sediments was the consistent reduction of H₂ and CO₂ (hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis) throughout the examined samples, which is in agreement with our previous results from sites upstream of the weirs, while the river sections are characterized rather by the predominant acetoclastic methanogenesis (Avery and Martens, 1999; Mach *et al.*, 2015; Bednařík *et al.*, 2017). The stoichiometrically given portion of individual methanogenic pathways (66 % from acetate and 33 % from H₂/CO₂; Conrad, 1999)

epress

usually fits well on rice field soils (Conrad *et al.*, 2002; Fey *et al.*, 2004), but it can considerably vary throughout the different freshwater ecosystems (Murase and Sugimoto, 2001; Galand *et al.*, 2010; Conrad *et al.*, 2011). Possible explanations for the deviations in this portion are described for instance in Conrad (1999) and Conrad *et al.* (2009). In the case of higher contribution of CH₄ production from acetate, this can be easily explained by homoacetogenesis (reduction of CO₂ with H₂ via the acetyl-CoA) (Mach *et al.*, 2015), while the higher contribution of the hydrogenotrophic pathway to total CH₄ production can be given by several processes. Basically, we can exclude the not-steady-state conditions because the acetate did not accumulate in the uninhibited samples (without the addition of CH₃F). Syntrophic acetate oxidation is exceptional in freshwater sediments and unlikely to explain the major part of CH₄ production. The most probable explanation remains incomplete degradation of organic matter, i.e. an additional source of H₂, which deflects the resulting contribution of methanogenic pathways, which has been previously observed for lake sediments (Conrad *et al.*, 2009; Conrad *et al.*, 2011).

It is worth noting that hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis was not prevalent in the deeper sediment layer (10-20 cm), where the contribution of the individual methanogenic pathways was equivalent and acetoclastic methanogenesis was prevalent at the end of the incubation experiments of three samples (2 m, 12 m, 14 m). The shift in the contribution of methanogenic pathways was probably not caused by the lability or availability of organic substrate, because of the similarity of these parameters between examined sediment layers (Tab.1). One would expect that the composition of the microbial community can be important for the determination of methanogenic pathways. However, Conrad et al. (2011) have shown that the composition of microbial methanogenic communities does not correspond with the resulting contribution of individual pathways of CH₄ production. In spite of the molecular analysis of the methanogenic marker-gene (*mcrA*), which revealed a significantly different methanogenic community for the top layer in contrast to deeper layers, the contribution of individual methanogenetic pathways was very similar throughout all examined samples in Mach *et al.* (2015). Similarly, Chaudhary et al. (2017) have found no relationship between the absolute numbers of the methanogenic community and the level of CH₄ production. However, studies dealing with the varying contribution of methanogenic pathways in the vertical profile of freshwater sediments are very scarce and deserve to be considered in greater detail in further studies.



CONCLUSIONS

We found that the most productive sites in the impounded river zones are littoral sediments; as was previously reported for different freshwater habitats, including lakes and rivers. However, we also observed substantially high CH₄ production in mid-channel sediments, which is likely due to channel morphology causing the accumulation of sediment in this habitat. Hence, the methanogenic and methanotrophic activity of sediments was associated with sites with the finest median grain size of sediments and were best correlated with carbon and nitrogen content. Our results show that it is necessary to consider the sampling location for better representation of particular water habitats. Sediment samples taken only in the littoral zones of water habitats can significantly misrepresent the further extrapolation of obtained results. Considering the substantial sediment CH₄ production potential upstream of weirs, studies focusing on quantification of direct CH₄ fluxes from sediments to surface water and conducted in-situ are necessary.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Peter Claus for technical assistance and for HPLC-IRMS analysis. This study was financially supported by Palacký University grant IGA PrF 2017 015.


REFERENCES

- Anthony SE, Prahl FG, Peterson TD, 2012. Methane dynamics in the Willamette River. Oregon. Limnol. Oceanogr. 57:1517-1530.
- Avery GB, Martens ChS, 1999. Controls on the stable carbon isotopic composition of biogenic methane produced in a tidal freshwater estaurine sediment. Geochim. Cosmochim. Ac. 63:1075-1082.
- Barth JAC, Cronin AA, Dunlop J, Kalin RM, 2003. Influence of carbonates on the riverine carbon cycle in an anthropogenically dominated catchment basin: evidence from major elements and stable carbon isotopes in the Lagan River (N. Ireland). Chem. Geol. 200:203-216.
- Bastviken D, Cole JJ, Pace ML, Van de Bogert MC, 2008. Fates of methane from different lake habitats: Connecting whole-lake budgets and CH4 emissions. J. Geophys. Res. 113:G02024, doi: s10.1029/2007JG000608.
- Bastviken D, Tranvik LJ, Downing JA, Crill PM, Prast AE, 2011. Freshwater methane emissions offset the continental carbon sink. Science 331:50.
- Bednařík A, Čáp L, Maier V, Rulík M, 2015. Contribution of methane benthic and atmospheric fluxes of an experimental area (Sitka Stream). Clean Soil Air Water 43:1136-1142.
- Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M, 2017. Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river. Sci. Total Environ. 584-585:164-174.
- Blaser M, Dreisbach LK, Conrad R, 2013. Carbon isotope fractionation of 11 acetogenic strains grown on H₂ and CO₂. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:1787-1794. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03203-12
- Blaser M, Conrad R, 2016. Stable carbon isotope fractionation as tracer of carbon cycling in anoxic soil ecosystems. Curr. Opin. Biotech. 41:122-129. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2016.07.001
- Blott SJ, Pye K, 2001. Gradistat: A grain size distribution and statistics package for the analysis of unconsolidated sediments. Earth Surf. Proc. 26:1237-1248.
- Bussmann I, 2005. Methane release through resuspension of littoral sediment. Biogeochemistry. 74:283- 302. doi: 10.1007/s10533-004-2223-2.
- Brand WA, 1996. High precision isotope ratio monitoring techniques in mass spectrometry. J. Mass Spectrom. 31:225-235.
- Chaudhary PP, Rulík M, Blaser M, 2017. Is the methanogenic community reflecting the methane emissions of river sediments? comparison of two study sites. Microbiology Open. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.454.
- Conrad R, 1999. Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 28:193-202.
- Conrad R, 2005. Quantification of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotopic signatures: a review and a proposal. Org. Geochem. 36:739-752. doi: 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2004.09.006
- Conrad R, Klose M, Claus P, 2002. Pathway of CH₄ formation in anoxic rice field soil and rice roots determined by ¹³C-stable isotope fractionation. Chemosphere. 47:797-806. doi:10.1016/S0045-6535(02)00120-0
- Conrad R, Claus P, Casper P, 2009. Characterization of stable isotope fractionation during methane production in the sediment of a eutrophic lake, Lake Dagow, Germany. Limnol. Oceanogr. 54:457-471. doi: 10.4319/lo.2009.54.2.0457.
- Conrad R, Noll M, Claus P, Klose M, Bastos WR, Enrich-Prast A, 2011. Stable carbon isotope discrimination and microbiology of methane formation in tropical anoxic lake sediments. Biogeosciences. 8:795-814. doi:10.5194/bg-8-795-2011



- Crawford JT, Stanley EH, Spawn SA, Finlay JC, Loken LC, Striegl RG, 2014. Ebullitive methane emissions from oxygenated wetland streams. Glob. Chang. Biol. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12614.
- Deemer BR, Harrison JA, Li S, Beaulieu JJ, Delsontro T, Barros N, Bezerra-Neto JF, Powers SM, Dos Santos MA, Vonk JA, 2016. Greenhouse gas emissions from reservoir water surfaces: A new global synthesis. BioScience 66:949-964. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biw117
- Duc NT, Crill P, Bastviken D, 2010. Implications of temperature and sediment characteristics on methane formation and oxidation in lake sediments. Biogeochemistry 100:185-196. doi: 10.1007/s10533-010-9415-8.
- Fetzer S, Bak F, Conrad R, 1993. Sensitivity of methanogenic bacteria from paddy soil to oxygen and desiccation. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 12:107-115.
- Fey A, Claus P, Conrad R, 2004. Temporal change of ¹³C-isotope signatures and methanogenic pathways in rice field soil incubated anoxically at different temperatures. Geochim. Cosmochim. Ac. 68:293-306. doi:10.1016/S0016-7037(03)00426-5
- Fischer H, Kloep F, Wilzcek S, Pusch MT, 2005. A river's liver microbial processes within the hyporheic zone of a large lowland river. Biogeochemistry. 76:349-371.
- Galand PE, Yrjälä K, Conrad R, 2010. Stable carbon isotope fractionation during methanogenesis in three boreal peatland ecosystems. Biogeosciences 7:3893-3900. doi:10.5194/bg-7-3893-2010
- Gao Y, Wang B, Liu X, Wang Y, Zhang J, Jiang YX, Wang FS, (2013). Impacts of river impoundment on the riverine water chemistry composition and their response to chemical weathering rate. Front. Earth Sci. 7:351-360.
- Gebert J, Köthe H, Gröngröft A, 2006. Prognosis of methane formation by river sediments. J. Soils Sediments 6:75-83. doi: 10.1065/jss2006.04.153.
- Goevert D, Conrad R, 2009. Effect of substrate concentration on carbon isotope fractionation during acetoclastic methanogenesis by *Methanosarcina barkeri* and M. acetivorans and in rice field soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75:2605-2612. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02680-08
- Hernández M, Klose M, Claus P, Bastviken D, Marotta H, Figueiredo V, Enrich-Prast A, Conrad R, 2019. Structure, function and resilience to desiccation of methanogenic microbial communities in temporarily inundated soils of the Amazon rainforest (Cunia Reserve, Rondonia). Environ. Microbiol. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.14535
- Hofmann H, Federwisch L, Peeters F, 2010. Wave-induced release of methane: Littoral zones as a source of methane in lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55:1990-2000. doi:10.4319/lo.2010.55.5.1990
- IPCC. 2013. Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Janssen PH, Frenzel P, 1997. Inhibition of methanogenesis by methyl fluoride: Studies of pure and defined mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63:4552-4557.
- Jones JB, Holmes RM, Fisher SG, Grimm NB, Greene DM, 1995. Methanogenesis in Arizona, USA dryland streams. Biogeochemistry 31:155-173.
- Jones JB, Mulholland PJ, 1998. Influence of drainage basin topography and elevation on carbon dioxide and methane supersaturation of streamwater. Biogeochemistry 40:57-72.
- Krummen M, Hilkert AW, Juchelka D, Duhr A, Schluter HJ, Pesch R, 2004. A new concept for isotope ratio monitoring liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 18:2260-2266. doi: 10.1002/rcm.1620
- Mach V, Blaser M, Claus P, Chaudhary PP, Rulik M, 2015. Methane production potentials, pathways, and communities of methanogens in vertical sediment profiles of river Sitka. Front. Microbiol. 6:506. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00506



- Maeck A, DelSontro T, McGinnis DF, Fischer H, Flury S, Schmidt M, Fietzek P, Lorke A, 2013. Sediment trapping by dams creates methane emission hot spots. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47:8130-8137. doi: 10.1021/es4003907.
- Malard F, Tockner K, Dole-Olivier MJ, Ward JV, 2002. A landscape perspective of surfacesubsurface hydrological exchanges in river corridors. Freshwater Biol. 47:621-640. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2427.2002.00906.x.
- Mayer HP, Conrad R. 1990, Factors influencing the population of methanogenic bacteria and the initiation of methane production upon flooding of paddy soil. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 73: 103-112.
- Murase J, Sugimuto A, 2001. Spatial distribution of methane in the Lake Biwa sediments and its carbon isotopic compositions. Geochem. J. 35:257-263. doi: 10.2343/geochemj.35.257.
- Murase J, Sakai Y, Kametani A, Sugimoto A, 2005. Dynamics of methane in mesotrophic Lake Biwa, Japan. Ecol. Res. 20:377-385. doi:10.1007/s11284-005-0053-x.
- Musenze RS, Grinham A, Werner U, Gale D, Sturm K, Udy J and Yuan Z, 2014. Assessing the spatial and temporal variability of diffusive methane and nitrous oxide emissions from subtropical freshwater reservoirs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48:14499-14507. doi:10.1021/es505324h.
- Ogbeibu AE, Oribhabor BJ, 2002. Ecological impact of river impoundment using benthic macro-invertebrates as indicators. Water Res. 36:2427-2436. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00489-4.
- Penger J, Conrad R, Blaser M, 2012. Stable carbon isotope fractionation by methylotrophic methanogenic archaea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78:7596-7602. doi:10.1128/AEM.01773-12.
- Richey JE, Devol AH, Wofsy SC, Victoria R, Riberio MNG, 1988. Biogenic Gases and the Oxidation and Reduction of Carbon in Amazon River and Floodplain Waters. Limnol. Oceanogr., 33:551-561.
- Sanders IA, Heppell CM, Cotton JA, Wharton G, Hildrew AG, Flowers EJ, Trimmer M, 2007. Emission of methane from chalk streams has potential implications for agricultural practices. Freshwater Biol. 52:1176-1186. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01745.x.
- Sansone FJ, Rust TM, Smith SV, 1998. Methane distribution and cycling in Tomales bay, California. Estuaries 21:66-77.
- Sawakuchi HO, Bastviken D, Sawakuchi AO, Krusche AV, Ballester MVR, Richey JE, 2014. Methane emissions from Amazonian Rivers and their contribution to the global methane budget. Glob. Change Biol. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12646
- Scavino AF, Ji Y, Pump J, Klose M, Claus P, Conrad R, 2013. Structure and function of the methanogenic microbial communities in Uruguayan soils shifted between pasture and irrigated rice fields. Environ. Microbiol. 15:2588-2602. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12161
- Stanley EH, Casson NJ, Christel ST, Crawford JT, Loken LC, Oliver SK, 2016. The ecology of methane in streams and rivers: patterns, controls, and global significance. Ecol. Monogr. 86:146-171 doi: 10.1890/15-1027.1.
- Strahler A, 1957. Quantitative analysis of watershed geomorphology. Trans. Am. Geophys. Union. 38:913-920.
- StatSoft Inc., 2013. STATISTICA, data analysis software system, ver. 12. Available from: www.statsoft.com
- Wilkinson J, Maeck A, Alshboul Z, Lorke A, 2015. Continuous seasonal river ebullition measurements linked to sediment methane formation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49:13121-13129 doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b01525.
- Yang M, Geng X, Grace J, Lu C, Zhu Y, *et al.*, 2014. Spatial and seasonal CH4 flux in the littoral zone of Miyun reservoir near Beijing: The effects of water level and its fluctuation. PLoS One 9:e94275. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0094275.



- Yao H, Conrad R, Wassmann R, Neue HU, 1999. Effect of soil characteristics on sequential reduction and methane production in sixteen rice paddy soils from China, the Philippines, and Italy. Biogeochemistry 47:269-295.
- Zehnder AJB, Stumm W, 1988. Geochemistry and biogeochemistry of anaerobic habitats, p. 1-38. In: A.J.B. Zehnder (ed.), Biology of anaerobic microorganisms. Wiley, New York
- Zinder SH, 1993. Physiological ecology of methanogens, p. 128-206. In: J.FG. Ferry (ed.), Methanogenesis: Ecology, physiology, biochemistry and genetics. Springer, Boston.

pagepress

Distance from the bank (m)	Median grain size (mm)	Carbon content (%)	Nitrogen content (%)	C/N ratio δ^{13} C of organic matter	
			0-10 cm		
0	0.47	6.7 ± 0.1	0.63 ± 0.01	10.6 ± 0.1	-28.3 ± 0.1
2	0.78	5.7 ± 0.1	0.53 ± 0.00	10.6 ± 0.1	-29.3 ± 1.4
4	7.70	2.4 ± 1.3	0.23 ± 0.12	10.2 ± 0.2	-28.1 ± 0.1
6	5.18	0.4 ± 0.1	0.04 ± 0.01	10.1 ± 0.2	-27.2 ± 0.1
8	0.79	0.2 ± 0.0	0.02 ± 0.00	10.1 ± 0.3	-27.1 ± 0.1
10	0.78	0.3 ± 0.1	0.03 ± 0.00	9.9 ± 0.1	-27.4 ± 0.1
12	3.08	0.3 ± 0.0	0.03 ± 0.00	9.8 ± 0.1	-27.2 ± 0.2
14	0.68	4.0 ± 1.6	0.39 ± 0.16	10.1 ± 0.1	-28.1 ± 0.1
			10-20 cm		
0	0.26	6.9 ± 0.1	0.66 ± 0.00	10.4 ± 0.0	-27.9 ± 0.1
2	2.45	0.4 ± 0.1	0.04 ± 0.01	10.0 ± 0.1	-27.4 ± 0.2
4	9.75	0.4 ± 0.1	0.04 ± 0.01	10.3 ± 0.4	-27.3 ± 0.0
6	9.36	0.2 ± 0.1	0.02 ± 0.00	9.6 ± 0.2	-26.7 ± 0.1
8	4.46	0.2 ± 0.0	0.02 ± 0.00	10.0 ± 0.1	-26.8 ± 0.1
10	7.93	0.1 ± 0.0	0.01 ± 0.00	8.9 ± 0.2	-26.6 ± 0.3
12	9.21	0.3 ± 0.2	0.03 ± 0.01	9.8 ± 0.3	-27.2 ± 0.3
14	8.86	0.2 ± 0.0	0.02 ± 0.00	10.0 ± 0.2	-27.1 ± 0.1

Tab. 1 Measured characteristics of the sediment samples at two different depths (mean values \pm SE, n = 3).

Tab. 2 Values of the correlation coefficients (r) expressing the relationship between the examined variables. All correlations shown in the table are significant at P<0.05 (MPP = CH_4 production potential; MOP = CH_4 oxidation potential).

			Carbon	Nitrogen	Median grain
Variable	MPP	MOP	content	content	size
MPP	1				
МОР	0.67	1			
Carbon content	0.94	0.68	1		
Nitrogen content	0.94	0.70	0.99	1	
Median grain size	-0.62	-0.52	-0.62	-0.63	1





Fig. 1. Location of the Morava River in the Czech Republic and position of the study site in the river.



Fig. 2. The schematic of the sediment sampling in the cross-channel profile of a small river impoundment. Triplicates were taken from eight different distances from the bank line to the mid-channel (0 m, 2 m, 4 m, 6 m, 8 m, 10 m, 12 m, 14 m).





Fig. 3. The CH₄ production (a) and oxidation (b) potentials of sediments (mean values \pm SE).





Fig. 4. Dynamics of CH₄ formation during the incubation of (a) the most productive sediment samples (mean values \pm SE), and (b) remaining (i.e. less productive samples characterized by a lag phase lasting more than one week after the start of the incubation) surface (6-12 m; black triangles) and deeper (2-14 m; gray triangles) sediment samples in anoxic conditions (mean values \pm SE).





Fig. 5. Methane concentration decrease during the incubation of (a) the most active sediment samples (0 m, 2 m, 4 m, 14 m), (b) remaining surface (0-10 cm) sediments (6-12 m), and (c) remaining deeper (10-20 cm) sediments (6-12 m) in oxic conditions (mean values \pm SE).





Fig. 6. The contribution of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (f_{mc}) to total CH₄ production in the samples of (a) the surface sediments (0-10 cm) and (b) the deeper sediment layers (10-20 cm). The missing time points are given by insufficient CH₄ production rate for stable carbon isotopes measurement of the incubated sample.



8. Curriculum vitae			
Name:	Adam Bednařík		
Born:	March 27, 1989 in Zlín		
Education			
2013 to present	PhD study – Ecology		
	Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc		
2011 - 2013	Master study – Hydrobiology		
	Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc		
2008 - 2011	Bachelor study - Protection and creation of the		
	environment, Faculty of Science, Palacký University,		
	Olomouc		
Work experience			
2017 to present	The Krkonoše Mountains National Park Administration		
	(hydrobiologist)		
2014 - 2015	Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences,		
	Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc		
	(pedagogical worker)		
Cooperation on research p	rojects		
2015 - 2016	Sources of methane in the river (Endowment Fund of		
	Palacký University, Olomouc) - principal researcher of the		
	project		
2016 - 2017	EuroRun – Assessing CO ₂ Fluxes from European Running		
	Waters - participant		
Abroad stay			
01/2015 - 02/2015	Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology,		
	Marburg, Germany		
02/2014 - 05/2014	Max Planck Institute for Terrestrial Microbiology,		
	Marburg, Germany		
01/2014	Universiti Brunei Darussalam – Kuala Belalong Field		
	Studies Centre (KBFSC), Brunei		
Membership			
2013 to present	Czech Limnological Society		

Publications in peer-reviewed journals with IF

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Rulík M (2019): Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the small river impoundment. Journal of Limnology (*in press*). https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2019.1898

Matoušů A, Rulík M, Tušer M, **Bednařík A**, Šimek K & Bussmann I (2018): Methane dynamics in a large river: a case study of the Elbe River. Aquatic Sciences, 81:12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-018-0609-9

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2017): Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river. Science of the Total Environment, 584–585: 164–174. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.163

Mach V, **Bednařík A**, Čáp L, Šipoš J, Rulík M (2016): Seasonal measurement of greenhouse gas concentrations and emissions along the longitudinal profile of small stream. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 25(5): 2047–2056. doi: 10.15244/pjoes/61668

Bednařík A, Čáp L, Maier V, Rulik M (2015): Contribution of methane benthic and atmospheric fluxes of an experimental area (Sitka stream). CLEAN – Soil, Air, Water, 43(8): 1136–1142. doi: 10.1002/clen.201300982

Mačát Z, **Bednařík A**, Rulík M (2015): The three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) infection with *Schistocephalus solidus* in Hel marina (Puck Bay, Baltic Sea, Poland). Oceanological and Hydrobiological Studies, 44(1): 11–17. doi: 10.1515/ohs-2015-0002

Chaudhary PP, Wright ADG, Brablcová L, Buriánková I, **Bednařík A**, Rulík M (2014): Dominance of Methanosarcinales Phylotypes and Depth-Wise Distribution of Methanogenic Community in Fresh Water Sediments of Sitka Stream from Czech Republic. Current Microbiology, 69: 809–816. doi: 10.1007/s00284-014-0659-8

Book chapters

Bednařík A (2019): Použití stabilních izotopů uhlíku k determinaci cest vzniku metanu. Příloha 7.6. In: Šimek M a kol.: Skleníkové plyny z půdy a zemědělství. Vlastnosti, produkce, spotřeba, emise a možnosti jejich snížení. Praha, Academia, (*in press*)

Rulík M, **Bednařík A** (2019): Metanogeneze a vodní toky. Příloha 7.7. In: Šimek M a kol.: Skleníkové plyny z půdy a zemědělství. Vlastnosti, produkce, spotřeba, emise a možnosti jejich snížení. Praha, Academia, (*in press*)

Rulík M, **Bednařík A**, Mach V, Brablcová L, Buriánková I, Badurová P, Gratzová K (2013): Methanogenic system of a small lowland stream Sitka, Czech Republic. In: Matovic MD (ed.): Biomass now – cultivation and utilization (chapter 17), InTech, Rijeka, 395–426 pp.

Peer-reviewed publications without IF

Rulík M, **Bednařík A**, Gabriš R, Trnka F, Kuřavová K, Mačát Z (2016): Zajímavosti z biologie a výzkumu živočichů Baltského moře a písečné kosy poloostrova Hel. Živa, 1: 46–49.

Rulík M, **Bednařík A**, Trnka F, Mačát Z (2015): Nejen za tuleni na písečnou kosu – poloostrov Hel. Živa, 6: 311–315.

Bednařík A, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2015): Ovlivňují jezové zdrže koncentraci metanu v povrchové vodě a jeho emise do atmosféry? Vodní Hospodářství, 65(1): 6–10.

Presentations on international conferences

Bednařík A, Rulík M (2017): Benthic methane fluxes through the sediment-water interface of a lowland river. 10th Symposium for European Freshwater Sciences, Olomouc, Czech Republic – poster

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Rulík M (2016): Effect of weirs on methane budget in river. In: Klimaszyk P, Marszelewski W, Rzymski P (eds.): International konference "Lakes, Reservoirs & Ponds: Impacts – Threats – Conservation", Ilawa, Poland – poster Rulík M, Matoušů A, Tušer M, Chaudhary PP, **Bednařík A**, Blaser M, Brablcová L, Buriánková I (Czech Republic/Germany) (2014): Methane dynamics along the course of the river Elbe. In: Gâștescu P., Marszelewski W. and Bretcan P. (eds.): 2nd International conference "Water resources and wetlands". Tulcea, 2014 ISBN: 978-606-605-72-2 – poster

Rulík M, **Bednařík A** (2013): Variability in methane benthic fluxes of a small lowland stream - role of hyporheic zone in total methane budget. Geophysical Research Abstracts. Vol. 15, EGU2013-655, 2013, EGU General Assembly 2013 – poster

PALACKÝ UNIVERSITY OLOMOUC Faculty of Science Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences



Importance of stable carbon isotopes for studying dynamics of methanogenesis in rivers

Summary of the Ph.D. Thesis

Adam Bednařík

Supervisor: Doc. RNDr. Martin Rulík, Ph.D.

Olomouc 2019

Doctoral programme: P1606 Ecology and Environmental protection Field: Ecology

Aspirant:	Mgr. Adam Bednařík			
	Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Science,			
	Palacký University Olomouc, Czech Republic			
Supervisor:	Doc. RNDr. Martin Rulík, PhD.			
	Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Science,			
	Palacký University Olomouc, Czech Republic			
Opponents:				

The oral defence will take place on at in the room in the room at the Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Science, Palacký University Olomouc, Šlechtitelů 27, Olomouc.

The Ph.D. thesis is available in the Library of Biological Department of Faculty of Science at the Palacký University Olomouc, Šlechtitelů 27, Olomouc.

Bednařík A. (2018): Importance of stable carbon isotopes for studying dynamics of methanogenesis in rivers [Ph.D. thesis]. Palacký University, Olomouc, 43 pp.

Abstract

Methane is one of the most important greenhouse gases. Despite of recent studies pointing out important contribution of running waters to natural methane emissions to the atmosphere, data concerning the methane sources in rivers are very scarce. This thesis deals with methane dynamic in river ecosystems with special emphasis on an effect of river impoundments on methane related processes. Beside the methane concentrations, oxidation, production and emission to the atmosphere, the changes in contribution of two main methanogenic pathways (hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic) to the total methane production were determined using the stable carbon isotopes analysis. We found hotspots of the sediment methane production in a river continuum, which are connected with the local driving factors including mainly the existence of artificial barriers as weirs. Changes in rate of individual components of river methane dynamic were further examined in cascade of three weirs and river reaches between them. We found that river impoundments affect the sediment processes in several ways, including changes of the sediment characteristics (fine sediment fraction, higher sediment carbon content), enhanced microbial activities in the sediment (methane production and oxidation), ebullition of methane, and different contributions of hydrogenotrophic methanogens to the released methane. Thus, many parameters found for weir impoundments resemble observations for lake systems. Moreover, remarkable spatial variability in sediment methane production was demonstrated in cross-section profile of the one studied impoundment. Presented studies point to only the part of the samples could be activated for methane production despite of presence of methanogens (most probably due to substrate limitation). This suggest that the observed variability of the microbial activities as well as the resulting methane concentrations in the water column are only indirectly linked to the presence of different microbial guilds, but rather affected by their activity. Altogether our results confirm that the methane dynamics in a river system show a high local variability and that multiple measurements are needed to characterize the sources and fates of the methane. Obtained results might be further used for better estimates of importance of rivers in a global methane budget.

Contents

1.	Int	roduction	5
2.	Air	ms of dissertation thesis	8
3.	Ma	aterial and methods	9
4.	Ma	ain results	11
4	4.1.	Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River	11
4	4.2.	Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river	11
2	4.3. of the	Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-che impoundment	annel profile 12
5.	Co	nclusions	13
6.	Ret	ferences	14
7.	Lis	st of author's papers	16
8.	So	uhrn [Summary, in Czech]	

1. Introduction

Methane (CH₄) is one of the most potent greenhouse gases with a global warming potential ~28 times higher than carbon dioxide (CO₂) over time horizon of 100 years and represents about 15 % of the anthropogenic greenhouse effect (IPCC 2013). From the mid-Holocene to about 300 years ago atmospheric methane concentration rose steadily by about 25 % (Brook et al. 2000). With human population increase and industrialization, methane concentration is now about 250 % higher than it was in the preindustrial age (Etheridge et al. 1998). Current atmospheric methane concentration is 1858 ppb (Dlugokencky 2018).

While the sinks of the methane in the environment are quite clear (reaction with hydroxyl radicals in the troposphere or oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria), the sources of methane are much more diverse. Among main atmospheric methane sources are included wetlands, ruminants, termites, oceans, freshwater sediments, landfills, biomass burning and fossil methane released during fossil fuel extraction (Wuebbles and Hayhoe, 2002). The most of the methane is produced microbiologically, while contribution of freshwater habitats (wetlands, rice fields) creates ~33 % of the annual atmospheric methane flux (Conrad 2009). Moreover, recent studies estimate that annual methane emission from fluvial ecosystems is equivalent to 20-50 % of lake or wetland effluxes (Stanley et al. 2016). However, compared to other natural ecosystems, very scarce data were available for estimation of their global significance and thus importance of lotic ecosystems contribution to global methane emissions from natural environments were overlooked in the past (Saarnio et al. 2009, Bastviken et al. 2011).

Methane dynamic in lotic ecosystems consists of (1) production of the methane within hyporheic sediments, which are place of anaerobic metabolism and formation of methane, (2) subsequent diffusion of methane to the surface water, where the methane is (3) transported downstream or (4) emitted to the atmosphere. The methane is also a subject of significant (5) oxidation by methane oxidizing bacteria during its transport in lotic ecosystems. Methanotrophs are often found at the anoxic/oxic interface of various habitats including freshwater sediments, where they consume the methane arising from methanogenesis and are thus able to reduce the most of the potential methane flux to surface water (Segers 1998, Trimmer et al. 2010). Last but not least, methane has been recently recognised as a potentially important carbon and energy source for freshwater food webs due to conversion of methane to microbial biomass by methane oxidation bacteria, which can be highly productive (Jones and Grey 2011). In rivers, grazing

methane-oxidizing bacteria could provide the caddis larvae (genuses *Agapetus* and *Silo*) up to 30 % of their carbon (Trimmer et al. 2009).

Basically, there are three main sources of methane to surface water of fluvial ecosystems: drainage of surrounding methane rich habitats, groundwater input and river sediments, while exact role of each of these sources is not yet quantified in the overall river C budget. Moreover, water inflows enriched in methane from wastewater treatment plants are significant source of methane in the human influenced rivers (Alshboul et al. 2016). The largest and most ecologically significant pathways of methane efflux from natural environments to the atmosphere are diffusion, ebullition (escape of methane in gas bubbles directly from the sediments) and passage through vascular plants. In natural streams and rivers both methane diffusion and ebullition were recognized to contribute significantly to the total methane emissions from these ecosystems. Moreover, ebullition bypasses the importance of oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria and hence, ebullition of sediment gas bubbles is an important transport process accounting up to 60 % of the total methane emissions from the fluvial ecosystem (Wilcock and Sorrel 2008).

In man-altered rivers, important elements modifying the methane dynamics in lotic ecosystems are artificial impoundments, which reduced flow water velocity and thus increase water residence time that allows organic matter sedimentation and development of anoxic conditions suitable for methane production (e. g. Maeck et al. 2013, Wilkinson et al. 2015, Crawford et al. 2016). Moreover, it was found that smaller impoundments have greater sediment accumulation rates per unit area than the large ones, while small impoundments create a significant part of the total area of impoundments (Downing et al. 2006, Downing et al. 2008). Existence of these artificial barriers play important role in resulted contribution of different methane evasion pathways. Molecular diffusion is usually dominant pathway in rivers (with exceptions described above), while ebullitive emissions are the dominant way for methane emissions from the surface of tropical reservoirs, and it is less significant way for methane emission at the air–water interface in the temperate reservoirs, where the diffusive fluxes are prevailing (Yang et al. 2014).

Generally, the most of the methane produced in nature originates from acetate, however, the relative amounts of methane produced from the methyl group of acetate or reduction of CO_2 can vary depending on the presence of other metabolic groups of anaerobes and the environment (Ferry 1993). Hydrogen should theoretically account for 33 % of total methanogenesis when carbohydrates or similar forms of organic matter are degraded (Conrad 1999). Many methanogenic environments show both much lower and much higher contributions of H_2 to methane production than is considered normal. The relative contribution of the two main methanogenic pathways to total methane production can be calculated due to the sufficient difference in isotopic fractionation during both the hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic methanogenesis. However, experimental determination of fractionation factors in environmental samples is difficult, since either the hydrogenotrophic or the acetoclastic methanogenic pathway must be suppressed in order to determine the isotope fractionation by one of the two pathways specifically. For that reason, it was important milestone, when the methyl fluoride (CH₃F) was reported to be a specific inhibitor of acetoclastic methanogens, while hydrogenotrophic methanogens were not affected (Janssen and Frenzel 1997).

2. Aims of dissertation thesis

The aims of this thesis were:

- To characterize the methane production and oxidation potential of the river sediments in longitudinal profile of the Elbe River and to reveal the contribution of individual methanogenic pathways to the total methane production using the stable carbon isotope analysis.
- 2) To compare the rate of the methane related processes (methane production, oxidation, emissions to the atmosphere) between weir impoundments and free flowing river sections of Morava River. Part of it was also quantification of methane ebullition and extent of methane degassing in the spillways.
- 3) To determine the proportion of methane production pathways in the sediments of the examined weir impoundments and river sections.
- 4) To characterize the spatial variability of methane production and consumption by the river sediments including the proportion of the methanogenic pathways in the cross-section profile of weir impoundment.

3. Material and methods

The samples collection and field measurements have taken place at the 11 locations along the Elbe River from river km 8 to river km 948 and in the cascade of three weirs in the 16 km long stretch of Morava River. More detailed characterization of studied sites is included in the Paper I and Paper II, respectively. Determination of individual components of methane dynamic in river demands involvement of many different methods, which are individually described in detail in the attached papers.

Briefly, methane production and oxidation potentials of sediments were measured during incubation experiments in the laboratory. Sediment for measurement of methane production potential was incubated in anoxic conditions (headspace of bottle was flushed with nitrogen) approximately one months. Gas samples from headspace were taken repeatedly during the course of incubation (4-6 weeks) and analysed for concentrations of methane. The rate of methane production was calculated from the slope of the linear regression given by the graph of methane concentration increase over time. Sediment for measurement of methane oxidation potential was incubated under the oxic conditions (ambient air in a headspace) with addition of methane. Potential methane oxidation rates were obtained from the slope of the methane concentration decrease over time.

Determination of the contribution of individual methanogenetic pathways to total methane production was carried out using the stable carbon isotope measurements. It is based on effect of methylfluorid (CH₃F), which completely inhibits acetate-dependent methanogenesis. Methane was then exclusively produced by hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis and thus allowed determination of the fractionation factors specific for this methanogenic pathway.

Methane emissions from the surface water to the atmosphere were detected by three different methods fully described in Paper II. First, methane emissions across the air-water interface were directly measured by a floating chamber method. Second, methane diffusion fluxes (i.e. without contribution of the ebullition) to the atmosphere were determined using calculations derived from recent studies and based on the gas transfer velocity and the methane concentration gradient between the river water and the atmosphere (Striegl et al. 2012, McGinnis et al. 2014, Borges et al. 2015, Bodmer et al. 2016). Third, ebullition measurements were carried out using submerged gas funnel traps. Moreover, degassing at weirs was estimated on the basis of methane concentration differences and water discharge. From comparison of first and second method for measurement of methane emissions in our conditions followed, that we did not observe the increased methane emissions caused by the additional induced turbulence arising from application of anchored chambers described by Lorke et al. (2015). Diffusive fluxes calculated from gas transfer velocity and directly measured emissions by chambers were not different in sites with the marginal contribution of the ebullition.

4. Main results

4.1. Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River

The methane production was detected in six sediment samples (from 11 of total) along the Elbe River, while the methanotrophy was found in all examined sediment samples. The methane production and oxidation differed considerably in the river longitudinal profile without any clear trend and without any correlation with other studied environmental parameters. Moreover, the mcr-A and pmo-A gene copy numbers (genes showing the presence of methanogens and methanotrophs, respectively) were similar and quite stable among the sediment samples. It follows that while it was found hotspots of the measured methane processes, the molecular data showed no spatial characteristics. Incubation experiments with isotopic analyses of CO_2 and methane revealed that the hydrogenotrophic pathway of methane formation (CO_2 reduction) was dominant for all examined methane productive sites accounting for 52 to 78 % of total methane release, thus implying the most probably the incomplete degradation of organic matter.

4.2. Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river

We found that river methane dynamics might be highly influenced by weirs, especially by increased methane production and consumption by sediments, followed by increasing methane emissions to the atmosphere. Both methane production and oxidation potential of sediments were higher upstream of the weirs compared to downstream of the weirs or usual river reaches. The total methane emissions to the atmosphere reached the highest values upstream of the weirs, while the ebullition accounted for ~96 % of the total methane emissions. Methane consumption in the sediments together with the microbial methane oxidation in the water column substantially contributed to the methane removal from surface water. Thus, the contribution of the ebullition to the methane emissions in these shallow impoundments was enhanced by bypassing microbial methane oxidation, compared to relatively slow diffusion fluxes. Overall, methane emissions from average weir impoundment can reach up to 42 times higher values than from the river section of an equal area. In spite of such high emission fluxes including further methane release by degassing in the spillways of the weirs and high methane oxidation, considerable 7.5 times increased of methane concentration in the surface water was observed in the 16 km long examined section, pointing to important methane sources in such a short river reach.

The contribution of H_2/CO_2 -dependent methanogenesis to total produced methane tended to be higher for sediments upstream of the weirs, compared to the sediments from river sections or downstream of the weirs. More precisely, hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis contributed 37 to 89 % of the total methane production and was dominant (more than 50 %) in sediments upstream of the weirs, while acetoclastic methanogenesis was probably prevailing in remaining sediments.

4.3. Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the impoundment

We hypothesized that more uniform sedimentation in cross-channel profiles compared to river due to the overall decrease of the flow velocity upstream of the weir will result in more identical rates of methane-related processes through the transect. Instead, we found frequently observed pattern in lakes and rivers, that littoral zones are main sites of the methanogenic activity. In our study, sediments near the bank zones and in the mid-channel were characterised by the highest organic carbon content (6.9 %) as well the highest methanogenic activity (2.5 mmol g⁻¹ DW d⁻¹). Samples from the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm) reached higher methane production than sediments from the deeper layer (10-20 cm) during the incubation experiments. The methane oxidation potential of sediments showed the same spatial pattern as observed for the methane production.

Stable carbon isotopes analysis, used for determination of individual methanogenic pathways, confirms our previous findings that the methane production is dominated by H_2/CO_2 dependent methanogenesis upstream of the weir. However, it was more evident in the surface sediment layer (0-10 cm), while the proportion of acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in deeper sediment layer (10-20 cm) was more balanced. This slight shift in the contribution of methanogenic pathways was not caused by the lability or availability of organic substrate because the similarity of these parameters between examined sediment layers.

5. Conclusions

Altogether results presented in this study confirm that river sediments are important place of anaerobic degradation of organic matter with methane as a final product. Moreover, the methane dynamics in a river system show a high local variability, indicating that multiple measurements are needed to characterize the sources and fates of the methane. The methane dynamics along the river continuum is dramatically impacted by the building of small impoundments, which contribute significantly to the total methane production and its subsequent emission disproportionately to their area. Therefore, sampling carried out regardless of occurrence of small impoundments can considerably underestimate methane emissions to atmosphere from lotic ecosystems and the importance of these barriers for river methane dynamic. We found out that the most productive sites in the impounded river zones are littoral sediments as was previously reported for different freshwater habitats including lakes and rivers. Modifications of methane related processes in impounded river zones are reflected also by different contribution of individual metabolic pathways of methane production compared to usual river sections.

Recent studies clearly show that rivers may emit considerable amount of methane to the atmosphere. Hence, rivers should be included into the future estimations and models of a global methane budget. Namely, high spatial variability of methane related processes is remarkable in rivers compared to other ecosystems and deserves to be considered in greater details in the further studies. In any case, it is necessary to consider the sampling location of particular water habitats, because sediment samples taken only in the particular zones of water habitats can significantly misrepresent the further extrapolation of obtained results. Considering the considerable sediment methane production upstream of the weirs, more studies focusing on quantification of direct methane fluxes from sediments to surface water and conducted in-situ would also be of great importance.

6. References

Alshboul Z, Encinas-Fernandéz J, Hofmann H, Lorke A (2016): Export of dissolved methane and carbon dioxide with effluents from municipal wastewater treatment plants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50: 5555–5563. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b04923

Bastviken D, Tranvik LJ, Downing JA, Crill PM, Prast AE (2011): Freshwater Methane Emissions Offset the Continental Carbon Sink. Science. 331: 50. doi: 10.1021/es010311

Bodmer P, Heinz M, Pusch M, Singer G, Premke K (2016): Carbon dynamics and their link to dissolved organic matter quality across contrasting stream ecosystems. Sci. Total Environ. 553: 574–86. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.095

Borges AV, Darchambeau F, Teodoru CR, Marwick TR, Tamooh F, Geeraert N, Omengo FO, Guérin F, Lambert T, Morana C, Okuku E, Bouillon S (2015): Globally significant greenhouse-gas emissions from African inland waters. Nat. Geosci. doi: 10.1038/NGEO2486

Brook EJ, Harder S, Severinghaus JP, Steig EJ, Sucher CM (2000): On the origin and timing of rapid changes in atmospheric methane during the last glacial period. Global Biogeochem Cycles 14: 559–572. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999GB001182

Conrad R (1999): Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 28: 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1999.tb00575.x

Conrad R (2009): The global methane cycle: recent advances in understanding the microbial processes involved. Environ Microbiol Rep. 1 (5): 285–292. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-2229.2009.00038.x.

Crawford JT, Loken LC, Stanley EH, Stets EG, Dornblaser MM, Striegl RG (2016): Basin scale controls on CO2 and CH4 emissions from the Upper Mississippi River, Geophys. Res. Lett. 43: 1973–1979. doi:10.1002/2015GL067599

Dlugokencky E. [Internet]. NOAA/ESRL [cited 2018 Aug 5]. Available from: http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends_ch4/

Downing JA, Prairie YT, Cole JJ, Duarte CM, Tranvik LJ, Striegl RG, McDowell WH, Kortelainen P et al (2006): The global abundance and size distribution of lakes, ponds, and impoundments. Limnol Oceanogr. 51: 2388–2397. doi: 10.4319/lo.2006.51.5.2388

Downing JA, Cole JJ, Middelburg JJ, Striegl RG, Duarte CM, Kortelainen P, Prairie YT, Laube KA (2008): Sediment organic carbon burial in agriculturally eutrophic impoundments over the last century. Glob Chang Biol. 22: GB1018. doi:10.1029/2006GB002854

Etheridge DM, Steele LP, Francey RJ, Langenfelds RL (1998): Atmospheric methane between 1000 AD and present: Evidence of anthropogenic emissions and climate variability. J Geophys Res. 103: 15979–15993. https://doi.org/10.1029/98JD00923

Ferry JG (1993): Fermentation of acetate. In: Ferry JG (ed.): Methanogenesis: Ecology, physiology, biochemistry and genetics. Chapman and Hall, New York, 536 pp.

IPCC (2013): Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

Janssen PH & Frenzel P (1997): Inhibition of methanogenesis by methyl fluoride: Studies of pure and defined mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Appl Environ Microbiol. 63: 4552–4557.

Jones RI & Grey J (2011): Biogenic methane in freshwater food webs. Freshwater boil. 56: 213–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02494.x Lorke A, Bodmer P, Noss C, Alshboul Z, Koschorreck M, Somlai-Haase C, Bastviken D, Flury S et al (2015): Technical note: drifting versus anchored flux chambers for measuring greenhouse gas emissions from running waters. Biogeosciences. 12: 7013-7024. doi:10.5194/bg-12-7013-2015

Maeck A, DelSontro T, McGinnis DF, Fischer H, Flury S, Schmidt M, Fietzek P, Lorke A (2013): Sediment trapping by dams creates methane emission hot spots. Environ Sci Technol. 47: 8130–8137. doi: 10.1021/es4003907

McGinnis DF, Kirillin G, Tang KW, Flury S, Bodmer P, Engelhardt Ch, Casper P, Grossart HP (2014): Enhancing surface methane fluxes from an oligotrophic lake: exploring the microbubble hypothesis. Environ. Sci. Technol. doi: 10.1021/es503385d

Saarnio S, Winiwarter W, Leita J (2009): Methane release from wetlands and watercourses in Europe. Atmos Environ 43: 1421–1429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.04.007

Segers R (1998): Methane production and methane consumption: a review of processes underlaying wetland methane fluxes. Biogeochemistry. 41: 23–51. . doi: 10.1023/A:1005929032764

Stanley EH, Casson NJ, Christel ST, Crawford JT, Loken LC, Oliver SK (2016): The ecology of methane in streams and rivers: patterns, controls, and global significance. Ecol Monograph. doi: 10.1890/15-1027.1

Striegl RG, Dornblaser MM, McDonald CP, Rover JR, Stets EG (2012): Carbon dioxide and methane emissions from the Yukon River system. Global Biochem Cycles. 26: GB0E05. doi:10.1029/2012GB004306

Trimmer M, Sanders IA, Heppell CM (2009): Carbon and nitrogen cycling in a vegetated lowland chalk river impacted by sediment. Hydrol Process. 23: 2225–2238. doi: 10.1002/hyp.7276

Trimmer M, Maanoja S, Hildrew AG, Pretty JL, Grey J (2010): Potential carbon fixation via methane oxidation in well-oxygenated riverbed gravels. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55(2): 560–568. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.2.0560

Wilcock RJ & Sorrel BK (2008): Emissions of greenhouse gases CH_4 and N_2O from low-gradient streams in agriculturally developed catchments. Water Air Soil Pollut. 188: 155–170. doi: 10.1007/s11270-007-9532-8

Wilkinson J, Maeck A, Alshboul Z, Lorke A (2018): Continuous Seasonal River Ebullition Measurements Linked to Sediment Methane Formation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49(22): 13121–13129. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b01525

Wuebles DJ & Hayhoe K (2002): Atmospheric methane and global change. Earth-Science Reviews 57: 177–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-8252(01)00062-9

Yang L, Lu F, Zhou X, Wang X, Duan X, Sun B (2014): Progress in the studies on the greenhouse gas emissions from reservoirs. Acta Ecol. Sin. 34: 204–212. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chnaes.2013.05.011

7. List of author's papers

The thesis is based on the following papers:

Paper I:

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Tušer M, Chaudhary PP, Šimek K, Rulík M (2019): Sediment methane dynamics along the Elbe River. Limnologica (*in review*)

Paper II:

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Matoušů A, Hekera P, Rulík M (2017): Effect of weir impoundments on methane dynamics in a river. Science of the Total Environment, 584–585: 164–174. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.163

Paper III:

Bednařík A, Blaser M, Rulík M (2019): Methane formation and consumption by sediments in the cross-channel profile of the small river impoundment. Journal of Limnology (*in press*). https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2019.1898

Other author's peer-reviewed publications with IF:

Matoušů A, Rulík M, Tušer M, **Bednařík A**, Šimek K & Bussmann I (2018): Methane dynamics in a large river: a case study of the Elbe River. Aquatic Sciences, 81:12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-018-0609-9

Mach V, **Bednařík A**, Čáp L, Šipoš J, Rulík M (2016): Seasonal measurement of greenhouse gas concentrations and emissions along the longitudinal profile of small stream. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 25(5): 2047–2056. doi: 10.15244/pjoes/61668

Bednařík A, Čáp L, Maier V, Rulik M (2015): Contribution of methane benthic and atmospheric fluxes of an experimental area (Sitka stream). CLEAN – Soil, Air, Water, 43(8): 1136–1142

Mačát Z, **Bednařík A**, Rulík M (2015): The three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) infection with *Schistocephalus solidus* in Hel marina (Puck Bay, Baltic Sea, Poland). Oceanological and Hydrobiological Studies, 44(1): 11–17

Chaudhary PP, Wright ADG, Brablcová L, Buriánková I, **Bednařík A**, Rulík M (2014): Dominance of Methanosarcinales Phylotypes and Depth-Wise Distribution of Methanogenic Community in Fresh Water Sediments of Sitka Stream from Czech Republic. Current Microbiology, 69: 809–816

Book chapters

Bednařík A (2019): Použití stabilních izotopů uhlíku k determinaci cest vzniku metanu. Příloha 7.6. In: Šimek M a kol.: Skleníkové plyny z půdy a zemědělství. Vlastnosti, produkce, spotřeba, emise a možnosti jejich snížení. Praha, Academia, (*in press*)

Rulík M, **Bednařík A** (2019): Metanogeneze a vodní toky. Příloha 7.7. In: Šimek M a kol.: Skleníkové plyny z půdy a zemědělství. Vlastnosti, produkce, spotřeba, emise a možnosti jejich snížení. Praha, Academia, (*in press*)

Rulík M, **Bednařík A**, Mach V, Brablcová L, Buriánková I, Badurová P, Gratzová K (2013): Methanogenic system of a small lowland stream Sitka, Czech Republic. In: Matovic MD (ed.): Biomass now – cultivation and utilization (chapter 17), InTech, Rijeka, 395–426 pp.

8. Souhrn [Summary, in Czech]

Metan je spolu s oxidem uhličitým a oxidem dusným řazen mezi nejvýznamnější skleníkové plyny. Navzdory mnoha současným studiím vyzdvihujícím význam říčních ekosystémů jako přírodního zdroje emisí metanu do atmosféry, jsou poznatky týkající se zdrojů metanu v řekách nedostatečné. Předložená práce se zabývá dynamikou metanu v říčních ekosystémech se zvláštním důrazem na vliv umělých příčných bariér (jezů) na procesy spojené s koloběhem metanu. Kromě koncentrací metanu, jeho oxidace, produkce a emisí do atmosféry byl determinován příspěvek dvou hlavních metabolických cest vzniku metanu do jeho celkové produkce, a to s využitím analýzy obsahu stabilních izotopů uhlíku. Na základě provedených měření v říčním kontinuu řeky Labe byly detekovány místa s nezvykle vysokou produkcí metanu v sedimentech, které odpovídaly změnám v lokálních faktorech prostředí spojených především s existencí příčných bariér na vodním toku. Další práce se proto blíže zaměřila na porovnání změn v jednotlivých složkách dynamiky metanu v kaskádě tří jezů a říčních úsecích mezi nimi. Bylo zjištěno, že jezy vyvolávají řadu změn v sedimentačních procesech (usazování jemnější frakce, vyšší obsah organického uhlíku), které se následně projevují v procesech spojených s koloběhem metanu, jako je zvýšená mikrobiální aktivita (produkce a oxidace metanu v sedimentech), vysoký podíl ebulice na celkové emisi do atmosféry (uvolňování metanu ve formě bublin) a rozdílný poměr metabolických cest vzniku metanu. To spolu s ostatními charakteristikami nadjezí vypovídá o tom, že mnoho procesů probíhajících v sedimentech jezových zdrží včetně tvorby bublin a metabolismu uhlíku je lépe srovnatelných s prostředím sedimentů jezer než s říčními sedimenty. Mimo to byla zjištěna také značná variabilita v produkci metanu uvnitř vybraného nadjezí. Další výsledky ukázali, že jen část vzorků inkubovaných v anoxických podmínkách produkuje metan, přestože v nich bylo detekováno srovnatelné množství metanogenních archaea jako v aktivních vzorcích, což bylo s největší pravděpodobností dáno nedostatkem vhodného substrátu. Toto zjištění naznačuje, že pozorovaná variabilita v mikrobiální aktivitě stejně jako výsledné koncentrace metanu ve vodě jsou jen nepřímo řízeny přítomností určitého mikrobiálního společenstva, ale jsou spíše ovlivněny jeho aktivitou. Naše studie tak potvrzuje, že dynamika metanu v říčních ekosystémech vykazuje vysokou prostorovou variabilitu a z toho důvodu lze charakterizovat zdroje metanu a jeho další osud v ekosystému jen s využitím velmi komplexních měření. Získaná data mohou mimo jiné posloužit i jako

cenný údaj pro zpřesnění odhadů významu říčních systémů v bilanci metanu v rámci vnitrozemských vod a v kontextu globální dynamiky metanu.